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DEFINITIONS

Amecor
Amalgamated Electronic Corporation Limited

BBBEE
Broad-based black economic empowerment

Cadiz
Friedshelf 1678 Limited, incorporating 100% Cadiz 

Holdings Proprietary Limited and 90% Cadiz Asset 

Management Holdings Proprietary Limited

CAM
Cadiz Asset Management Proprietary Limited

Company
Stellar Capital Partners Limited

Companies Act
Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, as amended

Consolidated Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries that are not portfolio companies and whose 

main purpose and activities are providing services that 

relate to the Company’s investment activities

CSI
Corporate Social Investment

EBITDA
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and 

amortisation

FVTPL
Fair	value	through	profit	or	loss

Group
The Company, incorporating Consolidated Subsidiaries

IE Rentals
Integrated Equipment Rentals Proprietary Limited

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards

JSE
Johannesburg Stock Exchange

King III
King Code of Governance for South Africa 2009

King IV
King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 

2016

LifeQ
LifeQ Global Limited

Manco
Thunder Securitisations Proprietary Limited

Masimong Technologies
Masimong Technologies Proprietary Limited

MRI
Mine Restoration Investments Limited

NAV
Net asset value attributable to equity owners of the parent

NAVPS
Net asset value per share attributable to equity owners of 

the parent

P/E
Price/earnings

Praxis
Praxis Financial Services Proprietary Limited

Prescient
Prescient Holdings Proprietary Limited

Tellumat
Tellumat Proprietary Limited

Torre
Torre Industries Limited

Stellar Capital
Stellar Capital Partners Limited

Stellar International
Stellar International Limited

Stellar Management Services
Stellar Management Services Proprietary Limited

Stellar Specialised Lending / SSL
Stellar Specialised Lending Proprietary Limited

Tictrac
Tictrac Limited

VWAP
Volume weighted average market trading price



INTRODUCTION
Stellar Capital Partners Ltd is a Johannesburg Stock Exchange listed investment 

holding company with a combination of strategic and controlling stakes in a 

portfolio	of	investee	companies	that	operate	predominantly	in	the	financial	services	

and industrial sectors.

SCOPE OF THIS REPORT
The Board is committed to improving the quality of our reporting and disclosure 

each year so that it is increasingly meaningful and measurable for our stakeholders.

The report has been prepared with guidance from the International Framework, the 

Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI) and using the recommendations of the King Codes 

of Governance Principles for South Africa (King III and King IV). It conforms to the 

requirements of the South African Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 and the JSE 

Listings Requirements.

This	report	combines	the	financial	and	non-financial	performance	of	Stellar	Capital

Partners	 Ltd	 and	 its	 Consolidated	 Subsidiaries	 and	 covers	 the	 7	month	 financial	

period from 1 December 2016 to 30 June 2017.

The Board has concluded that the report should not cover the activities of Stellar 

Capital’s investee companies except insofar as is relevant to an assessment of the 

Group’s investment interest in those entities. Through representation on the investee 

boards	however,	the	Company	exercises	influence	over	the	socio-economic,	ethical	

and environmental policies and practices of investees.

MATERIALITY
The Group acknowledges that it is necessary to determine the importance of 

matters that are material to the Group and thus warrant inclusion in the integrated 

annual report.

Those charged with governance are involved in the materiality determination 

process in order for the Group to determine how best to disclose its performance 

in a meaningful and transparent manner. Not all information relating to the Group 

and its activities is considered material for purposes of this integrated annual report. 

Information	of	 significant	 importance	 in	 terms	of	 its	known	or	potential	effect	on	

value creation has been considered relevant for inclusion in this report.

EXTERNAL ASSURANCE AND APPROVAL
This integrated annual report has been reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee 

and approved by the Board of Directors. The report has been signed on behalf of the 

Board by the Chairman, Mr DD Tabata.

Independent	 audit	 assurance	 on	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 and	 the	

company	 financial	 statements	 of	 Stellar	 Capital	 Partners	 Ltd	 as	 at	 30	 June	 2017	

has been provided by Grant Thornton Cape Inc. Their report to shareholders of the 

Company is on page 50.

The Board decided that it was appropriate that there was no further third-party 

assurance in respect of this integrated annual report.

CURRENCY
All amounts presented in this integrated annual report are presented in South 

African Rands, unless otherwise stated.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
The	integrated	annual	report	may	contain	statements	regarding	the	future	financial

performance of the Group which may be considered to be forward looking 

statements. It is important to note that, unless otherwise indicated, forward looking

statements indicate the Group’s expectations and have not been reviewed or 

reported on by the Company’s auditors.
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SIGNIFICANT MILESTONES 

Stellar Capital team conducted an extensive investigation into the 
performance and viability of the struggling ICT group, ConvergeNet 

Holdings Limited, and commenced a process to dispose of all 
operating subsidiaries and close the head office.

Stellar Capital identified an opportunity to convert the cash- 
shell into an investment holding company by consolidating a number of 

sub-scale and illiquid assets held by Dr. Christo Wiese and 
other vendors.

Stellar Capital was officially established in January 2015 with a portfolio 
investment value of R532m.

In November 2015, R1bn was raised by way of a R400m rights issue and 
R600m convertible preference share issue.

A process was initiated to liquidate the remaining non-core assets, build the 
core assets and focus the portfolio on annuity income businesses, with a 

dual focus on the industrial and financial services sectors.

Establishment of Stellar Credit, fund manager of Stellar Specialised Lending 
and the Inyosi Supplier Development and Enterprise Development Funds.

Partnered with Masimong Technologies and completed a 51.1% BBBEE 
transaction for Tellumat.

Launched a mandatory offer for Torre at a NAV accretive valuation and 
acquired outright control of this key asset.

Announced the acquisition of a strategic investment in Prescient.

Completed the acquisition of Amecor.

Completed the acquisition of Prescient, which represents the Group’s single 
largest investment by Rand value.

Commenced a strategic and operational review which will determine the 
long-term focus of the Group to improve shareholder returns and efficient 

allocation of capital, underpinned by an optimal capital structure.

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017
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GROUP AND 
INVESTEES

SPECIALTY 
FINANCE

FINANCIAL 
SERVICES

INDUSTRIALS DISRUPTIVE

INVESTMENT 
MANAGEMENT

100.00% 48,82% 56.80%

100.00%

48.90%

100.00%
Incorporating 34% of

100.00%

60.00%

50.00%

2.00%

100.00%

2.00%
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OVERVIEW OF 
INVESTEE COMPANIES

STELLAR SPECIALISED LENDING 
Stellar Specialised Lending is a fund that focusses on direct lending opportunities to listed 

and unlisted corporates. With the ability to invest across the capital structure and a typical 

loan size of between R50m – R200m Stellar Specialised Lending currently has over R500m 

in invested loan assets.

STELLAR CREDIT
Stellar Credit is a subsidiary of Stellar Capital Partners Limited. A licensed Financial Services

Provider, Stellar Credit manages two direct lending funds, namely Stellar Specialised 

Lending and Inyosi Finance. Inyosi Finance is a provider of debt funding to Black owned 

SMME’s in South Africa.

PRAXIS
Praxis	 is	 a	 leading	 provider	 of	 short	 term	 finance	 to	 the	 panel	 beating	 industry	 which	

provides a unique offering to address motor body repairers’ (“MBRs”) working capital 

needs. 

The company’s proprietary information technology platform is being expanded to 

facilitate seamless interaction between MBRs, parts suppliers and insurers within the 

industry to drive its ultimate strategy to institutionalise the MBR funding market in 

South Africa.

IE RENTALS 
IE	Rentals	is	a	specialised	ICT	Asset	Finance	Solutions	company	providing	finance	solutions	

to businesses in acquiring critical technology infrastructure via customised rental solutions 

All equipment is maintained and serviced by Integrated Equipment IT through dedicated 

maintenance and support agreements over 36, 48 or 60 months.

PRESCIENT
The	significant	units	of	Prescient’s	financial	services	operations,	comprise:

Investment management

Prescient Investment Management manages money (in excess of R80bn) on behalf of 

retirement funds, medical aid schemes, other retirement vehicles and corporate entities, 

trusts and individuals.

Securities

Prescient	 Securities	 operates	 in	 a	 competitive	 stock	broking	market	 and	offers	 efficient	

trade and execution services as well as a diverse research competency.

Fund services

Prescient Fund Services (PFS) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Prescient that offers 

specialist outsourced administration (including hedge fund administration), platform 

services and global execution services to asset managers, multi-managers and other 

institutional investment providers. Current third party assets under administration exceed 

R139bn.
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OVERVIEW OF 
INVESTEE COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

Life and Manco

Prescient Life holds a linked life licence under which it issues investment linked policies to 

institutional and retail clients.

Prescient Management Company offers collective investment schemes (unit trusts) to retail 

and institutional clients who wish to access Prescient Investment Management’s distinctive 

investment	style	and	philosophy	through	an	efficient	vehicle.

China

Prescient	Investment	Management	has	a	representative	office	in	Shanghai	and	was	the	first	

institution	in	Africa	to	be	granted	a	Qualified	Foreign	Institutional	Investor	license	by	the	

Chinese authorities.

CADIZ
The operations of Cadiz currently comprise the asset management business, the Life 

company and a management company.

TORRE INDUSTRIES
Torre Industries Ltd is an African industrial group which is listed on the JSE. Torre provides 

equipment and machinery, auto parts and support services to its customers in selected high 

growth markets in the industrial sectors across Africa. These sectors include but are not 

limited to the agricultural, automotive, construction, earthmoving, engineering, mining, 

manufacturing, and condition monitoring industries. Torre Industries’ core business is the 

value added sale and rental of branded capital equipment and machinery, the 

distribution of high quality parts and components, the delivery of critical support services 

and	 the	 provision	 of	 financing	 solutions	 which	 are	 needed	 to	 support	 our	 customer’s	

expansion programmes.

AMALGAMATED ELECTRONIC CORPORATION
Amecor offers a range of exclusive technologies relating to security and electronics

Amecor’s core activities comprise of:

FSK Electronics: The manufacture and supply of sophisticated security transmission 

technology and applications.

Sabre Radio Networks: A licensed Radio Frequency and GSM global network for data 

transmission and off site equipment and /or security control.

TELLUMAT
Tellumat offers world-class, progressive technology products, custom solutions and 

services. As leaders in electronic technology in the telecommunications, defence, transport 

and energy industries, it serves South Africa and select world markets.
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OVERVIEW OF THE 
INVESTMENT MANAGER

INTRODUCTION
Stellar Capital has appointed Thunder Securitisations (Pty) Ltd (“Manco”) as its dedicated investment manager to 

manage the portfolio of the Company in accordance with Section 15 of the JSE Listings Requirements. The Manco, in terms 

of its management agreement with the Company, acts on behalf of the Company in sourcing, negotiating, concluding and 

executing investment opportunities for the Company. All material investment decisions, including but not limited to the 

acquisition and disposal of investments, require the approval of the majority of the Board of Directors of the Company.

TENURE
The management agreement is perpetual, but subject to a shareholder vote at each annual general meeting whereby the 

shareholders of the Company, by approval of more than 50% of the votes exercised by such shareholders on the cancellation 

resolution, may approve the termination of the management agreement which shall terminate upon the expiry of a period 

of 3 months after the date on which the Company provided the Manco with written notice that the cancellation resolution 

was adopted. Shareholders are referred to ordinary resolution 16 in the Notice of Annual General Meeting on page 100. In 

the event of a termination in accordance with the aforementioned shareholder vote, the Company shall issue to the Manco 

50	million	ordinary	shares	(subject	to	adjustment	for	defined	adjustment	events)	at	30-day	VWAP	of	such	shares	on	the	

business day immediately before the date of issue thereof, which shall be within 10 business days after the date of notice 

being given of the termination.

FEES
The Manco is paid a quarterly management fee in arrears which is calculated as an amount equal to 1% of net asset 

value (“NAV”), other than (i) cash, which will attract a fee of 0.25%, and (ii) third party managed assets which will 

attract a fee of 1% less the charges levied by the funds into which such assets are invested. In addition to the management 

fee, the Manco is entitled to a performance fee in respect of each quarter if the NAV per share (“NAVPS”) in respect of such 

quarter	is	at	least	10%	more	than	the	previous	highest	NAVPS	at	the	end	of	any	previous	financial	year.	Provided	that	the	

Manco has achieved the performance hurdle, the performance fee is calculated in accordance with the formula:

a = (15/100) x [(b – c) x d] – e
where,

a,  is the performance fee payable for the relevant quarter;

b,  is the NAVPS, as at 17:30 on the last business day of the quarter concerned;

c,		 is	the	previous	highest	NAVPS,	as	recorded	at	the	end	of	any	preceding	financial	year,	being	R2.03	at	30	November	2015;
d,  is the number of shares in issue as at the last day of the relevant quarter (adjusted for any adjustment events such as 

share consolidations or share-splits); and

e,		 is	the	sum	of	the	performance	fees,	if	any,	paid	in	respect	of	all	of	the	preceding	quarter(s)	of	the	relevant	financial	year.

INVESTMENT EXPERIENCE
At 30 June 2017, the key individuals of Manco are Messrs. Charles Pettit, Peter van Zyl and Jacob Wiese. The curricula vitae 

of	Messrs.	Pettit	and	van	Zyl	are	summarised	on	page	27.		Following	the	resignation	of	Mr	Pettit	as	Chief	Executive	Officer	

on 31 August 2017, it is envisaged that he will accordingly also no longer act as a key individual of the Manco after this date 

and	will	be	replaced	by	a	suitably	qualified	replacement	in	due	course.

Adv Jacob Wiese serves on the investment committee of the Titan group of companies (director since 2011), the investment 

holding	companies	through	which	the	Wiese	family	hold	significant	investment	stakes	in	several	of	South	Africa’s	largest	

companies. Adv Wiese also sits on the boards of numerous listed companies in his role as investment manager of the Wiese 

family’s investment, including Shoprite Holdings Ltd (since September 2005), Pepkor Holdings Ltd (since February 2010), 

Invicta Holdings Ltd (since July 2010) and Tradehold Ltd (since 2010). In addition, Adv Wiese currently serves on the board 

of	Brait	South	Africa	(Pty)	Ltd	(since	May	2011),	a	licensed	financial	services	provider	and	the	investment	advisor	to	Brait	

SE, one of South Africa’s leading investment holding companies which has dual listings on the Euro MTF Market of the 

Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the JSE.
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Stellar Capital is an investment company focused on investing in primarily unlisted assets, working with management teams 

to create market leading businesses and ultimately realising and delivering value to its shareholders.

Stellar Capital believes that it has a competitive advantage through the strength of its network providing access to 

proprietary	deal	flow,	coupled	with	a	management	and	investment	team	with	demonstrable	track	record	in	building	value	in	

businesses and generating exceptional shareholder return.

The Board is actively engaging its shareholders, funders and other stakeholders to secure a sustainable capital structure for 

the	Group,	which	will	form	a	key	strategic	initiative		in	the	forthcoming	2018	financial	year.

INVESTMENT POLICY
1. BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE
 1.1.  Stellar Capital is an investment company focused on investing in primarily unlisted assets, working with 

    management teams to create market leading businesses and ultimately realise and deliver value to its shareholders.

 1.2. Stellar Capital is quoted in the Equity Investment Instruments – Investment Companies (8985) sector of the JSE.

 1.3. On 16 January 2015 Stellar Capital’s shareholders approved paragraph 3.1 of the Company’s investment policy and 

    approved the remaining paragraphs of the investment policy at the annual general meeting held on 3 June 2016.

2. DEFINITIONS
	 2.1.	 “Category	1”	bears	the	same	meaning	as	defined	in	the	JSE	Listings	Requirements;

	 2.2.	 “Category	2”	bears	the	same	meaning	as	defined	in	the	JSE	Listings	Requirements

	 2.3.	 “Transaction”	bears	the	same	meaning	as	defined	in	section	9	of	the	JSE	Listings	Requirements.	For	the	avoidance		

    of doubt, to the extent a transaction with a non-related party is concluded in the ordinary course of business in

     terms of paragraph 7.1 below and constitutes less than 10% of the market capitalisation of the Company, such

     transaction will not be categorised in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements.

3. INVESTMENT STRATEGY, PARAMETERS AND SCOPE
 3.1. Investment strategy

    The investment strategy of the Company, which was formally approved by the Board on 3 December 2014 will entail

     the following:

    3.1.1. to grow a portfolio of equity, debt and hybrid securities, unconstrained by any particular market or sector,

      in listed and unlisted businesses, that will generate above average returns on capital for the Company’s

      shareholders;

    3.1.2. to apply a hands-on investment approach, in order to assist management teams and to provide strategic

      input, without assuming direct operational responsibility;

	 	 	 	 3.1.3.	 to	apply	a	flexible	investment	approach	relating	to	the	timing	and	duration	of	investments;

    3.1.4. to actively engage with investee companies in relation to their corporate activity and other strategic 

     initiatives; and

	 	 	 	 3.1.5.	 to	leverage	the	existing	network	of	Manco	to	create	a	unique,	well-diversified	investment	vehicle	which	will	

     be an attractive proposition for institutional investors.

 

 3.2. Investment focus

    Stellar Capital has been established to:

    3.2.1. hold a combination of strategic equity instrument investments as its primary objective and, as a secondary

      objective and usually for limited periods, controlling equity investments under circumstances where the

      Company has obtained approval from the JSE to hold such controlling equity instrument investments;

    3.2.2. earn high levels of current income from dividends and a credit investment portfolio comprising debt and

		 	 	 	 	 hybrid	securities	which	supports	sustainable	free	cash	flow	and	dividend	yield;	and

    3.2.3. opportunistically utilise the Company’s balance sheet to generate fees for shareholders through corporate

		 	 	 	 	 finance	strategies	in	support	of	investee	companies	or	on	a	standalone	basis.

 3.3. Sectors and geographies

    Stellar Capital will hold investments in three core areas:

    3.3.1. Industrials and support services;

OUR BUSINESS AND 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY

08 | STELLAR CAPITAL PARTNERS



    3.3.2. Financials; and

    3.3.3. Disruptive opportunities across all markets. This may comprise an investment in any business (typically 

     technology related) in the process of creating a new market or value network with the potential to displace 

     established market leaders.

    Stellar Capital will initially invest in South African based investments with focused international operations, whilst 

    retaining the ability to over time invest in foreign based investments which may or may not have established 

    operations with South Africa.

 3.4. Other parameters Stellar Capital will:

    3.4.1. seek to invest in growth and early-maturity stage businesses in which management teams remain equity

     incentivised throughout the investment life cycle;

    3.4.2. establish primarily large minority equity holdings, but retain the ability to hold majority holdings, particularly

      during the initial stage of the investment;

    3.4.3. not retain operational management of its investees for prolonged periods, but will hold the ability do so

      during the initial stage of the investment or as is deemed necessary from time to time;

    3.4.4. seek board representation within its investees’ reporting structures without establishing board control for

     prolonged periods of the investment cycle;

    3.4.5. hold investments without pre-determined realisation periods; and

    3.4.6. exit investments in the event of:

     3.4.6.1. protracted periods of under-performance relative to criteria set by management depending on the

        nature, sector and stage of the investments;

     3.4.6.2. receipt of unsolicited offers at materially higher values than attributed by Stellar Capital; or

     3.4.6.3. availability of alternative investments with substantially superior returns.

4. GROWTH TARGETS
Stellar Capital will seek to deliver total shareholder return in the form of NAV growth and shareholder distribution (where 

applicable) of at least 15% and more per annum over each rolling 3 year period target.

Stellar	Capital	will	retain	a	discretionary	dividend	policy	until	it	has	reached	sufficient	maturity	and	stability	in	earnings	from	

underlying investments. Cash will be retained for growth in the initial stages of development.

The Board may amend the growth targets from time to time, subject to shareholder approval of material changes as 

required by section 15.7 of the JSE Listings requirements.

5. CATEGORISATION OF TRANSACTIONS
Investment transactions undertaken by Stellar Capital will be categorised relative to the Company’s size (either market 

capitalisation or issued share capital as appropriate) as required by section 9 of the JSE Listings Requirements.

For purposes of applying the Listings Requirements and as approved by the JSE, the following investment activities are 

considered to be conducted in the ordinary course of business as contemplated in the JSE Listings Requirements:

 5.1. The acquisition and disposal of listed and unlisted equity and hybrid instruments;

 5.2. The acquisition and disposal of credit instruments, including loan notes, listed and unlisted bonds and redeemable

     preference shares;

 5.3. The advance of (and repayment of) loans and advances to investees and third-parties; and

 5.4. The underwriting of committed transactions where such underwriting commitment does not result in the acquisition

     or disposal of an asset.

6. SHAREHOLDER APPROVALS
 6.1. Shareholder approval by way of ordinary resolution will be required for all Category 1 Transactions entered into with

    non-related parties to the extent that the Transactions fall out of the provisions of this Investment Policy.

 6.2. In respect of Transactions with related parties, shareholder approval will be obtained in accordance with the 

    thresholds for such approvals contained in the JSE Listings Requirements.
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 6.3. Shareholder approval will not be required for non-related party Transactions of any size to the extent such 

    Transactions fall within the approved Investment Policy.

 6.4. Shareholder approval will not be required for Transactions triggered by the enforcement of provisions in sale and/ 

    or shareholders agreements entered into between Stellar Capital and other investee shareholders:

    6.4.1. where such Transactions are pre-approved by Stellar Capital shareholders upon initial acquisition of such 

     investments; or

    6.4.2. where no shareholder approval is required in respect of the Transactions in accordance with paragraph 6.3 

     but where the terms of such shareholder’s agreements have been advised to Stellar Capital shareholders

      despite shareholder approval not being required.

    It is intended that this pre-approval will relate to come along, go along, pre-emptive, put and call provisions that may

    be contained in agreements between Stellar Capital and other investors in investee companies.

    The approvals may be obtained at the time of the original Transactions or subsequently.

 6.5. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the JSE Listings Requirements for shareholder approvals and 

    communications will apply if any Transaction is categorised as a reverse take-over in terms of the JSE Listings 

    Requirements.

7. COMMUNICATION OF INVESTMENT TRANSACTIONS
 7.1. All Transactions concluded in accordance with this Investment Policy will be regarded as being in the ordinary

    course of business unless circumstances dictate otherwise.

 7.2. Communications with shareholders will be made in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements in respect of all

    related party Transactions (including small related party Transactions), except that:

    7.2.1. To the extent pre-approval has been obtained from the shareholders of the Company in respect of the terms 

     of shareholder’s agreements in accordance with 6.4.1,

     7.2.1.1. no circulars will be required for any size Transactions triggered by the enforcement provisions in

       relation thereto, unless the Transaction is categorised as a reverse take-over in terms of the JSE

       Listings Requirements; and

     7.2.1.2. Only a SENS announcement (and no press announcement) will be made in respect of any size 

      Transactions triggered by the enforcement provisions in relation thereto.

  7.3. Communications with shareholders will be made in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements in respect of all 

    non-related party Transactions, except that:

    7.3.1. no circulars will be required for any size Transaction as long as the requirements of paragraph 6.3 and

     6.4 are met, unless the Transaction is categorised as a reverse take-over in terms of the JSE Listings 

     Requirements; and

    7.3.2. while SENS announcements will be made for Category 1 and Category 2 Transactions, no press 

     announcements will be required for Category 2 Transactions or in respect of any size Transaction triggered

      by the enforcement provisions of shareholder’s agreements as long as the requirements of 6.4 are met.

  7.4. Notwithstanding the provisions of 7.2 and 7.3, the information required to be disclosed for a prelisting statement

     must be provided if required by the JSE Listings Requirements.

	 	7.5.	 All	 Transactions	will	 be	 summarised	 for	 shareholders	 in	 the	 interim	and	final	 results	 announcements	 and	 in	 the	

    integrated annual report.

8. COMMUNICATION OF INVESTMENT POLICY
The Investment Policy appears on Stellar Capital’s website and is included in the integrated annual report.

9. APPROVAL OF INVESTMENT POLICY
The investment strategy detailed in paragraph 3.1 of this Investment Policy was approved by shareholders on 16 January 

2015.  The remaining paragraphs of the investment policy were approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting on 

3 June 2016.  Any future material changes must be approved by shareholders by way of ordinary resolution.

OUR BUSINESS AND 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY (CONTINUED)
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SUMMARY OF 
FINANCIAL RESULTS

     As at As at

    % of 30 June 30 November

R’000  portfolio 2017 2016

Financial Services   

Prescient  34%  697 015  -   

Cadiz  4%  86 862  89 362 

Praxis 1   1%  29 671  139 621

IE Rentals 1  0%  -    51 384

Stellar Credit  0%  8 802  7 934 

   

Industrials and Technology   

Torre  21%  435 142  709 478 

Amecor  17%  359 708  359 708 

Tellumat 2  10%  178 331  239 182 

   

Corporate Assets   

Financial assets 1  1%  24 707  25 046 

Loan portfolio 1  10% 200 140    302 119

Venture capital portfolio 3  1%  28 195  30 299 

Cash and cash equivalents  1%  13 554  382 854 

Other assets  0%  7 993  13 107 

   

Total Assets    2 070 120  2 350 094 

Preference share liability    (569 112)  (565 652)

Bridge facility    (100 000) -   

Trade and other payables    (12 341)  (15 829)

SOTP value    1 388 667  1 768 613 

   

Net shares in issue ('000)    1 075 032  1 068 017 

SOTP value per share (Rand)    1.29  1.66 

SOTP value per share post preference share conversion (Rand) 4   1.52  1.82 

   

Notes
1 On 31 May 2017, Stellar Capital reorganized the manner in which it invests in the loan portfolio held by Stellar Specialised

		 Lending	through	the	acquisition	of	a	financial	instrument	issued	by	Cadiz	Asset	Management	Proprietary	Limited,	which

  bears exposure to the SSL loan portfolio on a pro-rata basis with all other investors. As such, the exposure of the loans

  owing by Praxis and IE Rentals to SSL is not solely borne by Stellar Capital and therefore the SOTP values as at 30 June

  2017 do not include the value of these loans, but only the respective equity fair values. The comparative period SOTP

 values (i) in relation to Praxis comprise R29.6 million equity and R110 million pro-rata loan exposure via SSL and (ii) in

  relation to IE Rentals comprise R5.7 million equity and R45.6 million pro-rata loan exposure via SSL

2 The value comprises the sum of the investments in Tellumat and Masimong Technologies 

3 Held in Stellar International

4 The conversion assumes an issuance of a maximum 215.8 million ordinary shares at R2.78 per share in settlement of 

 convertible preference share funding

KEY METRICS: 7 MONTH PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
• Stellar Capital’s net asset value per share at 30 June 2017 is R1.29 

• This represents a decrease in NAV per share of 22.2% compared to a NAV per share of R1.66 as at 30 November 2016 

• Unrealised fair value losses in relation to the Group’s investment in Torre Industries (R276.7 million) and Tellumat 

 (R60.8 million) predominantly contributed to the decline in NAV per share during the period under review

• The Group successfully concluded the acquisition of 48.82% of Prescient which now represents the Company’s single   

 largest investment by Rand value (R697 million, 2016: Rnil)

•	 Amecor	delivered	normalised	EBITDA	growth	of	12%	in	respect	of	its	financial	year	ended	31	March	2017	and	is	positioned	

	 to	continue	its	growth	trajectory	in	the	forthcoming	financial	year

• The Board is actively considering several options in relation to the optimisation of the Group’s capital structure 

•	 Strategic	and	operational	review	underway	to	finalise	long-term	focus

SUM-OF-THE-PARTS NET ASSET VALUE
The Company’s sum-of-the-parts (SOTP) net asset value is presented as follows:
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2017 FINANCIAL REVIEW
Unrealised fair value losses in relation to the Group’s 

investment in Torre of R276.7 million and Tellumat of R60.8 

million predominantly contributed to the decline in NAV 

per share from R1.66 per share at 30 November 2016 to 

R1.29 per share at 30 June 2017.

Despite	the	significant	challenges	experienced	by	Torre	and	

Tellumat, Stellar Capital remains supportive of management

teams and will work alongside them to add value in its 

industrial portfolio. The nature of the operations of 

Prescient and Amecor as less cyclical, more cash generative 

investments, are expected to improve the Group’s ability to 

weather the challenges presented.

Stellar Capital is currently fully invested with its portfolio 

weighting, based on current fair value estimates, being fairly 

equally	balanced	between	its	financial	services	portfolio	and	

industrials portfolio.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT
The Group successfully concluded the acquisition of a 

48.82%	 interest	 in	 Prescient’s	 financial	 services	 operations

during March 2017 for a total consideration of R697 million

which was settled by way of a cash payment of 

R687.7 million and the issue of 5 425 131 ordinary shares at 

a transaction price of R1.71 per share.  The investment, now 

Stellar Capital’s largest by carrying value, has performed 

satisfactorily. Prescient Investment Management’s assets

under management at 30 June 2017 was R82.9 billion, 

representing	 an	 increase	 from	 its	 previous	 financial	 year	

(March 2016: R74.2 billion).  Prescient’s assets under 

administration increased from R174.7 billion at its previous 

financial	year	end	(March	2016)	to	R222.7	billion	at	30	June	

2017, of which 7.4% are offshore assets.

Continued improved investment performance has assisted

the Cadiz investment management team in stabilising the 

level of assets under management during the period of 

R7.2 billion. Whilst the business is not yet fully optimised 

with costs high relative to the size of operations, Stellar 

Capital continues to work alongside Cadiz in the 

implementation of deliberate cost-rationalisation and 

BBBEE equity plans, which it believes will yield results in the 

forthcoming	 financial	 year.	 A	 long-term	 incentive	 scheme	

was also implemented during the reporting period with key 

Cadiz management team members participating in a 10% 

equity stake in the business. During the period under review, 

Cadiz	 disposed	 of	 its	 corporate	 finance	 operations,	 Cadiz	

Corporate Solutions.

SPECIALTY FINANCE
During the period under review, Praxis took a strategic

decision to exit its lower margin, working capital intensive

invoice factoring operations in favour of higher margin, 

less capital-demanding parts funding operations.

Praxis has entered into a strategic partnership with Mettle 

to assist with invoice factoring solutions to Praxis’ existing 

client base. Growth in the parts funding operations has been

significantly	 slower	 than	 expected.	 As	 at	 30	 June	 2017,	

Stellar Capital still holds 60% of the ordinary shares. A capital 

restructuring is under consideration to reduce the weighted 

average cost of capital.

Integrated Equipment Rentals continued to grow its rental

book to R40.4 million during the period, which yields an 

average return of 22% per annum. Despite this growth, 

efforts to reduce the weighted average cost of capital, 

currently solely equity funded by a subsidiary of Stellar 

Capital, have been unsuccessful, albeit that management 

continue to engage various parties in this regard.

Continued AUM growth in the Inyosi Enterprise 

Development and Supplier Development Fund offerings,

now with AUM of R203.5 million, and stable investment

performance from Stellar Specialised Lending (“SSL”), has

contributed to Stellar Credit, the management company

of Inyosi and SSL, delivering improved performance during

the period under review.

With effect from 31 May 2017, SSL standardised its capital

structure. Simultaneously,  Stellar Capital reorganised the

manner in which it invests in SSL by subscribing for a 

preference share in Cadiz Asset Management Proprietary

Limited (“CAM”) with a face value of R290.1 million,

the proceeds of which were invested in  SSL. During June

2017, CAM instructed the part-redemption of its investment

to the value of R90 million which was distributed to Stellar

Capital as a return of capital, effectively reducing Stellar

Capital’s indirect investment in SSL to R200.1 million at the

reporting date.

INDUSTRIALS
Trading conditions within the markets in which Torre 

operates have been extremely challenging although the 

company noted a marked improvement in the second half 

of	 the	 financial	 year	 as	 a	 result	 of	 increased	 operational	

efficiencies.	 Cost-containment	 strategies	 in	 the	 Capital	

Equipment segment and operational improvements 

strategies in the Parts and Components segment are 

however starting to yield some positive results. As a result of 

the depressed state of the mining and exploration industries, 

Set Point Laboratories in the Analytical services division was

restructured,	 resulting	 in	 significant	 performance	

improvement	 in	 the	 second	 half	 of	 the	 financial	 year.	 The	

strategic acquisitions, albeit small relative to the market 

capitalisation of Torre, of Top Class Automotive and 

Transformer Chemistry Services serve to highlight that some 

opportunities are available within the broader industry. As a

result of macroeconomic challenges, Torre impaired 

assets of R456 million during the year which mainly includes 

goodwill, rental assets, and property, plant and equipment. 

Following the initial receipt of proceeds from the disposal of

Kanu and the operating division Reng/GoPro, Torre 

voluntarily repaid R50 million of term debt and its full 

overdraft	balance	and		ended	the	financial	year	in	a	net	cash	

position of R24 million. Torre's balance sheet is now in a 

strong position for future acquisitions and organic growth 

initiatives.
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Amecor delivered normalised EBITDA growth of 12% in 

respect	 of	 its	 financial	 year	 ended	 31	 March	 2017	 (2017:	

R52.3 million, 2016: R46.9 million) and is positioned to 

continue	 its	growth	 trajectory	 in	 the	 forthcoming	financial

year. The business is executing various operational 

improvement plans, including the appointment of a new 

COO to focus on the optimisation of manufacturing 

operations, as well as inorganic growth strategies to 

broaden its service offering within the security industry.

Tellumat's	 annualised	 group	 profits	 from	 operations	

before depreciation and amortisation continued its 

weakened trend.   The Group has, however, expended a 

significant	 amount	 on	 research	 and	 development	 during	

the current year (2017: R19.8 million, 2016: R8 million, 2015:

R5 million) in order to bolster the group's product and 

service offerings and which has detracted from current year 

performance. In addition to this, the manufacturing division 

is well placed to capitalise on the possible resumption of the 

government set-top box project.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As the 31 May 2019 maturity date of the Group's preference 

share and 30 December 2017 maturity date of the Group's 

bridge funding arrangements near, the Board is actively 

engaging its shareholders, funders and other stakeholders to 

secure a sustainable capital structure for the Group, which 

will	form	a	key	strategic	initiative	in	the	next	financial	year.

NET ASSET VALUE
NAVPS reduced during the reporting period from R1.66 

at 30 November 2016 to R1.29 at 30 June 2017, mainly due to 

unrealised fair value losses recorded in marking the

investments in Torre and Tellumat to market based on the 

quoted trading price and management’s assessment of fair 

value, respectively. 

In accordance with paragraph 3.4(b)(v) of the JSE Listings 

Requirements,	 the	 Company	 confirms	 the	 use	 of	 NAVPS	

for trading statement purposes. This is considered to be an

appropriate measure given that, as an investment holding

company, the assessment of net asset value is a key 

performance measure.

DIVIDEND POLICY
No dividend has been declared for the period under review.

A dividend policy will be reassessed following the 

conclusion of the capital structure review.

DIRECTORATE
Mr	 Charl	 de	 Villiers,	 Chief	 Financial	 Officer	 and	 executive	

director, has tendered his resignation from the Company 

with effect from 30 September 2017.

The board has appointed Mr Sean Graham CA(SA), RA, 

ACMA	 as	 interim	 Chief	 Financial	 Officer	 and	 executive	

director, who will be supported by Mr David Hoek CA(SA), 

with effect from 1 October 2017. Mr Graham currently serves 

as	Company	Secretary	and	Chief	Risk	Officer	and	Mr	Hoek	

serves as Group Financial Manager. The process to appoint 

a	 permanent	 Chief	 Financial	 Officer	 is	 underway	 and	 the	

outcome thereof will be announced in due course. 

Mr HC Steyn was appointed as a non-executive director 

with effect from 4 April 2017. Mr CE Pettit has resigned as 

Chief	 Executive	 Officer	 from	 the	 Board	 of	 Directors	 with	

effect from 31 August 2017 and was replaced by 

Mr PJ van Zyl with effect from 1 September 2017.

HUMAN RESOURCES
The Group has appointed Thunder Securitisations (Pty) 

Ltd as its dedicated investment manager. A small team of

finance	 professionals	 and	 administrative	 staff	 support	

the	 Chief	 Executive	 Officer	 in	 executing	 the	 investment	

strategy of Stellar Capital. The Company recovers the 

full payroll costs of support staff and executive director 

remuneration from the investment manager to the extent 

that it exceeds the approved non-executive remuneration 

level.  With effect from 1 July 2017, Thunder Securitisations 

processes its own payroll and executive director costs, as 

well as operational expenses resulting in limited recoveries 

being required.

PROSPECTS AND KEY FOCUS AREAS FOR 
THE YEAR AHEAD
The nature of the operations of Prescient and Amecor 

as less cyclical, more cash generative investments, are 

expected to improve the Group's ability to weather the 

challenges presented. 

The Board and management are currently undergoing a 

strategic and operational review which will determine the 

long–term focus to improving shareholder returns and 

efficient	 allocation	 of	 capital,	 underpinned	 by	 an	 optimal	

capital structure.

APPRECIATION
We are grateful for the support provided to the Group by 

our investees, shareholders and banking partners. 

On behalf of the Board

Dumisani Tabata

Chairman
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The	 Board,	 supported	 by	 the	 Audit	 and	 Risk	 Committee,	 is	 tasked	 with	 the	 continuous	 monitoring	 of	 financial	 and	

reputational risks facing the Group. Given the size of the strategic stakes acquired by the Group in its investees, Stellar 

Capital	is	represented	on	investee	boards	and	is	able	to	influence	and	monitor	decision-making	in	this	regard,	with	quarterly	

feedback to the Group Board.

The table below outlines the key risks and mitigating responses in relation to Stellar Capital as an investment holding 

company.

CONTEXT
CONTEXT 

DESCRIPTION
RISK MITIGATING RESPONSES

NAV NAV growth drives 
the Group’s 
performance 

Liquidity Access	to	sufficient	
cash	flow	from	
investments is 
critical to servicing 
preference share 
funding liabilities

Human 
Resources

The Group’s access 
to knowledgeable, 
experienced 
management
teams is critical to 
its success

Credit risk A counterparty to 
a	financial	
instrument failing 
to meet its 
contractual 
obligations which 
could result in 
Stellar Capital not 
being able to meet 
its own obligations

- Financial risk management policies as detailed in note 
 31 of the Annual Financial Statements
- Representation on investee boards, executive 
 committees and sub-committees with quarterly feedback  
 to the Stellar Capital Board of Directors
-	Diversification	of	investments	across	multiple	sectors
- Assessments and review of investments have been 
 implemented to ensure entry price is appropriate

NAV growth drives the Group's 
performance and can be 
caused by Market risk through:
• Investee 
 underperformance
• Negative micro and macro-   
  economic factors / 
 economic outlook
- Market risk is the 
 potential change in the 
	 value	of	a	financial	
 instrument resulting   
 from changes in 
 market conditions or market
 parameters such as equity
 prices, exchange rates or
 interest rates. The risk of a
  decrease in the value of the 
 investment portfolio can be 
 measured by the 
 susceptibility of that portfolio
  to movements in the overall 
 market conditions or any of 
	 the	investment	specific	
 parameters.

-	Monthly	exco	meetings	to	monitor	cash	flow	generation		
 from investees
- Deployment of capital to loan investments to provide
  liquidity to service funding obligations
-	Weekly	cash	flow	forecasts	prepared	for	operating,		
	 investing	and	financing	cash	flows	of	Stellar	Capital	for		
 the next 12 months
-	Alternate	sources	of	short-term	funding	identified

- Equity incentivisation of key Group and investee 
 management
- Continuous succession monitoring by the Nominations  
 Committee

- The loan by Stellar Specialised Lending to the 
 underlying borrowers are secured by cession and   
 pledge of listed and unlisted shares as well as corporate  
 guarantees, which provides a cover ratio of 2 or more  
 times.
- The group assesses the credit worthiness of any third  
 party or portfolio company that a loan or advance is  
 granted to.
- Interest and capital repayments for all loans and other  
	 financial	assets	are	monitored	by	management	on	a		
 monthly basis.
 Management also monitors the operations and cash  
 generating capabilities of portfolio companies.
- The loan owing to the Company by Stellar Management  
 Services (Pty) Ltd is considered to be fully recoverable  
 as it is cash-collateralised.
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-	Insufficient	cash	flow	
 generation from 
 investments

- Loss of key management  
 personnel at Group or 
 investee level

- Reduction in asset value as  
 a result of impairments.
- Loss of capital as a result  
 of loan write-offs. Inability  
 to service own debts.
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CONTEXT
CONTEXT 

DESCRIPTION
RISK MITIGATING RESPONSES

Interest 
rate risk

Interest rate risk 
arises from the 
fluctuations	in	
prevailing market 
interest rates, and 
makes the cost of 
borrowing 
unaffordable.
Could also result in 
a breach of 
covenants

Legislation Compliance with 
legislation relevant 
to the sectors with- 
in which the Group 
and its investees 
operate is critical
to the viability of 
the business

Information 
technology

Efficient	utilisation	
of technology to 
report investee 
performance and 
operations of the 
Group

Interest rate characteristics of amounts advanced and any 
new borrowings are positioned according to expected 
movements in interest rates. Loans advanced are typically 
to fund working capital of investees and are not large.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on the 
preference share liability is largely mitigated through the 
investment in Stellar Specialised Lending, which pays 
returns from interest earned on its loan portfolio. As the 
loan portfolio of Stellar Specialised Lending is 
predominantly linked to either JIBAR or prime, any 
increase	in	finance	costs	on	the	preference	share	liability	
resulting from an increase in prime is largely countered 
with increased yield from Stellar Specialised 
Lending as a result of improved returns.

Appointment of key advisors and employees to advise 
management on matters of compliance. Strict adherence 
to Authority Levels Framework in SCP and in investee 
companies	and	sufficient	oversight.	Documentation	and	
implementation of monthly internal controls checklist at 
Head-Office	level	to	demonstrate	sufficient	management	
oversight.

- Monitoring of technology function by investee boards 
 on which Stellar Capital enjoys representation
- Appropriate server backups and offsite disaster recovery  
 capability
- Reciprocal arrangements between investee companies to  
 share infrastructure and resources if disaster strikes

- The fair value of any 
	 fixed	interest-bearing	
 instruments will be 
	 influenced.	The	value	of		
	 future	cash	flows	of	
 variable interest-
	 bearing	financial	
 instruments will change,  
 resulting in increased/  
	 decreased	cash	flows,		
 which in turn, impacts  
 liquidity risk

- Non-compliance with laws  
 and regulations and 
 levying of penalties

- Loss of critical Group and  
 investee information
- Interruption of operations
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

STATEMENT OF COMMITMENT
The Group subscribes to the principles of fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency in its business conduct.

The Board ensures that the Group is ethically managed according to prudently determined risk parameters in compliance 

with generally accepted corporate practices and conduct.

Stellar Capital endorses the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as well as the King IV Report on Corporate 

Governance for South Africa, 2016. The South African Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 also contains governance requirements.

The Company has adopted the King IV principles in its entirety on 1 July 2017 on an “apply and explain” basis. King III 

together with mandatory corporate governance requirements set out in 3.84 of the Listings Requirements was the 

applicable governance framework in place for the 7 month period ended 30 June 2017.

The Audit and Risk Committee adopted the corporate governance practices to assist the Board in its compliance with the 

King IV and Companies Act recommendations.

APPLICATION OF KING III PRINCIPLES FOR THE 7 MONTH PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
The Group endorsed the principles contained in King III. The Board is of the opinion that the Group complied in all respects 

with the material provisions of King III together with mandatory corporate governance requirements set out in 3.84 of the 

Listings Requirements relating to the Board and Directors for the 7 month period ended 30 June 2017. The Company’s full

King III compliance checklist including detailed responses to each principle is available on the Company website 

(www.stellarcapitalpartners.	co.za)	and	for	inspection	at	the	Company’s	offices	and	the	offices	of	the	Company’s	sponsor	

at no charge.

A summary of the King III principles relating to the Board and Directors applicable for the 7 month period ending 30 June 

2017 are explained below, including the summarised responses thereto for the period under review.

PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION SUMMARISED RESPONSE

2.1 The Board acts as the focal point for and custodian 
of corporate governance

Applied.	The	board	meets	regularly	to	fulfil	its	
duties and responsibilities in terms of the adopted 
Board charter

2.2 The Board appreciates that strategy, risk, 
performance and sustainability are inseparable

Applied.  Progress against the adopted Group 
strategic plan is monitored on a continuous basis

2.3 The Board provides effective leadership based on 
an ethical foundation

Applied. The Board observes the highest standards 
of ethical conduct in discharging its responsibilities

2.4 The Board ensures that the Group is and is seen to 
be a responsible corporate citizen

Applied. The Board considers the economic, social 
and environmental performance of the Group and 
its investees

2.5 The Board ensures that the Group ethics are 
managed effectively

Applied. The Board observes the highest standards 
of ethical conduct in discharging its responsibilities. 
The Board has established a Social and Ethics 
Committee to monitor compliance

2.6 The Board ensures that the Group has an effective 
and independent Audit and Risk Committee

Applied. The committee consist of 3 independent 
non-executive directors. The committee meets 
at least 3 times a year and also meets with the 
external auditors without management 
being present

2.7 The Board is responsible for the governance of risk Applied. The Audit and Risk Committee addresses 
and reports on risk matters to the Board

2.8 The Board is responsible for information 
technology (IT) governance

Applied. The Audit and Risk Committee addresses 
IT governance matters in terms of its delegated 
authority. Given the nature of the business of the 
Group,	no	significant	IT	investments	or	expenses	
have been incurred to date, nor are any planned. 
The Board has implemented a formal IT governance 
framework mainly focused on business continuity

2.9 The Board ensures that the Group complies 
with applicable laws and considers adherence to 
non-binding rules, codes and standards

Applied. The Audit and Risk Committee is 
mandated to ensure that the Group complies 
with applicable laws and considers adherence to 
non-binding rules, codes and standards, as assisted 
and advised by the Company Secretary and 
external advisors to the extent required
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PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION SUMMARISED RESPONSE

2.10 The Board ensures that there is an effective risk- 
based internal audit

Partly applied. The executive directors conduct 
an annual review of the Company’s internal 
controls,	and	report	their	findings	to	the	Audit	
and	Risk	Committee.	This	review	covers	financial,	
operational and compliance controls, as well as a 
review of the risk management policies and 
procedures of the Company. Internal audit 
functions are recommended and monitored at 
investee level and risks are reported on to the Audit 
and Risk Committee by way of quarterly risk report 
reviews or verbal feedback from Stellar Capital 
representatives who serve on investee sub-
committees	to	the	extent	justified	by	the	size	
and nature of investee operations

2.11 The Board appreciates that stakeholders’ 
perceptions affect the Group’s reputation

Applied. The Board monitors the gap between 
stakeholder perception and performance

2.12 The Board ensures the integrity of the Group’s 
integrated annual report

Applied. The Board ensures that the integrated 
annual	report	fairly	represents	the	Group’s	financial	
and	non-financial	performance

2.13 The Board reports on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s system of internal controls

Applied. The Board reports on the effectiveness 
hereof in the integrated annual report

2.14 The Board and its directors act in the best interests 
of the Group

Applied. The directors exercise objective judgment 
on the affairs of the Group independently from 
management,	but	with	sufficient	information	to	
enable proper and objective information to enable 
an objective assessment to be made

2.15 The Board considers business rescue proceedings 
or other turnaround mechanisms as soon as the 
Group	is	financially	distressed	as	defined	in	the	
Companies Act, 71 of 2008

Applied. The Board continuously monitors the 
solvency and liquidity of the Group

2.16 The Board elects a Chairman of the Board who is 
an independent non-executive director. The Chief 
Executive	Officer	of	the	Group	does	not	also	fulfill	
the role of Chairman of the Board

Applied. The role of the Chairman of the Board is 
fulfilled	by	Mr	DD	Tabata,	who	is	an	independent	
non-executive director. The then Group CEO, 
Mr	CE	Pettit,	fulfilled	his	role	separate	from	the	
Chairman of the Board

2.17 The	Board	appoints	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	
and establishes a framework for the delegation of 
authority

Applied. The Board appoints the CEO on 
recommendation of the Nominations Committee

2.18 The Board comprises a balance of power, with a 
majority of non-executive directors. The majority of 
non-executive directors should be independent

Applied. The majority of directors are 
non-executive and independent

2.19 Directors are appointed through a formal process Applied. The appointment of directors is a 
matter considered by the Board as a whole, as 
assisted by the Nominations Committee. A formal 
Appointments to the Board Policy has been 
adopted by the Board

2.20 The induction of and ongoing training, as well as
the development of directors, is conducted through 
a formal process

Applied. The Board has an induction programme 
to familiarize incoming directors. Ongoing director 
development is encouraged

2.21 The Board is assisted by a competent, suitably 
qualified	and	experienced	Company	Secretary

Applied. The board, assisted by the Nominations 
Committee,	is	satisfied	with	the	competence,	
qualifications	and	experience	of	the	Company	
Secretary

2.22 The evaluation of the Board, its committees and the 
individual directors is performed every year

Applied. Evaluation procedures are adopted and 
performed annually

2.23 The Board should delegate certain functions to 
well-structured committees without abdicating its 
own responsibilities

Applied. The terms of reference of committees are 
reviewed at least annually and the committees are 
appropriately constituted considering the relevant 
legislation and objectives of the Group

2.24 A governance framework is agreed between the 
Group and its subsidiary boards

Applied. Senior management represent the 
Company on investee boards and report to the 
Group Board regularly.  Each investee company 
operates within its own established governance 
framework which is aligned with the Authority 
Levels Framework adopted by the Stellar 
Capital Board
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PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION SUMMARISED RESPONSE

2.25 The Group remunerates directors and executives 
fairly and responsibly

Applied. The remuneration policies and practices 
aim to create value for the Group over the long 
term. The Remuneration Committee assists the 
board in its responsibility for setting and 
administering remuneration policies

2.26 The Group discloses the remuneration of each 
individual	director	and	prescribed	officer

Applied.  The Group provides full disclosure of each 
individual executive and non-executive director’ 
remuneration in the integrated annual report. There 
are	no	Prescribed	Officers	in	the	Group	other	than	
the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	
Officer	during	the	2017	financial	year

2.27 Shareholders have approved the Group’s 
remuneration policy

Applied. The Group’s remuneration policy is 
presented to shareholders as a non-binding 
advisory vote at each Annual General Meeting

APPLICATION OF KING IV PRINCIPLES AS FROM 1 JULY 2017
The Group endorses the principles contained in King IV. The Board is of the opinion that the Group complies in all 

respects	 with	 the	 material	 provisions	 of	 King	 IV	 for	 the	 financial	 year	 commencing	 1	 July	 2017.	 The	 Company’s	 full	

King IV compliance checklist including detailed responses to each principle will be available on the Company website 

(www.stellarcapitalpartners.	 co.za)	 in	 due	 course	 and	 for	 inspection	 at	 the	 Company’s	 offices	 and	 the	 offices	 of	 the	

Company’s sponsor at no charge.

A summary of the King IV principles adopted and applicable from 1 July 2017 are explained below, including the summarised 

responses thereto.

PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION SUMMARISED RESPONSE

1 The Board should set the tone and lead 
ethically and effectively. Members of the Board 
should individually and collectively cultivate the 
following characteristics and exhibit them in their 
conduct: integrity, competence, responsibility, 
accountability, fairness and transparency.

Applied. The Board has adopted a Board Charter 
that sets the tone at the top and responsibility for 
the Board to ensure that Stellar Capital is 
ethically and effectively managed. The conduct of 
the Board, Committees, individual directors and 
Company Secretary are evaluated and reviewed at 
least annually to establish that those charged with 
governance exhibit the required characteristics.  
Along with directing the strategy of the Group and 
being tasked with its performance, the 
responsibility for good corporate governance 
is that of the Board of Directors. Accordingly, 
management is required to make decisions that are 
strategically sound, are in compliance with the 
relevant legislation and Company policy, are 
cognisant of the interests of stakeholders, and 
encompass the principles of good corporate 
governance.

2 The Board should ensure that the   Company’s 
ethics is managed effectively.

Applied. The Board has taken responsibility for 
creating and maintaining an ethical corporate 
culture and ensures that the ethical standards 
which have been set are adhered to in all aspects 
of the business. Ethical standards and expectations 
are clearly communicated to all employees and 
breaches of ethical conduct are viewed in a serious 
light. The Social and Ethics Committee is tasked 
with oversight of the Group’s ethics and reports to 
the Board on such matters. The report of the Social 
and Ethics Committee is included in the integrated 
annual report on page 39.

The Company has also adopted an Ethics Policy 
in terms of its Board Charter. Monitoring of 
compliance by the Company with ethical matters is 
also standing agenda items for the Audit and Risk 
Committee and Social and Ethics Committee. 
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PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION SUMMARISED RESPONSE

3 The Board should ensure that the Company is a 
responsible corporate citizen

Applied.  The Board acknowledges that it, in 
addition to Stellar Capital’s economic performance, 
is also responsible for the Company’s social and 
environmental performance. The Board has 
constituted the Audit and Risk Committee, 
Remuneration Committee, Nominations Committee 
and the Social and Ethics Committee to assist it 
with the discharge of its corporate governance 
responsibilities. Applicable corporate governance 
and committee reports are included in the 
integrated annual report.

The key focus areas of the Social and Ethics 
Committee, a sub-committee of the Board, is to 
monitor the adherence to legislation, accreditation 
and the additional commitment by Stellar Capital 
relating to the following core subjects:
i) Human rights
ii) Labour practices
iii) Consumer issues
iv) Community involvement and development
v) The environment
vi) Fair operating practices

Areas for improvement and progress in terms of 
agreed commitments and deadlines are reported to 
the Board regularly.

 4 The Board should lead the value creation 
process by appreciating that strategy, risk and 
opportunity, performance and sustainable 
development are inseparable elements.

Applied. Progress against the adopted Group 
strategic plan is monitored on a continuous basis. 
The Board exercises ongoing oversight of the 
implementation of the strategy and operational 
plans by management against agreed performance 
measures and targets. Stellar Capital seeks to 
deliver total shareholder return in the form of NAV 
growth and shareholder distribution (where 
applicable) of at least 15% and more per annum 
over each rolling 3 year period target.

5 The Board should ensure that reports and other 
disclosures enable stakeholders to make an 
informed assessment of the performance of the 
Company and its ability to create value in a 
sustainable manner

Applied. The Board ensures that the integrated 
annual report provides an accurate, complete and 
integrated representation of the Group, including 
financial	performance,	corporate	governance,	risk	
management and sustainability. Management have 
implemented	controls	to	enable	the	verification	
and safeguarding of the integrity of the integrated 
annual report. Included as part of this, is the review 
and	consideration	of	the	financial	statements	by	
the Audit and Risk Committee and a process to 
ensure the independence and competence of the 
Group’s external auditors.

6 The Board should serve as the focal point and 
custodian of corporate governance in the 
Company.

Applied.	The	board	meets	regularly	to	fulfil	its	
duties and responsibilities in terms of the adopted 
Board charter.

7 The Board should ensure that in its composition 
it comprises a balance of the skills, experience, 
diversity, independence and knowledge needed to 
discharge its role and responsibilities.

Applied. The majority of directors are 
non-executive and independent. The conduct of 
the Board, Committees, individual directors and 
Company Secretary are evaluated and reviewed at 
least annually to establish that those charged with 
governance exhibit the required skills, diversity, 
independence and knowledge.
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8 The Board should consider creating additional 
governing structures to assist with the balancing 
of power and the effective discharge of 
responsibilities, but without abdicating 
accountability.

Applied. The Board has constituted the Audit 
and Risk Committee, Remuneration Committee, 
Nominations Committee and the Social and Ethics 
Committee to assist it with the discharge of its 
corporate governance responsibilities. The terms 
of reference of committees are reviewed at least 
annually and the committees are appropriately 
constituted considering the relevant legislation 
and objectives of the Group. Applicable corporate 
governance and committee reports are included in 
the integrated annual report.

9 The Board should ensure that the appointment 
of and delegation to, competent executive 
management contributes to an effective 
arrangement by which authority and 
responsibilities are exercised.

Applied. Senior management represent the 
Company on investee boards and report to the 
Group Board regularly. Each investee company 
operates within its own established governance 
framework which is aligned with the Authority 
Levels Framework adopted by the Stellar 
Capital Board.

10 The Board should ensure that the performance 
evaluations of the Board, its structures, its 
Chairman and members, the CEO and the Company 
Secretary or corporate governance professional 
result in continued improved performance and 
effectiveness.

Applied. The conduct of the Board, Committees, 
individual directors and Company Secretary are 
evaluated and reviewed at least annually. Areas for 
improvement and committed corrective action are 
monitored by the Board on a continuous basis.

11 The Board should govern risk and opportunity in 
a	way	that	supports	the	Company	in	defining	core	
purpose and to set and achieve strategic objec-
tives.

Applied. The responsibility for the Group’s 
risk	management	function,	specifically	
implementing risk management processes, is 
that of management. The Board has assigned 
oversight of the Group’s risk management function 
to the Audit and Risk Committee. The Board 
ensures that there is effective communication and 
coordination of its oversight activities so as to 
enable the Audit and Risk Committee to be 
informed	of	all	significant	actual	or	potential	
financial	and	non-financial	risks	that	may	impact	
the Group.

12 The Board should govern technology and 
information in a way that supports Company in 
defining	core	purpose	and	to	set	and	achieve	
strategic objectives.

Applied. Given the nature of the business of the 
Group and the relatively minimal IT infrastructure 
required, the focus of the governance of IT is on 
risk	management,	specifically	the	mitigation	of	risks	
relating to loss or destruction of information and 
relating to business continuity. Management are 
responsible for the monitoring, implementation and 
rectification	of	IT	related	matters	and	issues,	which	
responsibility is overseen by the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The Board has implemented a formal IT 
governance framework that is appropriate and that 
allows for oversight to investee IT governance.

13 The Board should govern compliance with laws and 
ensure consideration of adherence to non-binding 
rules, codes and standards.

Applied. The Board is responsible for the 
Group’s compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
codes and standards. Compliance is monitored by 
the Social and Ethics Committee or Audit and Risk 
Committee, where applicable. The main areas of 
focus are covered in the report of the Social and 
Ethics Committee included in the integrated 
annual report.
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14 The Board should ensure that the Company 
remunerates fairly, responsibly and transparently 
so as to promote the creation of value in a 
sustainable manner.

Applied. The remuneration policies and practices 
aim to create value for the Group over the long 
term. The Remuneration Committee assists the 
board in its responsibility for setting and 
administering remuneration policies. The Group 
provides full disclosure of each individual executive 
and non-executive director’ remuneration in the 
integrated annual report. There are no Prescribed 
Officers	in	the	Group	other	than	the	Chief	
Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	during	
the	2017	financial	year.	The	Group’s	remuneration	
policy and implementation report is presented to 
shareholders as non-binding advisory votes at each 
Annual General Meeting.

15 The Board should ensure that assurance results in 
an adequate and effective control environment and 
integrity of reports for better decision-making.

Applied. The executive directors conduct an annual 
review of the Company’s internal controls, and 
report	their	findings	to	the	Audit	and	Risk	
Committee.	This	review	covers	financial,	
operational and compliance controls, as well as a 
review of the risk management policies and 
procedures of the Company. Internal audit 
functions are recommended and monitored at 
investee level and risks are reported on to the Audit 
and Risk Committee by way of quarterly risk report 
reviews or verbal feedback from Stellar Capital 
representatives who serve on investee 
sub-committees	to	the	extent	justified	by	the	size	
and nature of investee operations. In its considera-
tion of the integrated annual report, the Audit and 
Risk Committee considers any factors that may 
influence	management	to	present	an	incomplete	or	
misleading picture of the Group‘s position, 
performance or sustainability. The Audit and Risk 
Committee is responsible for evaluating the 
significant	judgments	and	reporting	decisions	made	
by management affecting the integrated annual 
report, including changes in accounting policies, 
decisions requiring a major element of judgement 
and the clarity and completeness of the proposed 
financial	and	sustainability	disclosures.

16 As part of its decision-making in the best interest 
of the Company, the Board should ensure that a 
stakeholder-inclusive approach is adopted, which 
takes into account and balances their legitimate 
and reasonable needs, interest and expectations

Applied. In order to act in the best interests of the 
Company, the Board understands its responsibility 
to all of its stakeholders and therefore considers, 
as far as possible, the legitimate interests and
expectations of its stakeholders as part of its 
decision-making. The Board understands that 
relationships with stakeholders can only be built 
and maintained if the Group provides complete, 
timely, relevant, accurate, honest and accessible 
information. Regular communication with 
stakeholders promotes a common understanding 
between stakeholders and the Group, including 
expectations and commitments between the 
parties. 

Management has implemented various techniques 
for managing the Company’s relationships with 
all stakeholders so as to contribute towards 
sustainability and promote enhanced levels of 
corporate governance. 

The Board is also mindful of the fact that minority 
shareholders are to be protected from abusive 
actions by or in the interests of larger shareholders. 
Stakeholder relationships and communications are 
outlined in the integrated annual report. 
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
THE BOARD IS RESPONSIBLE FOR:
• acting as the focal point for, and custodian of, corporate governance by managing its relationship with management,

 the shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company along sound corporate governance principles;

• retaining full and effective control of the Company;

• giving strategic direction to the Company, both long and short term;

• monitoring management in implementing plans and strategies as approved;

• creating value through social, economic and environmental performance;

•	 appointing	and	evaluating	the	performance	of	the	Chief	Executive	Officer;

• ensuring that succession is planned;

• identifying and regularly monitoring key risk areas and key performance indicators of the business;

• ensuring that the Company complies with relevant laws, regulations and codes of business practice;

• ensuring that the Company communicates with shareholders and relevant stakeholders openly and promptly;

•	 identifying	and	monitor	relevant	non-financial	matters;

• establishing a formal and transparent procedure for appointment to the Board, as well as a formal orientation programme 

 for incoming directors;

• regularly reviewing processes and procedures to ensure effectiveness of internal systems of control and accept 

 responsibility for the total process of risk management;

• assessing its performance, its committees and its individual members on a regular basis;

•	 ensuring	that	the	Company	is	and	is	seen	to	be	a	responsible	corporate	citizen	by	having	regard	to	not	only	the	financial	

 aspects of the business of the Company but also the impact that business operations have on the environment and the 

 society within which it operates;

• ensuring that the Company’s performance includes that of an economic, social and environmental perspective;

• ensuring that the Company’s ethics are managed effectively;

• ensuring that the Company has an effective and independent Audit and Risk Committee;

• being responsible for information technology (IT) governance;

• appreciating that stakeholder’s perceptions affect the Company’s reputation;

• ensuring the integrity of the Company’s integrated annual report;

• monitoring the Company’s compliance with the above; and

• acting in the best interests of the Company by ensuring that individual directors:

 • adhere to legal standards of conduct;

 • exercise the degree of care, skill and diligence that would be exercised by a reasonably individual;

 • act in good faith and in the manner that is in best interests of the Company;

 • take independent advice in connection with their duties following an agreed procedure;

	 •	 disclose	real	or	perceived	conflicts	to	the	Board	and	deal	with	them	accordingly;

 • deal in securities only in accordance with the policy adopted by the Board; and

	 •	 commence	business	rescue	proceedings	as	soon	as	the	Company	is	financially	distressed.

BOARD MEETINGS
The Board meets four times per annum. Teleconference meetings are held on an ad hoc basis as required. The Chief 

Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	also	update	the	Board	through	regular	reports.

DIRECTORATE
The	Board	currently	comprises	two	executive	and	six	non-executive	directors	of	whom	five	are	independent.	The	average	

age of the members of the Board was 49 years as at 30 June 2017. The average length of Executive Director service was 

3 years as at 30 June 2017 and 3 years for Non-executive Directors.

Details of the directorate at 30 June 2017 and at the date of this integrated annual report are provided on pages 27 to 29, 

and the name of the Company Secretary and the registered address of the Company are provided on the inside back cover.

As set out on pages 27 to 29, the capacity of each director is categorised as executive, non-executive or independent 

non-executive, using the following as guidelines to determine which category is most applicable to each director:
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• Executive directors are directors that are involved in the management of the company and in full-time salaried 

 employment of the company and/or any of its subsidiaries;

• Non-executive directors are directors that are not:

 (1)  involved in the day to day management of the business; or

 (2)  full-time salaried employees of the company and/or any of its subsidiaries;

•	 Independent	directors	are	as	defined	in	the	King	III	and	IV	codes	as	per	the	evaluation	on	page	25.

The	Board	is	satisfied	that	no	one	individual	director	or	block	of	directors	has	undue	power	of	decision-making	and	there	is	

a clear division of responsibilities at board level to ensure an appropriate balance of power and authority.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr	 PJ	 van	 Zyl	 was	 appointed	 as	 Chief	 Executive	 Officer	 with	 effect	 from	 1	 September	 2017	 after	 the	 resignation	 of	

Mr CE Pettit.

DIRECTORS RETIRING BY ROTATION
In terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, one-third of the directors retire by rotation and are eligible for 

re-election at each annual general meeting. Executive directors are not subject to rotation.

Mr MVZ Wentzel, MM Ngoasheng and Mr L Potgieter stand for re-election at this year’s annual general meeting. The 

Nominations Committee has considered their credentials and contributions to the Board and Board committees and 

unanimously recommends them to shareholders for re-election to the Board. Refer to ordinary resolutions number 3, 4 and 

5 in the notice of Annual General Meeting on page 98.

EVALUATION
In terms of the evaluation process, independent non-executive directors are evaluated individually with regard to their 

independence.

The Board considers each director’s independence. The Committee follows the guidance contained in the King III and also 

King IV reports in assessing a non-executive director’s independence:

The King IV report (principle 7: para 28) lists the following as indicators of lack of perceptual independence:

1)	 Being	a	representative	of	a	shareholder	who	has	the	ability	to	control	or	significantly	influence	management	or	the	Board;

2) Having been in the employ of the company or the group in any executive capacity, or appointed as the designated auditor 

	 or	partner	in	the	audit	team	of	the	group’s	external	audit	firm	or	external	legal	adviser	during	the	preceding	three	financial	

 years;

3)	Being	a	member	of	the	immediate	family	of	an	individual	who	is,	or	has	during	the	preceding	three	financial	years,	been

	 employed	by	the	company	or	the	group	in	an	executive	capacity	being	a	significant	professional	adviser	to	the	company	

 or the group, other than as a member of the Board;

4) Any business or other relationship (contractual or statutory) which could be regarded by an objective outsider to 

 interfere materially with the individual’s capacity to act in an objective manner, such as being a member of the Board of 

 a material customer of or supplier to the company; or

5) Receiving remuneration contingent upon the performance of the company.

The	King	III	Report	(2009:38-39)	Defines	an	Independent	non-executive	Director	as	a	person	who:

1)	 Is	not	a	representative	of	a	shareholder	who	has	the	ability	to	control	or	significantly	influence	management	or	the	board;

2) Does not have a direct or indirect interest in the company (including any parent or subsidiary in a consolidated group with

		 the	company)	which	exceeds	five	percent	of	the	group’s	total	number	of	shares	in	issue;

3)	Does	not	have	a	direct	or	indirect	interest	in	the	company	which	is	less	than	five	percent	of	the	group’s	total	number	of

 shares in issue, but is material to his personal wealth;
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4) Has not been employed by the company or the group of which it currently forms part in any executive capacity, or 

	 appointed	as	the	designated	auditor	or	partner	in	the	group’s	external	audit	firm,	or	senior	legal	adviser	for	the	preceding	

	 three	financial	years;

5)	Is	not	a	member	of	the	immediate	family	of	an	individual	who	is,	or	has	during	the	preceding	three	financial	years,	been

 employed by the company or the group in an executive capacity;

6) Is not a professional advisor to the company or the group, other than as a director;

7) Is free from any business or other relationship (contractual or statutory) which could be seen by an objective outsider

 to interfere materially with the individual’s capacity to act in an independent manner, such as being a director of a material 

 customer of or a supplier to the company; or

8) Does not receive remuneration contingent upon the performance of the company

Based	on	the	conclusions	of	the	assessments	performed	the	Board	has	confirmed	the	following	independence	status	for	

non-executive directors:

Dumisani Tabata : Independent

Cornelius Roodt : Independent

Marco Wentzel  : Independent 

Moss Ngoasheng : Independent 

Lonn Potgieter : Independent

Herman Steyn : Non independent due to his previous executive role in the Prescient Group 

Internal assessments of the Board, individual directors, Company Secretary and Board Committees were conducted in 

August 2017.

Following	the	assessments	the	Board	was	satisfied	that	the	individual	directors	have	the	necessary	skills,	competence	and	

knowledge to conduct their duties.

An evaluation of the executive directors was performed in August 2017. The next evaluation of the Board, its members and 

its Committees will be conducted in June 2018.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Sean Graham CA(SA), RA, ACMA, GCMA was appointed as Company Secretary on 1 September 2016.

Prior	to	the	appointment	of	Mr	Graham	the	Board	considered	and	was	satisfied	with	his	competence,	qualifications	and	

experience.

All Board members have access to the Company Secretary, and he supports the Board as a whole and the Directors 

individually	in	fulfilling	their	duties.

The	Company	Secretary	is	required	to	fulfil	the	duties	as	set	out	in	section	88	of	the	Companies	Act	and	the	JSE	Listings	

Requirements, and to ensure that appropriate procedures and processes are in place for Board and Shareholder 

proceedings	in	compliance	with	the	Memorandum	of	Incorporation	of	the	Company.	The	certificate	required	to	be	signed	in	

terms of subsection 88(2)(e) of the Act appears on page 42. He is also a resource in the Group on governance, ethics and 

risk management and is entitled to obtain independent advice to achieve these objectives at the request of the Board and 

its Committees.

The Board undertakes an annual evaluation of the Company Secretary in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements.

The	evaluation	criteria	for	the	Company	Secretary	includes	assessing	the	qualifications,	knowledge	of	and	experience	with	

relevant laws, ability to provide comprehensive support to the group and the directors and ability to provide guidance to 

directors as to their duties, responsibilities and powers.
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The annual evaluation performed in August 2017 involved the completion of a questionnaire by Board members and a 

discussion during a meeting of the Board in the absence of the Company Secretary. Based on the results of the evaluation, 

the Board is comfortable that the Company Secretary maintained an arm’s length relationship with the Board at all times for 

the	7	month	period	ended	30	June	2017,	has	the	relevant	experience	to	discharge	his	duties	and	is	sufficiently	qualified	and	

skilled to act in accordance with, and advise directors in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements and update the directors 

in terms of the recommendations of King III, King IV and other relevant laws. The JSE has provided dispensation in terms of 

paragraph 3.84(g) of the JSE Listings Requirements for Mr Graham to hold both the Interim CFO and Company Secretary 

designations for the short-term period from 1 October 2017 until no later than 31 March 2018.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Executive directors are appointed in terms of written letters of appointment, which endure until retirement and are subject 

to termination with up to one months’ notice. The terms of employment are not subject to any restraint of trade undertaking.

The contractual relationship between the Company and its executive directors is controlled through the Remuneration 

Committee.

There	was	no	other	material	 interest	 in	any	significant	contract,	other	 than	his/her	contract	of	employment	or	 letter	of	

appointment, with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year. Refer to the Report of the Board of Directors on 

page	44	and	notes	27	and	28	of	the	annual	financial	statements,	on	pages	83	and	84.

CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS
All	Board	members	are	required	to	report	any	conflicts	of	interest	that	may	arise	in	the	course	of	their	duties.	No	members	

of the Board have actual or potential political connections or exposure.
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Charles Pettit, 36 (South African) (BCom (Hons), CFA)
Chief Executive Officer up to 31 August 2017
Appointed to the Board in June 2012 and resigned in August 2017
Charles graduated from the University of Cape Town in 2004 with a First Class Honours degree and subsequently 

qualified	 as	 a	CFA	charter	 holder.	 Charles	worked	 for	Close	Brothers	 in	 London	before	 establishing	 his	 own	 corporate

finance	advisory	boutique	in	Cape	Town	in	2009,	which	he	subsequently	sold.	Charles	also	established	Torre	in	2012	and

served as CEO of Torre from inception until 31 August 2016 when he was appointed as Deputy Chairman. Charles was

appointed as the CEO of Stellar Capital on 5 October 2015 and resigned effective 31 August 2017.

Peter van Zyl, 40 (South African) (BCom) 
Chief Executive Officer from 1 September 2017
Appointed to the Board in November 2013
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee up to 31 August 2017
Member of the Nominations Committee up to 31 August 2017
Peter	has	wide-ranging	operational,	corporate	finance	and	entrepreneurial	experience	in	private	equity	ventures.	His	strong	

background	and	training	in	finance	has	assisted	in	his	many	roles	looking	after	the	financial	and	operational	functions	of	

various businesses, often to improve the functions within the business to a listed company standard. Peter established 

the Thunder Group, a private equity investment business which holds investments in the technology, property and other 

alternative investments space and he remains a non-executive director within the Group. Peter was the founding chairman 

of the Torre group on its mirror listing in 2012, a position he held until 2015 when he stepped down to act as a non-executive 

director.	Peter	was	also	previously	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	of	Stellar	Capital	between	February	2015	and	October	2015.

Peter	also	serves	on	a	number	of	non-profit	and	conservation	organisations.

Charl de Villiers, 33 (South African) (B.Acc LLB, B.Acc (Hons), CA (SA)) 
Chief Financial Officer up to 30 September 2017
Appointed to the Board in February 2015 and resigned in September 2017
Charl	 is	 a	 qualified	 Chartered	Accountant	 (SA).	 He	 holds	 B.Acc	 LLB	 (cum	 laude)	 and	 B.Acc	 (Hons)	 degrees	 from	 the	

University	of	Stellenbosch.	He	completed	his	SAICA	training	with	Deloitte	 in	 its	financial	 services	division	and	was	 later	

retained as an audit manager in the same division where he serviced a portfolio of asset managers and one of South

Africa’s most prominent reinsurers. In May 2013, Charl joined AfrAsia Corporate Finance where he advised ConvergeNet

Holdings Ltd on the sale of Sizwe Africa IT Group and other operating subsidiaries as well as the subsequent conversion of 

the Company to an investment entity.

Sean Graham, 41 (South African) (B.Com, Hons B.Compt, CA(SA), RA, ACMA, CGMA)  
Interim Chief Financial Officer from 1 October 2017
Appointed to the Board in October 2017
Sean	 joined	the	Stellar	Capital	 team	on	1	September	2016	as	Chief	Risk	Officer	and	Group	Company	Secretary	and	also	

assumed	the	position	of	 Interim	Chief	Financial	Officer	and	executive	director	of	Stellar	Capital	on	1	October	2017.	Sean	

joined Torre Industries Limited, a listed Stellar Capital Partners investee company, in April 2014 as Company Secretary and 

Chief	Risk	Officer	responsible	for	corporate	compliance	and	risk	management	after	spending	3	years	at	the	listed	Control	

Instruments Group in similar roles. Prior to joining Control Instruments, Sean practiced as an Audit Partner in a medium-sized 

firm	of	Chartered	Accountants	in	Public	Practice.	Sean	is	a	qualified	Chartered	Accountant,	Registered	Auditor,	Associate	of	

the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and a Chartered Global Management Accountant.
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Dumisani Tabata, 62 (South African) (BProc, LLB)
Chairman and Non-Executive Director (Independent) 
Appointed to the Board in January 2009
Chairman of the Nominations Committee 
Member of the Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Social and Ethics Committee
Dumisani is an admitted attorney and director and founding partner of SMITH TABATA Inc. in King William’s Town. As 

attorney he has been involved in several Constitutional and Administrative Law related matters. In 1996 Mr Tabata was an 

Acting Judge of the High Court and served in the position for 3 terms, in April 1999 he was appointed by the Premier of 

the Eastern Cape, as one of the Joint Liquidators of the Transkei Agricultural CorporaBon (“TRACOR”). After the advent of 

democracy, Mr Tabata regularly acted as attorney for Government Departments, local authorities and parastatals. Dumisani 

was a member of the National Association of Democratic Lawyers (Border) and served on  the  National Executive thereof in 

1998, member of the King William’s Town Transitional Local Council (First Interim Phase) and member of the Council’s Land

Sale Committee 1994-1995, served as Deputy Chairman of ABSA BANK regional board, Eastern Cape, served as 

non-executive director and chairman of Transactional Capital (Pty) Ltd as well as non-executive director of Amalgamated 

Appliances (Pty) Ltd. Currently he serves on the board of Vuwa Investments  (Pty)  Ltd  as  executive director, director of 

SMITH TABATA INC., Attorneys, Notaries and Conveyancers and Smith Tabata Buchanan Boyes (“STBB”) Cape Town and 

Johannesburg.

Cornelius Roodt, 58 (South African) (B.Compt (Hons), CA(SA)) 
Non-Executive Director (Lead Independent)
Appointed to the Board in October 2015 
Member of the Audit and Risk Committee 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee from 1 September 2017
Member of the Nominations Committee 
Cornelius (“Corrie”) is the current Chairman of Premier FMCG and has had a successful business career which included the 

NASDAQ listing of First South Africa Corp. and the founding of First Lifestyle Holdings. Previously, Corrie served as a partner 

at PriceWaterhouse Corporate Finance and before that as audit partner.

Marco Wentzel, 38 (South African)
Non-Executive Director (Independent)
Appointed to the Board in July 2016 
Member of the Audit and Risk Committee 
Member of the Social and Ethics Committee
Marco, well known for his rugby accomplishments and having represented South Africa all over the world and on the 

board of the Rugby Players Association in 2010, is an astute businessman having started, managed and invested in several 

businesses	over	the	years.	In	2001	Marco	founded	MAB	International,	a	construction	firm	based	in	George	which	he	later	sold.	

In 2009, he jointly formed Legions Sports Management UK, which business pioneered sports representation of professional 

players within rugby, cricket and football by offering distinctive career insurance and entertainment and personal concierge 

services.	Marco	currently	holds	the	position	of	Chief	Operating	Officer	of	Truckworx	SA	(Pty)	Ltd	a	national	transport	and	

technical	solutions	company	servicing	a	listed	organisation’s	fleets.	He	is	director	on	the	board	of	Advantage	Wealth,	an	

investment holding company offering a range of investments, wealth management and insurance intermediary services and 

related products and a wealth specialist for short term corporate insurance at TIB, a division of the TIG Group.

CORPORATE 
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Moss Ngoasheng, 60 (South African) (MPhil, BSocSci (Hons), BA)
Non-Executive Director (Independent)
Appointed to the Board in October 2016 
Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee from 1 September 2017
Member of the Nominations Committee from 1 September 2017
Moss	is	the	CEO	and	Deputy	Chairman	as	well	as	the	co-founder	of	Safika	Holdings	–	an	Investment	Holding	company	with	

a	broad	range	of	interests	in	the	mining,	industrial,	gaming,	financial	services,	telecommunications	and	technology	sectors	

of the economy.

He served from 1995 to 2000 as economic adviser in the South African Presidency. He consulted to the World Bank and 

National Housing Forum (South Africa) on aspects of economic policy in South Africa. Moss serves on the boards of 

Dimension Data (Middle East and Africa), South African Breweries, Torre Industries, Winsaf an Australian based Private 

Equity Fund and Business Leadership South Africa to mention but a few. He is also a Trustee of the Nelson Mandela 

Children’s Hospital.

Lonn Potgieter, 60 (South African) (BCom, Dip Acc, CA(SA))
Non-Executive Director (Independent)
Appointed to the Board in November 2016 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
After	completing	articles	with	Deloitte,	Lonn	worked	for	a	short	time	in	manufacturing	before	joining	the	financial	Services	

industry in 1986. Since then he has worked in private banking and wealth management for Rand Natal Trust Company and

the	 Board	 of	 Executors.	 He	 later	 joined	ABSA	Asset	Management	 as	 Chief	Operating	Officer	where	 he	 remained	 until	

Barclays	acquired	ABSA	 in	2006.	He	 then	moved	 to	Regarding	Capital	Management	as	Chief	Operating	Officer	and	as	

Financial Director for RECM and Calibre, which was listed on the JSE. He Left the RECM group in 2013 to pursue his interest

in	consulting	to	the	financial	services	industry	in	the	areas	of	business	improvement,	problem	solving	and	innovation.

Herman Steyn, 57 (South African) (BBusSc, BBusSc (Hons)) 
Non-Executive Director
Appointed to the Board in April 2017
Herman is the co-founder and Chairman of the Prescient Group and has been involved in the investment management industry

since 1985, having held senior management positions in several established asset management companies. He began his

career in investments after studying a BBusSc degree majoring in Actuarial Science, Statistics, and Economics at the 

University of Cape Town. Herman completed his BBusSc (Hons) in 1984 and in 1998 founded Prescient Investment 

Management. Herman is also a main board member of the Association for Savings and Investment-South Africa. 
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Audit and Risk, Remuneration, Nominations and Social and Ethics Committees are sub-committees of the Board. The 

Board and its sub-committees have adopted charters and terms of reference that set out their roles and a clear division of 

responsibilities. This ensures a balance of power and authority so that no one individual has unfettered powers of 

decision-making.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors and is chaired by Mr L Potgieter.

Audit and Risk Committee meetings are held at least 3 times per annum and, where appropriate, is attended by the external 

auditors and the executive directors. The external auditors have unfettered access to the Chairman of the Audit and Risk 

Committee.

The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board in discharging its duties relating to the oversight of the following:

• risk management, control and governance;

•	 the	quality	and	integrity	of	the	Group’s	reporting	practices	and	controls	and	the	integrated	reporting	(including	financial	

 statements) of the Group;

•	 the	external	auditor’s	qualifications,	independence,	and	performance;

• the performance of the internal audit functions, if any; and

• the Group’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and the code of ethics.

The	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	considers	the	Group	and	Company	annual	financial	statements	of	Stellar	Capital	to	be	a	fair	

presentation	of	their	financial	positions	at	30	June	2017	and	the	results	of	their	operations,	changes	in	equity	and	cash	flows	

for the 7 month period then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act 

No. 71 of 2008. The Report of the Audit and Risk Committee is presented on page 43.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three non-executive directors of whom all are independent and is chaired 

by Mr CJ Roodt since 1 September 2017. Remuneration Committee meetings are held at least three times per annum and 

where	appropriate	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	attend	meetings	by	invitation.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the remuneration policy and determining and approving the remuneration 

of the Group’s executives. The Remuneration policy and implementation report is presented on page 35.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
The Nominations Committee comprises three non-executive directors of whom all are independent and is chaired by the 

Chairman of the Board, Mr DD Tabata.

The Nominations Committee meets at least twice per annum. Responsibilities of the Nominations Committee include:

• reviewing proposals for executive and non-executive appointments;

• reviewing proposals for the appointment of the Company Secretary; and

• performance evaluation of the Board, Committees of the Board, individual directors and the Company Secretary.

The procedure for appointments to the Board is formal and transparent. Appointments are a matter for the Board as a whole 

which is assisted by the Nominations Committee.

Based on the recent amendments to the JSE Listings Requirements, the Nominations Committee and Board agreed that 

Stellar Capital adopts Gender- and Racial Diversity Policies and report on its targets going forward.
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In terms of the adopted Racial Diversity Policy for the Group, the minimum black representation on the Board (excluding 

executive directors) was set at 1/3rd with a target of 50%. The Stellar Capital Board had a 1/3rd black representation as at 

30 June 2017 and up to the date of this report. In terms of the adopted Gender Diversity Policy for the Group, the minimum 

female representation on the Board (excluding executive directors) was also set at 1/3rd with a target of 50%. The minimum 

target for gender diversity was not met as at 30 June 2017 and up to the date of this report and is being addressed by the 

Board supported by the Nominations Committee.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
The Social and Ethics Committee comprises three non-executive directors of whom all are independent and was chaired by 

Mr MM Ngoasheng. 

The Social and Ethics Committee monitors the Group’s performance in social and economic development, good corporate 

citizenship and transformation.

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS
Attendance by directors at Stellar Capital Board meetings and Board committee meetings for the period under review is set 

out below. Various members of the Board also met informally on a number of occasions. The overall Board and Committee 

attendance was 96% for the 7 month period ended 30 June 2017.

MEMBER 13 FEBRUARY 2017 13 JUNE 2017 21 AUGUST 2017

DD Tabata (Chair) Yes Yes Yes

CE Pettit (CEO) Yes Yes Yes

CB de Villiers (CFO) Yes Yes Yes

CJ Roodt Yes Yes Yes

MM Ngoasheng Yes Apologies Yes

PJ van Zyl Yes Yes Yes

L Potgieter Yes Yes Yes

MVZ Wentzel Yes Yes Yes

HC Steyn -
Appointed 4 April 2017

n/a Yes Yes

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE

MEMBER 13 FEBRUARY 2017 13 JUNE 2017 21 AUGUST 2017

L Potgieter (Chair) Yes Yes Yes

CJ Roodt Yes Yes Yes

MVZ Wentzel Yes Yes Yes
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

MEMBER 13 FEBRUARY 2017 13 JUNE 2017 21 AUGUST 2017

PJ van Zyl (Chair) Yes Yes Yes

CJ Roodt Yes Yes Yes

DD Tabata Yes Yes Yes
 

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE 

MEMBER 13 FEBRUARY 2017 13 JUNE 2017 21 AUGUST 2017

DD Tabata (Chair) Yes Yes Yes

CJ Roodt Yes Yes Yes

PJ van Zyl Yes Yes Yes

SOCIAL & ETHICS COMMITTEE

MEMBER 13 JUNE 2017

MM Ngoasheng (Chair) Apologies

DD Tabata Yes

MVZ Wentzel Yes

DIRECTOR CHANGES DURING THE 7 MONTH PERIOD ENDING 30 JUNE 2017 AND UP 
TO THE DATE OF THIS REPORT
Mr HC Steyn was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 4 April 2017. Mr CE Pettit resigned from the Board 

of	Directors	with	effect	from	31	August	2017	and	was	replaced	by	Mr	PJ	van	Zyl	as	Chief	Executive	Officer	with	effect	from	

1 September 2017.

Mr	Charl	 de	Villiers	 resigned	 as	Chief	 Financial	Officer	 and	 executive	 director	 effective	 30	September	 2017.	 The	board	

appointed	Mr	Sean	Graham	as	interim	Chief	Financial	Officer	and	executive	director	with	effect	from	1	October	2017.	The	

process	to	appoint	a	permanent	Chief	Financial	Officer	 is	underway	and	the	outcome	thereof	will	be	announced	 in	due	

course.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
GOING CONCERN
The Directors have made an assessment of the Company and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The 

Directors have every reason to believe that the Company and the Group have adequate resources in place to continue 

operating	for	the	foreseeable	future	and	the	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	basis	of	this	assumption.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL
The Directors have responsibility for the Group’s systems of internal controls. These are designed to provide reasonable 

assurance	of	effective	and	efficient	operations,	internal	financial	control	and	compliance	with	laws	and	regulations.

The Group’s system of internal controls is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against the risk of 

material errors, fraud or losses occurring. Furthermore, because of changing internal and external factors, the effectiveness 

of an internal control system may vary over time and must be continually reviewed and adapted.

 

CORPORATE 
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The system of internal controls is monitored throughout the Group by the Audit and Risk Committee, external auditors and 

management as an integrated approach.

The Board reports that:

• to the best of its knowledge and belief, no material malfunction of the Group’s internal control system occurred during

  the period under review;

•	 it	is	satisfied	with	the	effectiveness	of	the	Group’s	internal	controls	and	risk	management;

• it has no reason to believe that the Group’s code of ethics has been transgressed in any material respect; and

• to the best of its knowledge and belief, no material breaches of compliance with any laws and regulations applicable to 

 the Group have occurred during the period under review.

INTERNAL AUDIT AND WHISTLE-BLOWING ETHICS HOTLINE
Given the nature of the operations as an investment holding company, no internal audit function or whistle-blowing hotline 

has	been	instituted	by	the	Group	at	the	Head-office	level.	The	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	receive	quarterly	feedback	from	

management in respect of the internal controls at investee level, assess the impact to the Group and recommend remedial 

actions where appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ DEALINGS IN SHARES AND INSIDER TRADING
The Company Secretary and Sponsor monitor Directors’ and affected persons’ dealings in shares and ensures adherence 

to closed periods for share trading. A closed period for trading in the Group’s shares is maintained for prescribed periods 

to prevent any insider trading of the Group’s shares. Directors and members of senior management are prohibited from 

dealing in Stellar Capital shares during price-sensitive or closed periods. Closed periods apply at least every six months 

from	30	June	and	31	December	until	the	publication	of	the	annual	or	interim	financial	results	respectively.	A	closed	period	

is also applicable when the Company has issued a cautionary announcement to its shareholders. Directors and members of 

senior management may only deal in Stellar Capital shares outside a closed period, with the approval of the Chairman, Chief 

Executive	Officer	and	the	Company	Secretary.
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The large number of corporate actions concluded during the year under review emphasised the importance of the principles

of transparent and timeous stakeholder engagement subscribed to by Stellar Capital. The Company issued numerous 

circulars to shareholders and published numerous SENS announcements and media publications to ensure that stakeholders 

remained informed regarding developments within the Group, including an updated NAV summary following completion of 

the Prescient acquisition.

The Stellar Capital Partners website (www.stellarcapitalpartners.co.za) was launched during the prior year and provides 

stakeholders with up to date media publications and other information regarding the Group and its investees. Shareholders 

can subscribe to a stakeholder distribution list on the website which sends Group communications straight to the inbox of 

each	recipient	as	and	when	SENS	announcements	or	financial	results	are	published.

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIP ROLE
MATERIAL 
MATTERS

STELLAR 
CAPITAL’S 

COMMITMENT

APPROPRIATE 
COMMUNICATION 

FORUM

PRIVATE 
SHAREHOLDERS 
AND 
INSTITUTIONAL 
INVESTORS

Shareholders To provide capital 
and investment 
required to support 
the business 
strategy

- Share price
- NAVPS
- Dividend policy
- Return on 
investment and 
prospects
- Management 
competence
- Growth strategy
- Acquisitions and 
divestitures
- Management 
remuneration
- Management 
company fees

To create a 
sustainable and 
profitable	business	
that rewards 
investors in a 
responsible manner

- Annual General 
Meetings
- Ad hoc meetings 
with investors and 
analysts
- SENS
announcements 
and media updates
- Website
- Trading state-
ments
- Integrated annual 
report
- Updated Sum-of-
the-Parts valuation 
available on 
corporate website.

BANKERS Financiers To	provide	financial	
resources required 
to support the 
business strategy

- Financial 
statements 

Accurate and 
timely reporting 
and adherence to 
terms of funding 
arrangements

- Regular 
meetings with 
financiers	

INVESTEE 
MANAGEMENT 
TEAMS

Management To provide 
timeous, accurate 
and complete 
financial	and	
non-financial	
feedback on the 
performance of the 
investments of the 
Group

- Financial 
statements
- Strategic 
initiatives
-	Cash	flows
- Operational 
efficiencies
- Synergies with 
other Group
investees

To provide an 
open-channel for 
two-way feedback 
regarding all 
matters pertaining 
to the performance 
of investments

- Monthly exco 
meetings
- Monthly 
management 
accounts
- Representation 
on risk forums, 
Boards and 
sub-committees
- Site visits

COMMUNITY Corporate Social 
Responsibility

To provide a 
socially stable and 
sustainable 
environment in 
which to conduct 
business

- Investee CSI 
programmes

To be a responsible 
corporate citizen 
who operates in a 
socially responsible 
manners, cognisant 
at all times of the 
people and envi-
ronment in which 
the Group or its 
investees conduct 
business activities

- Integrated 
annual report

AUTHORITIES AND 
REGULATORS

Tax collector, 
transformation and 
regulator

To provide a stable 
macro and micro 
economic 
environment with a 
regulatory and 
legislative 
framework that 
supports 
business strategy

- Taxation and 
legislative 
requirements

To comply with 
regulatory and 
legislative 
requirements

- Statutory returns
- Integrated annual 
report
- Investee BBBEE 
certification

STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND 
IMPLEMENTATION REPORT

INTRODUCTION
The Remuneration Committee operates under a formal mandate that has been approved by the Board and has 

conducted its affairs in compliance with and discharged its responsibilities as stipulated in the committee terms of reference. 

The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to make recommendations on the remuneration policies and practices for 

the executive directors and senior management of the Group in general. 

Stellar Capital has appointed Thunder Securitisations (Pty) Ltd (“Manco”) as its dedicated investment manager to manage 

the portfolio of the Company in accordance with Section 15 of the JSE Listings Requirements. The Manco, in terms of its

 management agreement with the Company, acts on behalf of the Company in sourcing, negotiating, concluding and 

executing investment opportunities for the Company. As a result of this, the number of people employed within the Group 

comprises only the Board of the Company and small number of support staff.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS
The Remuneration Committee comprises three non-executive directors of whom two are independent and was chaired by 

Mr PJ van Zyl at 30 June 2017. With effect from 1 September 2017, Mr Corrie Roodt, an independent non-executive director, 

replaced Mr Van Zyl as chairman of the committee. Remuneration Committee meetings are held at least three times per 

annum	and	where	appropriate	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	attend	meetings	by	invitation.		

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The committee is primarily responsible for assisting the Board in carrying out the following duties:

• Overseeing the establishment and implementation of remuneration policies in relation to non-executive directors, 

	 executive	directors	and	prescribed	officers’	remuneration;

• Reviewing the outcomes of the implementation of these policies in order to ascertain whether they promote the 

 achievement of the Company’s strategic objectives and encourage individual performance. Should circumstances 

 necessitate, the Committee will recommend the necessary improvements to the Board;

• Reviewing the remuneration disclosure in the integrated annual report to ensure that it is accurate and transparent and 

	 provides	 sufficient	 forward	 looking	 information	 to	 enable	 shareholders	 to	 assess	 the	 remuneration	 policy	 and	

 implementation report and to endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, at each annual general meeting;

• Reviewing and monitoring emergency succession planning; 

• Approving of the terms of service contracts of directors and executives including notice period for termination;

• Reviewing such other remuneration related matters as may be directed by the Board from time to time; and

• Attending the Company’s annual general meeting and answering, through the Chairman of the Committee, any questions 

 relating to matters falling within its responsibility;

• Reporting, through the Chairman of the Committee, at the respective Board meetings on remuneration matters.

The	committee	met	 three	 times	during	 the	7	month	financial	period	under	 review	and	up	 to	 the	date	of	 this	 report.	 In	

some	instances,	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	attended	the	committee	meetings	by	invitation	and	

assisted the committee in its deliberations, except when issues relating to their own compensation were discussed. No

Director is involved in deciding their own remuneration. The Company’s auditors, Grant Thornton Cape Inc, have not

provided advice to the committee. However, in their capacity as Group auditors, they perform normal audit procedures on 

the remuneration of directors.

Refer to page 17 of the Corporate Governance Report for information on the composition of the Remuneration Committee 

and attendance at meetings.

REMUNERATION POLICY AND EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
The remuneration policy was approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 18 May 2017 and is again 

being submitted to shareholders at the annual general meeting to be held on 27 November 2017 for approval by non-binding 

advisory vote.  To the extent that such non-binding advisory note is opposed by shareholders holding 25% or more of the 

voting rights exercised, the remuneration committee, in consultation with the Manco which provides services incorporating 

certain operational functions of the Group, will engage with dissenting shareholders to address their respective objections 

and concerns.
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REMUNERATION 
REPORT (CONTINUED)

PRINCIPLES OF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
In accordance with the management agreement entered into between Stellar Capital and the Manco (refer Overview of the 

Investment Manager on page 7), executive director remuneration exceeding R375 000 per annum is paid by Stellar Capital, 

but recovered from the Manco on a quarterly basis by way of the payment of a reduced management fee. With effect from 

1 July 2017, Manco processes its own payroll and executive director costs, as well as operational expenses resulting in limited 

recoveries being required.

The Remuneration Committee of Stellar Capital oversees remuneration of executive and non-executive directors as it relates 

to their remuneration as members of the board of directors and its committees of the Company. This is in addition to any 

employee relationship between the Company and the individual in an employee/employer capacity, which is governed by 

the terms of the management agreement. Accordingly, the R375 000 per annum paid by the Company to each executive 

director relates to remuneration relating to being members of the board and its committees (where applicable).

In accordance with the principles outlined above, details of executive remuneration for the 7 month period ended 30 June 

2017, were as follows: 

     Pension and 

   Fees for Basic other 

   services salary contributions  Total 
Group 2017 

Executive directors  

CE Pettit 219  - -     219 

CB de Villiers      219  - -     219 

Non-executive directors    

MM Ngoasheng     190  - -     190 

L Potgieter     233  - -     233 

CJ Roodt     306  - -     306

HC Steyn     -  - -     -

DD Tabata     292  - -     292

PJ van Zyl     263  - -     263

MVZ Wentzel     233  - -     233

Total      1 984  - -     1 984

The remuneration of Mr CE Pettit and Mr CB de Villiers exceeding R375 000 per annum each (2016: R375 000 per annum), 

pro-rata, was recovered by the Group directly from Manco. For the 7 month period ended 30 June 2017, Mr CE Pettit was 

paid a total executive remuneration of R2.2 million by the Group, which consisted of a basic salary of R1.3 million and a 

discretionary bonus of R0.9 million and Mr CB de Villiers was paid a total remuneration of R1 million by the Group, which 

consisted of only a basic salary.

ELEMENTS OF REMUNERATION AND SALARY BENCHMARKING
The Manco, supported by the remuneration committee, may undertake position benchmarks for remuneration packages, 

which	allows	for	flexibility.	The	most	recent	benchmarking	exercise	was	conducted	in	June	2017.	Remuneration	packages	

for Executive Directors and support staff comprise of guaranteed base pay with the possibility of earning short-term annual 

cash incentives capped at a percentage of guaranteed base pay on the achievement of annually agreed Key Performance 

Indicators	 that	comprise	financial	and	non-financial	metrics.	No	 long-term	 incentive	plans	are	currently	 in	place	and	the	

Group does not have any post-retirement obligations.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES
The	proposed	unchanged	fees	for	the	forthcoming	financial	year	which	will	be	presented	to	shareholders	at	the	next	annual	

general meeting, are:

Role  Annual fee

Chairman of the Board R325 000

Non-executive director R300 000

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee R100 000

Member of the Audit and Risk Committee R75 000

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee R100 000

Member of the Remuneration Committee R100 000

Chairman of the Nominations Committee R50 000

Member of the Nominations Committee R50 000

Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee R25 000

Member of the Social and Ethics Committee R25 000

The Group pays for all travel and accommodation expenses incurred by directors to attend Board and committee meetings, 

as well as for investee site visits.

Details	of	the	executive	and	non-executive	directors’	fees	are	detailed	in	note	27	of	the	annual	financial	statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Directors’	 and	 prescribed	 officers’	 contracts	 are	 all	 terminable	 with	 one	 month’s	 notice	 and	 are	 bound	 by	 signed	

employment contracts. The non-executive directors do not have a contract of employment with the Group, but have signed 

letters of appointment which set out the duties and responsibilities expected of them.

A third of the directors retire by rotation annually based on longest service. If eligible, available and recommended for 

re-election by the Nominations Committee, their names are submitted for re-election at the Annual General Meeting. The 

appointment	of	new	directors	during	a	financial	year	is	required	to	be	confirmed	at	the	following	Annual	General	Meeting	

and such new directors are required to retire at such Annual General Meeting, but may offer themselves for re-election.

APPROVAL
This remuneration policy and implementation report has been approved by the Board of Directors of Stellar Capital.

Signed on behalf of the Remuneration Committee

Corrie Roodt

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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Stellar Capital acknowledges, in line with its values, the importance that sustainability has in its decision-making and as such, 

ensures that it engages with all stakeholders in meaningful ways so as to continue to build and strengthen relationships. As 

part of the approach to sustainability, the Group has focused on the following values in achieving its mission:

• A commitment to ethical business practices;

• Strategic investments which align to the business philosophy;

• Good governance principles;

• Employment practices that are fair and above reproach; and

• Clear lines of communication with all stakeholders.

Stellar Capital is cognisant of the fact that it does not operate in isolation, but is part of a greater network of people, 

communities and organisations. However being an investment entity, it has no operations of its own and therefore no 

significant	socio-economic	consequences.	For	the	same	reason	Stellar	Capital’s	impact	on	the	environment	is	considered	

to	be	relatively	low,	but	where	possible	measures	are	taken	to	further	reduce	any	wastage	or	inefficiencies	that	may	exist.

Presently, Stellar Capital as an investment holding company has not yet introduced a stand-alone CSI programme, but 

acknowledges that the implementation of such an initiative forms part of being a responsible corporate citizen. As part of 

its commitment, Stellar Capital will look to explore opportunities to partner with other organisations so as to contribute 

towards sustainability in this respect.

Whilst each investee company is responsible for its own governance policies, through representation on the various boards, 

Stellar Capital strives to ensure that investee companies have implemented sustainable business practices in line with those 

highlighted by Stellar Capital. Furthermore, investee compliance with legislation, relevant regulatory requirements and 

industry best practice is monitored by Stellar Capital and suggestions for improvements are made where considered 

necessary or appropriate.

Stellar Capital also receives feedback on the CSI programmes that have been implemented by its major investee companies.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
INVESTMENT
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REPORT OF THE 
SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

The	Social	and	Ethics	Committee	is	a	sub-committee	of	the	Board.	The	committee	meets	at	least	twice	in	each	financial	year.	

The Social and Ethics Committee comprises three non-executive directors of whom all are independent and was chaired by 

Mr MM Ngoasheng.

The Social and Ethics Committee monitors the Group’s performance in social and economic development, good corporate 

citizenship and transformation. The Committee also monitors the Group’s activities, having regard to any relevant legislation, 

other legal requirements, or prevailing codes of best practice, with regard to matters relating to:

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
• To monitor the Company’s standing to social and economic development in terms of the goals and purposes of the:

• Principles set out in the United Global Compact Principles;

• Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) recommendations regarding corruption;

• African Union;

• JSE Listings Requirements; 

• King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016; and

• Endorse the Company’s Public Affairs and Corporate Social Investment programs including sponsorships, donations and 

 charitable giving.

ETHICS RESPONSIBILITIES
• Endorse the Company’s Code of Ethics (including core values) and submits same to the Board of Directors for approval;

• Endorse the ethics management training program;

• Review performance of the ethics management training program;

• Review results of periodic employee attitude surveys; and

• Identify ethics risks and opportunities.

TRANSFORMATION RESPONSIBILITIES: SOUTH AFRICA
• Ensure that there is full integration and alignment of all transformation processes within the Company in South Africa 

 and to monitor the Company’s standing to social and economic development in terms of goals and purposes particularly

  in respect of:

 • the Employment Equity Act;

 • preferential procurement;

 • social investment;

 • community involvement;

 • the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act; and

 • skills development;

 • Review targets for the Company in South Africa in respect of the above processes;

	 •	 Advise	the	Board	on	specific	strategies	for	transformation;	and

 • Consider and review progress against set goals and targets in relation to all aspects of the Company’s transformation

  strategy.

Progress in terms of the matters reviewed by the committee is reported at each committee meeting and feedback is given 

to the Board timeously. A member of the Social and Ethics Committee will be present at the Annual General Meeting to be 

held on Monday, 27 November 2017 to report back to shareholders on matters within the mandate of the committee.

As set out in its terms of reference, the committee has an independent role with accountability to the Board. The 

committee does not assume the function of management, but rather a role of monitoring. The committee has discharged all 

of the responsibilities as set out in its terms of reference.

Moss Ngoasheng

Chairman of Social and Ethics Committee
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and the preparation and integrity of the 

Group	and	Company	annual	financial	statements.

The	 annual	 financial	 statements	have	been	prepared	 in	 accordance	with	 the	Listings	Requirements	of	 the	 JSE	Limited,	

IFRS, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, Financial Reporting 

Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council and the Companies Act and are based upon 

appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. 

They are presented in South African Rands.

The	annual	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	under	the	supervision	of	Mr	CB	de	Villiers	CA(SA),	the	Chief	Financial	

Officer.	The	directors	are	satisfied	that	the	information	contained	in	the	financial	statements	fairly	presents	the	results	of	

operations	for	the	7	month	period	and	the	financial	position	of	the	Group	and	the	Company	at	year-end.

The	 directors	 are	 also	 responsible	 for	 the	 Group’s	 and	 the	 Company’s	 systems	 of	 internal	 financial	 control.	 These	 are	

developed	 to	 provide	 reasonable,	 but	 not	 absolute,	 assurance	 regarding	 the	 reliability	 of	 the	 financial	 statements,	 the	

safeguarding of assets, and to prevent and detect misrepresentation and losses.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group and the Company will continue as going concerns in the future as they will 

have	sufficient	funds	available	to	settle	their	obligations	as	and	when	they	become	due.

The	financial	statements,	set	out	on	pages	53	to	95,	were	audited	by	the	independent	auditor,	Grant	Thornton	Cape	Inc.,	to	

whom	unrestricted	access	was	given	to	all	financial	records	and	related	information.	The	independent	auditor’s	unmodified	

report is presented on pages 50 to 52.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on 30 August 2017.

Charles Pettit

Chief Executive Officer

Dumisani Tabata 

Chairman of the Board 
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STATEMENT BY 
COMPANY SECRETARY

In terms of section 88(1)(e) of the Companies Act, I certify that the Company has lodged with the Companies and 

Intellectual Property Commission and the Registrar all such returns and notices as required by the Companies Act and that 

all such returns appear to be true, correct and up to date.

Sean Graham CA(SA), RA, ACMA

Company Secretary

30 August 2017 
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REPORT OF THE 
AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

As	required	by	section	94	of	the	Companies	Act,	the	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	submits	its	report	for	the	2017	financial	year.	

The	Committee	is	satisfied	that	it	has	complied	with	its	legal,	regulatory	and	other	responsibilities.

The Audit and Risk Committee has discharged the functions in terms of its charter and ascribed to it in terms of the 

Companies Act as follows:

•	 Reviewed	the	2017	annual	financial	statements,	culminating	 in	a	recommendation	to	the	Board	to	adopt	them.	 In	the

  course of its review the Committee:

	 •	 Took	 appropriate	 steps	 to	 ensure	 that	 the	 financial	 statements	 are	 prepared	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 Listings	

  Requirements of the JSE Limited, International Financial Reporting Standards, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides

  as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 

  Reporting Standards Council and the Companies Act and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently

  applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates;

•	 Considered	and,	where	appropriate,	made	recommendations	on	internal	financial	controls;

•	 Reviewed	the	external	audit	report	on	the	annual	financial	statements;

• Evaluated the effectiveness of the risk management process and controls;

•	 Verified	the	independence	of	the	external	auditor,	Grant	Thornton	Cape	Inc.,	as	the	auditor	for	the	Company	and	Group		

 and noted the appointment of Mr Bernard van der Walt as the Designated Auditor;

• Approved the audit fees and engagement terms of the external auditor; and

•		Determined	the	nature	and	extent	of	allowable	non-audit	services	and	approved	the	contract	terms	for	the	provision	of			

 non-audit services by the external auditor.

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
All Audit and Risk Committee members act independently as described in section 94 of the Companies Act.

During the 7 month period under review, the Audit and Risk Committee consisted of three independent non-executive 

directors, being Mr L Potgieter (Chairman), Mr CJ Roodt and Mr MVZ Wentzel.

CONFIDENTIAL MEETINGS
During the current period under review, the Audit and Risk Committee met with the external auditor without the presence 

of management.

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND COMPANY 
SECRETARY
The	Audit	and	Risk	Committee	has	satisfied	 itself	 that	 the	Chief	Financial	Officer	and	 the	Company	Secretary	have	 the	

appropriate expertise and experience, as required by sections 3.84(h) and 3.84(i) of the JSE Listings Requirements 

respectively.

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS
During the period under review, a representation was made by the external auditor regarding its independence and the 

Audit	and	Risk	Committee	confirmed	the	independence	of	the	Grant	Thornton	Cape	Inc.	as	external	auditor	and	Mr	Bernard	

van der Walt as the Designated Auditor.

L Potgieter

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee

30 August 2017
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REPORT OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF STELLAR CAPITAL
The	directors	have	pleasure	in	presenting	the	annual	financial	statements	of	the	Company	and	the	Group	for	the	7	month	

period ended 30 June 2017.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
Stellar Capital Partners Limited is a JSE listed investment holding company. Stellar Capital has appointed Thunder 

Securitisations Proprietary Limited as its dedicated investment manager to manage the portfolio of the Company in 

accordance with section 15 of the JSE Listings Requirements. The Manco, in terms of its management agreement with the 

Company, acts on behalf of the Company in sourcing, negotiating, concluding and executing investment opportunities 

for	 the	 Company.	 The	 Company	 holds	 a	 diversified	 portfolio	 of	 investments	 spanning	 the	 financial	 services,	 industrial,	

engineering and communications sectors.

PRESCIENT ACQUISITION
On 19 July 2016, Stellar Capital and Prescient Limited jointly announced the acquisition of a strategic shareholding by Stellar 

Capital	in	Prescient,	the	holding	company	for	Prescient	Group’s	financial	services	operations.	The	transaction	was	concluded	

on 7 March 2017, resulting in the Company holding 48.82% of Prescient, which was acquired for R697 million and settled by 

way of a cash payment of R687.7 million and the issue of 5 425 131 ordinary shares in the Company at the transaction price 

of R1.71 per share.

SSL RESTRUCTURING
With effect from 31 May 2017, Stellar Specialised Lending standardised its capital structure by converting existing debenture 

notes held by its investors into B Units, comprising each a B Note and a B Share. Simultaneously, Stellar Capital reorganised 

the manner in which it invests in SSL by subscribing for a preference share in Cadiz Asset Management Proprietary Limited 

(“CAM”) with a face value of R290.1 million, the proceeds of which were invested by CAM in B Units issued by SSL of the

 same value. During June 2017, CAM instructed the part-redemption of B Units to the value of R90 million which was 

distributed to Stellar Capital as a return of capital, effectively reducing Stellar Capital’s indirect investment in SSL to R200.1 

million at the reporting date.

PRAXIS
As at 30 June 2017, Stellar Capital still holds 60% of the ordinary shares. A capital restructuring is under consideration to 

reduce the weighted average cost of capital.

CADIZ
A long-term incentive scheme was also implemented during the reporting period whereby key Cadiz’ management team 

members share in a 10% equity stake in the business (Cadiz Asset Management Holdings Proprietary Limited, a subsidiary of

Friedshelf	 1678	 Limited).	 During	 the	 period	 under	 review,	 Cadiz	 disposed	 of	 its	 corporate	 finance	 operations,	 Cadiz	

Corporate Solutions.

INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND INVESTMENTS
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, associates and investments of the Group are provided in notes 3 and 7 of the 

financial	statements.

RESIGNATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Shareholders	 are	 advised	 that	 Mr	 Charl	 de	 Villiers,	 Chief	 Financial	 Officer	 and	 executive	 director,	 has	 tendered	 his	

resignation from the Company to pursue other interests. Mr de Villiers has agreed to continue in the role as Chief Financial 

Officer	and	executive	director	until	30	September	2017.

The	board	has	appointed	Mr	Sean	Graham	CA(SA),	RA,	ACMA	as	 interim	Chief	Financial	Officer	and	executive	director,	

who will be supported by Mr David Hoek CA(SA), with effect from 1 October 2017. Mr Graham currently serves as Company 

Secretary	and	Chief	Risk	Officer	and	Mr	Hoek	serves	as	Group	Financial	Manager.	The	process	to	appoint	a	permanent	Chief	

Financial	Officer	is	underway	and	the	outcome	thereof	will	be	announced	in	due	course.
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OTHER CHANGES TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Mr HC Steyn was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 4 April 2017. Mr CE Pettit has resigned from the 

Board	of	Directors	with	effect	from	31	August	2017	and	is	to	be	replaced	by	Mr	PJ	van	Zyl	as	Chief	Executive	Officer	with	

effect from 1 September 2017.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of executive and non-executive directors are determined by the Group’s Remuneration Committee. Further 

information	related	to	the	emoluments	of	directors	is	provided	in	note	27	of	the	annual	financial	statements.

AUDITOR
The directors recommend that Grant Thornton Cape Inc., represented by Mr Bernard van der Walt as Designated Auditor, 

continue	in	office	in	accordance	with	the	Companies	Act.	The	Audit	Committee	is	satisfied	with	the	independence	of	the	

auditor of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL
The	authorised	and	issued	ordinary	share	capital	of	the	Company	as	at	30	June	2017	is	set	out	in	note	11	of	the	financial	

statements. As at 30 June 2017, there were 1 075 031 756 issued ordinary shares and 924 968 244 unissued ordinary shares. 

The Company has 600 convertible redeemable preference shares in issue at 30 June 2017 (refer to note 12).

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
During the period under review, the Company issued a total of 7 014 882 ordinary shares as follows:

NUMBER OF 
ORDINARY 

SHARES 
ISSUED

DATE OF 
ISSUE

ISSUE PRICE 
PER SHARE 

(RAND)

Specific	acquisition	issue	–	Torre 1 589 751 20 Dec 2016 1.53

Specific	acquisition	issue	–	Prescient 5 425 131 7 Mar 2017 1.71

PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL
On 30 November 2015, the Company issued 600 convertible redeemable preference shares at R1 million each to raise R600 

million. The shares are convertible into ordinary shares at the instance of the holders at a conversion price of R2.78 per share 

and are fully redeemable on 31 May 2019. Dividends on preference shares are due and payable bi-annually at a rate of 95% 

of Prime.
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REPORT OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL

30 JUNE 2017 30 NOVEMBER 2016

DIRECTOR
DIRECT
SHARES

HELD

INDIRECT
SHARES

HELD

TOTAL 
SHARES

HELD

TOTAL%  
HELD

DIRECT
SHARES

HELD

INDIRECT
SHARES

HELD

TOTAL 
SHARES

HELD

TOTAL%  
HELD

CE Pettit * 1 1 377 079 37 626 112 39 003 191 3.63% 1 377 079 37 380 591 38 757 670 3.63%

CB de 
Villiers *

197 127 - 197 127 0.02% 197 127 - 197 127 0.02%

J de Bruyn* 2 - - - - - 25 326 25 326 0.00%

L Mangope* - - - - - - - -

MM 
Ngoasheng 3

- 13 845 000 13 845 000 1.29% - 13 845 000 13 845 000 1.30%

L Potgieter - - - - - - - -

CJ Roodt - - - - - - - -

HC Steyn ^ 742 245 - 742 245 0.07% - - - -

DD Tabata 4 - 1 082 658 1 082 658 0.10% - 1 082 658 1 082 658 0.10%

PJ van Zyl 120 300 - 120 300 0.01% 120 300 - 120 300 0.01%

MVZ Wentzel - - - - - - - -

CC Wiese* 5 - - - - - 17 239 711 17 239 711 1.61%

CH Wiese* 6 - - - - - 17 239 711 17 239 711 1.61%

*Resignations: CB de Villiers – 30 September 2017; CE Pettit – 31 August 2017; J de Bruyn – 1 November 2016; L Mangope – 

1 November 2016; CC Wiese – 29 July 2016; CH Wiese – 11 April 2016

^Appointments: HC Steyn – 4 April 2017

1. Indirect shares held through a 35% interest in Thunder Securitisations Proprietary Limited

2. Indirect shares held through North Oaks No. 10 CC

3.	 Indirect	shares	held	through	a	28.4%	interest	in	Safika	Holdings	Proprietary	Limited

4. Indirect shares held through a 8.2% interest in Greentree Investments 306 Proprietary Limited

5. Indirect shares held through Metcap 14 Proprietary Limited

6. Indirect shares held through Cream Magenta 140 Proprietary Limited

Where	directors	have	resigned	 in	 the	previous	financial	year,	 the	table	above	shows	nil	values	 in	 respect	of	 the	current	

period and where directors have been appointed in the period under review, the table above shows nil values in respect of 

the prior period.

There	have	been	no	other	material	directors’	beneficial	interests,	whether	directly	or	indirectly,	of	directors	of	Stellar	Capital	

in the last 7 months in transactions that were concluded by Stellar Capital. There has been no change in directors’ interests 

or any share dealings by directors subsequent to 30 June 2017 and to the date of this report.

Directors’ dealings in the ordinary shares of the Company during the year ended 30 November 2016 are set out below:

TRANSACTION DIRECTOR DATE
DIRECT 
SHARES

INDIRECT 
SHARES

TOTAL
PRICE PER 

SHARE 
(RANDS)

TOTAL 
TRANSACTION 

VALUE (RANDS)

CE Pettit 14 Oct 2016 1 377 079 - 1 377 079 1.33 1 831 515

CB de Villiers 14 Oct 2016 50 652 - 50 652 1.33 67 367

PJ van Zyl 14 Oct 2016 120 300 - 120 300 1.33 159 999

J de Bruyn 14 Oct 2016 - 25 326 25 326 1.33 33 684

Surrender of Torre 
shares and off market 
receipt of Stellar Capital 
shares issued by way of 
Mandatory Offer
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PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL

30 JUNE 2017 30 NOVEMBER 2016

DIRECTOR
DIRECT
SHARES

HELD

INDIRECT
SHARES

HELD

TOTAL 
SHARES

HELD

TOTAL%  
HELD

DIRECT
SHARES

HELD

INDIRECT
SHARES

HELD

TOTAL 
SHARES

HELD

TOTAL%  
HELD

CE Pettit * - - - - - - - -

CB de 
Villiers *

- - - - - - - -

J de Bruyn* - - - - - - - -

L Mangope* - - - - - - - -

MM 
Ngoasheng 

- - - - - - - -

L Potgieter - - - - - - - -

CJ Roodt 15 - 15 2.50% 15 - 15 2.50%

HC Steyn ^ - - - - - - - -

DD Tabata - - - - - - - -

PJ van Zyl - - - - - - - -

MVZ Wentzel - - - - - - - -

CC Wiese* 1 - - - - - 94 94 15.67%

CH Wiese* 2 - - - - - 94 94 15.67%

*Resignations: CB de Villiers – 30 September 2017; CE Pettit – 31 August 2017; J de Bruyn – 1 November 2016; 

L Mangope – 1 November 2016; CC Wiese – 29 July 2016; CH Wiese – 11 April 2016

^Appointments: HC Steyn – 4 April 2017

1. Indirect shares held through Metcap 14 Proprietary Limited

2. Indirect shares held through Cream Magenta 140 Proprietary Limited

During the period under review, preference share dividends of R0.9 million were received by Mr CJ Roodt. During the 

previous	 financial	 year	 preference	 share	 dividends	 of	 R1.5	 million,	 R9.3	 million	 and	 R9.3	 million	 were	 received	 by	

Mr CJ Roodt, Metcap 14 Proprietary Limited and Cream Magenta 140 Proprietary Limited respectively. Where directors

have	resigned	in	the	previous	financial	year,	the	table	above	shows	nil	values	in	respect	of	the	current	period	and	where

directors have been appointed in the period under review, the table above shows nil values in respect of the prior period.

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS
ORDINARY SHARES

ORDINARY SHAREHOLDER SPREAD NUMBER OF SHARES % OF SHARES IN ISSUE

Public 763 548 901 71.03%

Non-public 311 482 855 28.97%

• Directors 2 436 751 0.23%

• Associates of directors 173 110 725 16.10%

• Persons interested in 10% or more (other than directors or 
   associates of directors)

135 935 379 12.64%

MAJOR ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS NUMBER OF SHARES % OF SHARES IN ISSUE

Asgard Capital Assets  135 935 379 12.64%

Thunder Securitisations Proprietary Limited  107 503 176 10.00%

SJP Capital Limited  78 546 394 7.31%

LCF Securities Limited  72 954 122 6.79%
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REPORT OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

ORDINARY 
SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

% OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

NUMBER OF
SHARES

% OF SHARES 
IN ISSUE

1 - 500 000 
shares

7 699 98.45%  176 804 736 16.45%

500 001 - 1 000 000 
shares

42 0.54%  29 117 496 2.71%

1 000 001 - 2 000 000 
shares

36 0.46%  53 479 855 4.97%

2 000 001 - 5 000 000 
shares

18 0.23%  59 579 348 5.54%

5 000 001 - 10 000 000 
shares

6 0.08%  38 532 288 3.58%

10 000 001 - 20 000 000 
shares

10 0.13%  159 284 405 14.82%

20 000 001 - 40 000 000 
shares

3 0.04%  75 972 475 7.07%

40 000 001 - 80 000 000 
shares

4 0.05%  308 699 663 28.72%

More than 80 000 00 
shares

2 0.02%  173 561 490 16.14%

Total 7 820 100.00% 1 075 031 756 100.00%

PREFERENCE SHARES

PREFERENCE SHAREHOLDER SPREAD NUMBER OF SHARES % OF SHARES IN ISSUE

Public 51 8.50%

Non-public 549 91.50%

• Directors 15 2.50%

• Associates of directors - -

• Persons interested in 10% or more (other than directors or 
   associates of directors)

534 89.00%

MAJOR PREFERENCE SHAREHOLDERS NUMBER OF SHARES % OF SHARES IN ISSUE

Rand Merchant Bank 246 41.00%

Asgard Capital Assets 100 16.67%

Cream Magenta 140 Proprietary Limited 94 15.67%

Metcap 14 Proprietary Limited 94 15.67%

DIVIDENDS
No ordinary dividend has been declared for the period under review (2016: nil). 

Of	the	preference	share	dividends	of	R59.1	million	payable	in	the	previous	financial	year,	R4.7	million	remained	unpaid	as	at	

30 November 2016 and was paid in December 2016. Preference share dividends for the 7 month period ended 30 June 2017 

of R34.7 million were paid on 30 June 2017. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The directors subscribe to the values of corporate governance as embodied in King III.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
The Board of Directors are not aware of any events after the reporting date and until the date of approval, which have a 

material	impact	on	the	annual	financial	statements	as	presented.

48 | STELLAR CAPITAL PARTNERS



GOING CONCERN STATEMENT
To	the	best	of	its	knowledge	and	belief,	based	on	the	above	and	after	making	enquiries,	the	Board	of	Directors	confirm	that	

it has every reason to believe that the Company and the Group have adequate resources in place to continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future.  For this reason, the board adopted the going concern basis in preparing the Group and 

Company	annual	financial	statements.

FINANCIAL YEAR-END
During	the	period	under	review	the	Board	resolved	to	amend	the	financial	year-end	of	the	Company	from	30	November	to	

30	June.	As	a	result	a	7	month	period	is	used	and	the	2017	and	2016	financial	periods	are	not	comparable	due	to	the	different	

period lengths.

Charles Pettit

Chief Executive Officer

Dumisani Tabata 

Chairman of the Board 

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT | 49



INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Stellar Capital Partners Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Stellar Capital Partners Limited (the Group) set out on 
pages 53 to 95, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2017, and the statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income for the 7 month period ended 30 June 2017, the statements of changes in equity and the statements 
of cash flows for the period then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated and separate financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2017, and its consolidated and separate financial 
performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the 7 month period then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements 
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consoli-
dated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. Key audit matters relating to the consolidated and separate financial statements are set out below.

Key audit matter
Valuation of investments held at fair value through 
profit and loss

As set out in note 1.1 to the financial statements, the 
directors have assessed that Stellar Capital Partners 
Limited (Stellar Capital) meets the definition of an 
Investment Entity in terms of International Financial 
Reporting Standard 10 – Consolidated Financial 
Statements (IFRS 10) and we are agreement with this 
assessment.

IFRS 10 states that a parent that is an Investment Entity 
shall not consolidate its investee’s financial statements
and is required to measure all of its qualifying 
investments at fair value through profit and loss. 
Stellar Capital is therefore required, in terms of IFRS 10, 
to measure its subsidiaries at fair value through profit or 
loss.

In determining the fair value of the portfolio companies, 
which are not traded in an active market, valuation
techniques which require significant judgement and 
estimates are  applied by management. These are in 
accordance with Level 3 inputs as perInternational 

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Our audit included the following procedures:

• In assessing the fair value of the unlisted investments, we 
 obtained an understanding of the overall control environment as 
 well as the processes which have been implemented by 
 management and which have been overseen by those charged
 with governance.
• We reviewed the methodology applied, which includes 
 primarily earnings multiples, the use of quoted prices subject to 
 discounts, recent transaction prices and net asset 
 valuations, as well as the discounted cash flow valuations used as 
 reasonability checks.
• We traced the data used in the valuations to supporting 
 documentation. This included financial statements or management
  accounts of the respective entities, SENS announcements,
  results presentations, circulars, share registers, INET BFA and
 financial websites.
• We considered the assumptions used in the course of the 
 different valuation methodologies in light of the operating and 
 financial circumstances of each individual entity. This 
 included, among others, assessing the discount factors and the 
 representative discounts to average listed peer group 
 multiples. The valuation methodologies used are considered to 
 be appropriate.   
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Report of the Board of Directors, the 
Report of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Statement by the Company Secretary as required by the Companies Act of South 
Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report, and the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after 
that date. Other information does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s report there on.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and / or the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

Financial Reporting Standard 13 Fair Value 
Measurement (IFRS 13). The judgements are based 
on existing market conditions, determined at the end of 
each reporting period to determine the fair value of these 
financial instruments.

Based on the quantitative significance of these estimates 
and the impact on the sensitivity of these judgements, 
the assumptions and various unobservable valuation 
inputs, the fair value estimation of unlisted financial 
instruments is deemed to be a key audit matter.

The disclosures relating to the valuation of the unlisted
financial instruments are presented in Note 3 to the 
financial statements.

The valuation of listed financial instruments has 
also been raised as a key audit matter due to the 
significant decline in the value of the entity’s listed
financial instruments in relation to the overall portfolio.

• We confirmed that the methodologies applied are in accordance
  with IFRS 13.
• We confirmed the mathematical accuracy of the 
 calculations. Recalculations were performed where applicable 
 and the formulas were followed through for consistent accuracy.
• We carried out reasonability tests and performed 
 recalculations with revised input assumptions and assessed the
  sensitivity thereof.
• We relied on experts, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance 
 department, to re-perform the valuations. The valuations were 
 deemed reasonable, based on the maintainable earnings and
  earnings multiples being applied.
• We inspected the disclosures in the financial statements in 
 relation to the valuation of unlisted investments for compliance 
 with the relevant accounting requirements. The financial 
 statements provide adequate details of the valuation methods 
 and key assumptions for the Level 3 fair value
 measurements. We assessed the Group’s disclosures in relation
  to the judgements and estimations applied to unlisted 
 investments to be adequate. 
• In respect of the listed financial instruments, we inspected 
 the broker statements confirming the number of securities held in
  respect of each listed financial instrument. Where the closing 
 quoted market price was used, the number of instruments held
  as at 30 June 2017 was multiplied by the closing price to obtain
  the value presented in the financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to
 fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
  appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
  than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
 override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
 circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal 
 control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
 disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit
 evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
  the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
 required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements 
 or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
  to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and / or the Company to cease
  to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including the
  disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
 in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
 Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
 performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Grant Thorn-
ton Cape Inc. has been the auditor of Stellar Capital Partners Limited for 4 years.

GRANT THORNTON CAPE INC
Registered Auditors
Practice number: 970879-0000

Bernard van der Walt
Partner
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountant (SA)

31 August 2017

6th Floor, Grant Thornton House,
123 Hertzog Boulevard, Foreshore
Cape Town 8001
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STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 

                                                                                                      Group                                                   Company

  As at  As at As at As at

  30 June 30 November 30 June 30 November

R’000 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-current assets   2 049 590  1 954 277    2 048 552  1 953 124 

Listed investments at fair value 3     435 142  709 478      435 142  709 478 

Unlisted investments at fair value 3   1 588 724  1 219 609    1 588 724  1 219 609 

Other	financial	assets	 4	 		24	531		 23	864		 			24	531		 23	864	

Property, plant and equipment      993  1 108   -    -   

Deferred taxation 5      200  218       155  173 

          

Current assets       20 530  395 817      8 449  384 588 

Other	financial	assets	 4	 					176		 1	182		 				176		 1	182	

Loans to portfolio companies 6    2 385  4 622     2 385  4 622 

Loan to Consolidated Subsidiary 7  -    -       1 878  366 945 

Current tax receivable 8     103  -     103  -

Trade and other receivables 9    4 312  7 159     3 714  6 974 

Cash and cash equivalents 10     13 554  382 854      193  4 865 

          

Total assets      2 070 120  2 350 094     2 057 001  2 337 712 

     

Equity    1 388 667  1 768 613     1 375 736  1 756 973 

Ordinary share capital 11   2 347 806  2 336 149     2 347 806  2 336 149 

Preference share capital 12    32 044  32 044     32 044  32 044 

Accumulated loss     (991 183)  (599 580)   (1 004 114)  (611 220)

          

Non-current liabilities     514 657  506 465     514 657  506 465 

Preference share liability 13     514 657  506 465     514 657  506 465 

     

Current liabilities       166 796  75 016      166 608  74 274 

Preference share liability 13     54 455  59 187     54 455  59 187 

Bridge facility 14    100 000  -       100 000  -   

Current tax payable 8  -    900   -    909 

Trade and other payables 15     12 341  14 929      12 153  14 178 

          

Total equity and liabilities     2 070 120  2 350 094    2 057 001  2 337 712 
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STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

                                                                                                      Group                                                   Company

    7 month Year ended 7 month Year ended

    period ended 30 November period ended 30 November

R’000 Notes 30 June 2017 2016 30 June 2017 2016

Fair value adjustments 16  (895 923) (748 503)  (895 923) (748 503)

Fair value adjustments on listed investments  (276 768)  (404 071)  (276 768)  (404 071)

Fair value adjustments on unlisted investments  (69 457)  92 529   (69 457)  92 529 

Fair value adjustments resulting from capital 

distributions   (549 698)  (436 961)  (549 698)  (436 961)

       

Dividend revenue 17    579 742   480 025     579 742   480 025 

Capital distributions     549 698   436 961     549 698   436 961 

Earnings distributions     30 044   43 002     30 044   43 002 

Other dividend revenue   -     62   -     62 

       

Interest revenue 18    10 214   98 188     1 613   78 757 

Impairment of loan to portfolio company 19  -     (2 289)  -     (2 289)

Gross loss from investments   (305 967)  (172 579)  (314 568)  (192 010)

Other income 20    1 024   8 870      339   6 593 

Finance costs 21  (50 091)  (71 543)  (50 091)  (71 543)

Net loss before operating expenses   (355 034)  (235 252)  (364 320)  (256 960)

Management fee 22  (6 280)  (11 129)  (6 280)  (11 129)

Operating expenses 23  (11 691)  (15 837)  (4 236)  (7 719)

Transaction costs   (18 085)  (21 306)  (18 085)  (19 232)

Loss before tax   (391 090)  (283 524)  (392 921)  (295 040)

Taxation 24  (513)  (25 990)     27   (25 954)

Loss for the period   (391 603)  (309 514)  (392 894)  (320 994)

       

Loss per share 25  (36.52) (32.83)  
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STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES OF EQUITY

  Ordinary Preference

Group Share share Treasury Accumulated Total

R’000 capital capital shares loss equity 

Balance at 1 December 2015 2 137 887  32 044  -     (287 910) 1 882 021 

Loss for the year -    -    -     (309 514)  (309 514)

Issue of shares 198 485  -    -    -    198 485 

Capitalisation of share issue costs  (223) -    -    -     (223)

Acquisition of treasury shares -    -     (20 566) -     (20 566)

Disposal of treasury shares -    -    20 566   (2 156) 18 410 

Balance at 30 November 2016 2 336 149  32 044  -     (599 580) 1 768 613 

Loss for the 7 month period - - - (391 603) (391 603)

Issue of shares 11 709 - - - 11 709

Capitalisation of share issue costs (52) - - - (52)

Balance at 30 June 2017 2 347 806 32 044 - (991 183)   1 388 667

  Ordinary Preference

Company Share share Treasury Accumulated Total

R’000 capital capital shares loss equity

Balance at 1 December 2015 2 137 887  32 044  -     (290 226) 1 879 705 

Loss for the year -    -    -     (320 994)  (320 994)

Issue of shares 198 485  -    -    -    198 485 

Capitalisation of share issue costs  (223) -    -    -     (223)

Balance at 30 November 2016 2 336 149  32 044  -     (611 220) 1 756 973 

Loss for the 7 month period - - -  (392 894)  (392 894)

Issue of shares 11 709 - - - 11 709

Capitalisation of share issue costs (52) - - - (52)

Balance at 30 June 2017 2 347 806 32 044 - (1 004 114)  1 375 736
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STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS 

                                                                                                      Group                                                   Company

    7 month Year ended 7 month Year ended

    period ended 30 November period ended 30 November

R’000 Notes 30 June 2017 2016 30 June 2017 2016

Operating activities     553 820     318 712     553 361     306 640 

Cash generated from operations and 

capital distributions received 26    545 104     239 010     552 715     246 279 

Interest revenue 18    10 214     98 188     1 613     78 757 

Tax paid 8  (1 498)  (18 486)  (967)  (18 396)

       

Investing activities  (976 437)  (747 458)  (611 350)  (1 047 590)

Acquisitions of investments 3  (977 887)  (745 960)  (977 887)  (764 370)

Proceeds from disposals of investments 3  -       180 353   -       180 353 

Acquisitions	of	other	financial	assets	 4	 	(769)	 	(53	445)	 	(769)	 	(53	445)

Disposals/repayments of other 

financial	assets	 4	 			1	002		 			378	317		 			1	002		 			378	317	

Loans advanced to portfolio companies 6  (2 661)  (546 376)  (2 661)  (546 376)

Loans repaid by portfolio companies 6    3 898     40 907     3 898     40 907 

Loans repaid by/(advanced to) a 

Consolidated Subsidiary 7  -     -       365 067   (282 976)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (20)  (1 254)  -     -   

       

Financing activities     53 317     13 840     53 317     34 406 

Proceeds from ordinary share issue 11  -       88 998   -       88 998 

Share issue costs 11  (52) (223)     (52)  (223)   

Purchase of treasury shares 11  -     (20 566)  -     -   

Net proceeds from bridge facility 14    100 000   -       100 000   -   

Preference	share	financing	costs	 13	 	(39	513)	 	(54	369)	 	(39	513)	 	(54	369)

Bridge	facility	financing	costs	 21	 	(7	118)	 	-				 	(7	118)	 	-			

       

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 

of the period     382 854     797 760     4 865     711 409 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period    13 554     382 854      193     4 865 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (369 300)  (414 906)  (4 672)  (706 544)
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The	annual	 financial	 statements	have	been	prepared	 in	 accordance	with	 International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	 as	

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and comply with the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 

issued	by	the	Accounting	Practices	Committee,	the	financial	reporting	pronouncements	as	issued	by	the	Financial	Reporting	

Standards Council, the JSE Listings Requirements and the requirements of the Companies Act. Amounts are presented in 

South African Rands.

The	accounting	policies	are	consistent	with	those	applied	in	the	previous	financial	year.	The	significant	accounting	policies	

are set out below.

1.1. INVESTMENT ENTITY EXCEPTION
Since	 being	 converted	 into	 an	 investment	 holding	 company	 in	 the	 2015	 financial	 year,	 the	 Company	 has	 applied	 the	

investment entity exception as per IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”). The Company therefore does not 

consolidate its subsidiaries, except where a subsidiary, which is not itself an investment entity, mainly provides services that 

relate to the Company’s investment activities.

All	subsidiaries	classified	as	portfolio	investments	are	accounted	for	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	in	terms	of	IAS	39	

Financial	 Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement	(“IAS	39”)	and	all	associates	classified	as	portfolio	 investments	are	

accounted for at FVTPL in terms of the exemption from applying the equity method of accounting provided in IAS 28 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

1.2. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND EQUITY ACCOUNTING
1.2.1. ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries are entities that the Group controls by being exposed to, or having rights to, variable returns from its 

involvement with that entity and, where the Group has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The subsidiaries of the Group are entities that:

i. comprise portfolio investments; and

ii. provide investment-related services to third parties and related companies.

Due	 to	 the	 investment	 entity	 exception,	 subsidiaries	 classified	 as	 portfolio	 investments	 are	 not	 consolidated	 and	 are	

measured at fair value on the date of acquisition in terms of IAS 39. Changes in fair value subsequent to acquisition, primarily 

driven	by	the	revaluation	of	portfolio	investments,	are	recognised	in	profit	and	loss	in	the	period	of	change.	Subsidiaries	

classified	as	(ii)	are	not	portfolio	investments	and	continue	to	be	consolidated	in	accordance	with	accounting	policy	1.2.3.

1.2.2. ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
Where	 the	 Group	 does	 not	 have	 control,	 but	 has	 significant	 influence,	 these	 investments	 are	 classified	 as	 associates.	

Changes	in	fair	value	subsequent	to	acquisition	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	of	change.

1.2.3. ACCOUNTING FOR CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
On acquisition date, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a Consolidated Subsidiary are measured at their fair 

values.	Any	excess	of	acquisition	cost	over	the	fair	value	of	the	identifiable	net	assets	acquired	is	recognised	as	goodwill.

The	results	of	Consolidated	Subsidiaries	are	included	in	the	Group	financial	statements	from	the	effective	date	of	acquisition	

to the effective date of disposal.

1.3. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
As the Group has only one business segment which is managed as a single pool of capital irrespective of the sector in which 

the Group’s investees trade, segmental reporting is not applicable.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1.4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments include:

• Listed investments at fair value;

• Unlisted investments at fair value;

•	 Other	financial	assets;

• Loans to portfolio companies;

• Loan to Consolidated Subsidiary;

• Trade and other receivables;

• Cash and cash equivalents;

• Equity;

• Preference share liability; and

• Trade and other payables.

Financial	instruments	are	recognised	on	the	Group’s	statement	of	financial	position	when	the	Group	becomes	party	to	the	

contractual	provisions	of	the	instrument.	Classification	depends	on	the	purpose	for	which	the	financial	 instruments	were	

obtained or incurred and takes place at initial recognition.

Financial	assets	are	derecognised	when	the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	investments	have	expired	or	have	been	

transferred	and	the	Group	has	transferred	substantially	all	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership.	The	Group	derecognises	financial	

liabilities when and only when the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.

1.4.1. CLASSIFICATION
The	Group	classifies	financial	 instruments,	or	their	component	parts,	on	 initial	recognition	as	a	financial	asset,	a	financial	

liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial	instruments	are	classified	into	the	following	categories:

i.	 Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss;

ii. Loans and receivables; and

iii. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

1.4.2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial	assets	or	financial	liabilities	are	classified	as	at	FVTPL	where	the	financial	instrument	is	either	held	for	trading	or	it	

is designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets designated as at FVTPL include:

• Listed investments held at fair value;

• Unlisted investments held at fair value; and 

•	 Other	financial	assets	held	at	fair	value.

Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	are	initially	and	subsequently	recognised	at	fair	value.	Transaction	costs	

are immediately expensed in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.4.3. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
Financial	instruments	classified	as	at	fair	value	through	profit	and	loss	are	measured	in	accordance	with	IFRS	13	Fair	Value	

Measurement (“IFRS 13”) at each reporting date.

Where quoted market prices are available for such investments, the quoted market prices are used as prescribed by IFRS 13, 

unless there are factors that indicate that the quoted market price does not represent fair value at the measurement date.

58 | STELLAR CAPITAL PARTNERS



Where quoted market prices are not available or are not considered to represent fair value, the market approach is applied 

in estimating the fair values. The primary valuation method used in this regard is the sustainable earnings multiple. Judgment 

is required in determining an appropriate multiple and in estimating sustainable earnings by reference to the latest reported 

earnings of the investee, adjusted for any abnormal or non-recurring income and expenditure.

Where the market approach is not considered to be appropriate, an income or cost approach is followed.

Where possible, the following alternative valuation methods are used as a validation checks (to the extent not utilised as a 

primary valuation method):

i.	 Discounted	cash	flows;

ii. Net asset value and price-to-book ratio; and

iii. Recent transaction prices.

1.4.4. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	are	not	quoted	in	an	

active market and include:

•	 Other	financial	assets	held	at	amortised	cost;

• Loans to portfolio companies;

• Loan to Consolidated Subsidiary; and

• Trade and other receivables.

Financial	 assets	 classified	 as	 loans	 and	 receivables	 are	 initially	 recognised	 at	 fair	 value	 plus	 any	 transaction	 costs.	

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 

method, less any provision for impairment.

Appropriate	 allowances	 for	 estimated	 irrecoverable	 amounts	 are	 recognised	 in	 profit	 or	 loss	 when	 there	 is	 objective	

evidence that the asset is impaired.

1.4.5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that are 

readily	convertible	to	a	known	amount	of	cash	and	are	subject	to	an	insignificant	risk	of	changes	in	value.	These	are	initially	

and subsequently recorded at fair value. 

1.4.6.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST
All	financial	liabilities	are	classified	as	at	amortised	cost	and	are	initially	measured	at	fair	value	plus	transaction	costs	and	are	

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

1.4.7. IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
At	each	reporting	date	management	assesses	all	financial	assets	classified	as	loans	and	receivables	in	order	to	determine	

whether	 there	 is	objective	evidence	 that	a	financial	asset	or	group	of	financial	assets	 is	 impaired	at	 the	 reporting	date.	

Impairment	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	The	amount	of	the	impairment	is	the	difference	between	the	carrying	

amount	and	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	financial	asset,	being	the	present	value	of	expected	cash	flows	discounted	at	the	

original effective interest rate.

Impairment	 losses	are	reversed	 in	subsequent	periods	when	an	 increase	 in	 the	financial	asset’s	 recoverable	amount	can	

be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, but only to the extent that the carrying 

amount	of	the	financial	asset	at	the	date	that	the	impairment	is	reversed	does	not	exceed	what	the	financial	asset’s	carrying	

amount would have been had the impairment not been previously recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are 

recognised	in	profit	or	loss.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1.5. SHARE CAPITAL AND EQUITY
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 

liabilities. These include:

• Ordinary share capital;

• Equity portion of preference share capital;

• Treasury shares; and

• Accumulated losses.

1.5.1. COMPOUND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group has issued, on 30 November 2015, cumulative redeemable preference shares that are convertible at the instance

of	 the	 holders	 of	 such	 instruments.	 These	 are	 treated	 as	 compound	 financial	 instruments.	 The	 liability	 and	 equity	

components	 of	 the	 instrument	 are	 separately	 classified	 as	 financial	 liabilities	 at	 amortised	 cost	 and	 equity	 instruments	

respectively.	The	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	liability	component	of	the	instrument	is	determined	with	reference	to	the	

fair	value	by	discounting	the	net	present	value	of	future	cash	flows,	net	of	transaction	costs,	at	a	market	rate	at	inception	for	

a similar instrument without the equity conversion option. The carrying amount of the equity component of the compound 

financial	instrument	is	determined	by	deducting	the	fair	value	of	the	financial	liability	component	from	the	fair	value	of	the	

compound	financial	instrument	as	a	whole.

1.5.2. TREASURY SHARES
If the Group reacquires its own equity instruments, those instruments are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is 

recognised	 in	 profit	 or	 loss	 on	 the	 purchase,	 sale,	 issue	 or	 cancellation	 of	 the	 Group’s	 own	 equity	 instruments.	 Any	

consideration paid or received, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is recognised 

directly	in	equity.	Repurchased	shares	held	by	subsidiaries	are	classified	as	treasury	shares	and	presented	as	a	deduction	

from total equity on consolidation. 

1.5.3. DIVIDENDS
Dividends	 on	 the	 financial	 liability	 component	 of	 compound	 financial	 instruments	 are	 accounted	 for	 as	 finance	 costs.

Dividends	 on	 ordinary	 shares	 and	 the	 equity	 component	 of	 compound	 financial	 instruments	 are	 accounted	 for	 as	

movements in equity.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised when they are declared by the directors. 

1.6. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
1.6.1.  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TO ACQUIRE FINANCIAL ASSETS
Equity	 instruments	 of	 the	 Company	 issued	 as	 consideration	 for	 the	 acquisition	 of	 financial	 assets	 are	 treated	 as	

equity-settled share-based payment transactions. Equity-settled share-based payment transactions are accounted for by 

measuring	the	fair	value	of	goods	and	services	(including	financial	assets)	received	with	a	corresponding	increase	in	equity,	

unless that fair value cannot be estimated reliably in which case the Company measures their value, and the corresponding 

increase in equity, indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.

1.7. TAXATION
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

1.7.1. CURRENT TAXATION
The	tax	currently	payable	is	based	on	taxable	profit	for	the	period.	The	Group’s	liability	for	current	tax	is	calculated	using	tax	

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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1.7.2. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred taxation is provided for using the balance sheet method based on temporary differences. Temporary differences 

are	differences	between	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	for	financial	reporting	purposes	and	their	tax	base.	The	

amount of deferred taxation provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount 

of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the at the reporting date.

1.7.3. DIVIDEND WITHHOLDING TAX
Withholding tax paid or payable to taxation authorities on dividends paid to shareholders is charged to equity as part of the 

dividends as it is a tax on the shareholders and not the Company.

1.8. REVENUE
Revenue consists of:

• Dividend revenue; and

• Interest revenue

1.8.1. DIVIDEND REVENUE
Dividend	income	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	on	the	date	the	Company’s	right	to	receive	payment	has	been	established.	

1.8.2. INTEREST REVENUE
Interest	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.

1.9. FAIR VALUE GAINS / LOSSES 
In addition to revenue, the main form of income earned by the Group arises from the fair value adjustments relating to 

investments measured at FVTPL. Financial instruments held at FVTPL are valued at each reporting date. The respective fair 

values are determined in accordance with IFRS 13.

1.10. SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The	cost	of	short-term	employee	benefits,	(those	expected	to	be	settled	within	12	months	after	the	service	is	rendered,	such	

as vacation leave and bonuses), is recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and is not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services increase their 

entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The	expected	cost	of	profit	sharing	and	bonus	payments	is	recognised	as	an	expense	when	there	is	a	legal	or	constructive	

obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

1.11.  SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In	 preparing	 the	 annual	 financial	 statements,	 management	 is	 required	 to	make	 estimates	 and	 assumptions	 that	 affect	

the	amounts	represented	in	the	annual	financial	statements	and	related	disclosures.	Use	of	available	information	and	the	

application of judgment is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 

estimates.
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1.11.1. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
Management	is	required	to	use	judgment	to	determine	the	most	appropriate	valuation	method	in	respect	of	each	financial	

asset.	Where	a	quoted	market	price	is	available	for	a	financial	asset,	management	is	required	to	consider	whether	there	are	

any	factors	that	indicate	that	this	price	is	not	a	fair	representation	of	fair	value.	The	following	factors	have	been	identified	

by management:

•	 The	financial	asset	is	not	traded	with	sufficient	frequency	and	volume	so	as	to	provide	accurate	pricing	information;	and

• Management has assessed a transaction to be materially impacted by either the size thereof (for example a control

 premium or market premium, but not taking into account any blockage factors), the comparability of the transaction to   

 the asset being measured or the proximity of the transaction to the measurement date. 

Management is also required to exercise judgment in determining the appropriate inputs and assumptions for the primary 

and secondary valuations, such as estimating sustainable earnings, assessing appropriate multiples and assessing applicable 

discount rates. 

Refer to note 3 for details of the valuation methods and inputs and assumptions used.

1.11.2.  IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD AT AMORTISED COST
Prior to the advance of a loan to an investee company, management assesses the reasonableness of the amount requested 

as well as the ability of the investee to repay the loan. Where there is an indication of impairment of a loan to an investee

company,	 the	 recoverable	 amount	 is	 estimated	 by	 determining	 the	 present	 value	 of	 expected	 future	 cash	 flows.	 The	

following	factors	have	been	identified	by	management	as	indicators	of	impairment:

• The investee company has failed to service the monthly interest payments;

• Forecast information of the investee company showing a lack of ability to fully repay outstanding interest and 

 capital balances; and

• Outcomes of discussions with investee management. 

1.11.3. CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Upon	initial	recognition,	management	is	required	to	classify	financial	instruments	in	accordance	with	the	purpose	for	which	

the	financial	instruments	were	obtained	or	incurred.

Judgment is required in determining whether a debt instrument has an embedded conversion option and is therefore 

required	to	be	treated	as	compound	financial	instrument	with	a	financial	liability	and	an	equity	component.	The	preference	

shares	are	the	only	financial	instruments	that	involve	judgment	on	the	classification	as	debt	and	equity.	Refer	to	notes	12	and	

13 for details of the terms of the preference shares and the split between debt and equity on initial recognition. 

1.11.4. TAXATION
Judgment is required in determining the taxation payable for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. The Group 

recognises	 liabilities	 for	anticipated	tax	based	on	estimates	of	whether	additional	 taxes	will	be	due.	Where	 the	final	 tax	

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current 

tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The	Group	recognises	the	net	 future	tax	benefit	related	to	deferred	tax	assets	to	the	extent	that	 it	 is	probable	that	the	

deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets 

requires	 the	Group	 to	make	 significant	 estimates	 related	 to	 expectations	 of	 future	 taxable	 income.	 Estimates	 of	 future	

taxable	income	are	based	on	forecast	cash	flows	from	operations	and	the	application	of	existing	tax	laws	in	each	jurisdiction.	

To	the	extent	that	future	cash	flows	and	taxable	income	differ	significantly	from	estimates,	the	ability	of	the	Group	to	realise	

the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

The Group currently has a potential deferred tax asset resulting from assessed capital losses and temporary differences 

resulting	from	fair	value	losses	on	financial	assets	held	at	fair	value.	The	extent	of	recognition	of	a	deferred	tax	asset	in	this	

regard	is	dependent	on	whether	management	expects	disposal	of	assets	at	a	profit	in	the	foreseeable	future	due	to	the	
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nature of capital losses being that these can only be utilised against taxable capital gains and not taxable income. For this 

reason management does not consider it appropriate to recognise a deferred tax asset to an extent greater than deferred 

tax liabilities resulting from other temporary differences which are capital in nature.

2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
2.1.  STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS NOT YET EFFECTIVE
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published but which are not yet 

effective and which are relevant to the Group, but which have not yet been early adopted by the Group. The impact of 

these standards is still being evaluated by the Group. These new standards and their effective dates for the Group’s annual 

accounting periods are listed below:

•	 IFRS	9	Financial	Instruments	–	New	requirements	for	classifying	and	measuring	financial	assets	and	liabilities	(effective	

 for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018); and

• IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows – Amendments to presentation requirements (effective for periods beginning on or 

 after 1 January 2017).
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3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 
All subsidiaries and associates have a principle place of business in South Africa with the exception of Stellar International, 

which has a principle place of business in Mauritius.

LISTED INVESTMENTS

UNLISTED INVESTMENTS

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ENTITY
NATURE OF 

OPERATIONS
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Torre Industrial group 
that distributes 
and rents 
capital equip-
ment and 
supplies after-
market parts 
to the mining, 
manufacturing, 
construction 
and industrial 
markets across 
Africa

Subsidiary Subsidiary 57% 55% Stellar Capital is able 
to exercise control by 
virtue of its share-
holding

Stellar Capital is able 
to exercise control by 
virtue of its share-
holding

MRI Processing 
and screening 
of	coal	fines,	a	
South African
by-product of 
coal mining - 
currently under 
care and 
maintenance

Associate Associate 14% 34% Stellar Capital 
exercises no control 
or	significant	
influence

Stellar Capital holds 
less than 50% of the 
voting rights, but 
more than 20% and 
after considering IFRS 
10 requirements, it 
does not control MRI, 
but does exercise 
significant	influence	
over the entity

ENTITY
NATURE OF 

OPERATIONS
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Prescient Diversified	
financial	
services 
group offering 
investment 
management, 
fund services, 
administration, 
stockbroking, 
wealth invest-
ment, retail and 
institutional 
and insurance 
products

Subsidiary n/a 49% - Stellar Capital is able 
to exercise control by 
virtue of its ability to 
appoint the majority 
of directors

n/a

CLASSIFICATION

CLASSIFICATION

% HELD

% HELD

ASSESSMENT OF CONTROL

ASSESSMENT OF CONTROL

Cadiz 1 Financial 
services group 
specialising in 
institutional and 
personal invest-
ments

Subsidiary 100% 100% Stellar Capital is able to exercise control by 
virtue of its shareholding

Praxis 
Financial 
Services

Provider of 
short term 
finance	to	the	
panel beating 
industry to 
address motor 
body repairers’ 
working capital 
needs

Subsidiary 60% 60% Stellar Capital is able to exercise 
control by virtue of its shareholding
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IE Rentals Specialised ICT 
Asset Finance 
Solutions

Subsidiary 50% 50% Although Stellar Capital only has 50% of the 
voting rights, it is able to exercise control as 
it	is	responsible	for	the	financial	management	
of the entity and is solely responsible for the 
financing	of	the	entity	via	SSL

Stellar 
Credit

Provision of 
management 
services

Subsidiary 100% 100% Stellar Capital is able to exercise control by 
virtue of its sole shareholding and board 
representation

Amecor Technology 
solutions and 
services in 
security

Subsidiary 100% 100% Stellar Capital is able to exercise control by 
virtue of its sole shareholding

Tellumat Technology 
solutions and 
services in 
manufacturing, 
air	traffic	control	
systems, defence 
and security 
and turnkey 
infrastructure 
solutions for the 
telecommunica-
tions industry

Associate 49% 49% Stellar Capital holds less than 50% of the 
voting rights, but more than 20% and is able 
to appoint 2 of the 6 directors of the board. 
Stellar	Capital	therefore	exercises	significant	
influence	over	the	entity

Masimong 
Tech-
nologies

A subsidiary 
of	a	diversified	
BBBEE invest-
ment holding 
company and 
BBBEE partner 
of Stellar Capital 
for Tellumat

Investment 100% 
pref-

erence 
shares 2

100% 
pref-

erence 
shares 2

As Stellar Capital does not have any voting 
rights, board representation or contractual 
rights,	it	does	not	exercise	control	or	signifi-
cant	influence	over	the	entity			

Stellar 
Specialised 
Lending

Credit fund 
specialising 
in mezzanine 
financing

Subsidiary 100% 100% Stellar Capital is able to exercise control by 
virtue of its sole shareholding and board 
representation

Stellar 
Interna-
tional

Holding 
company for 
international 
venture capital 
investments

Subsidiary 100% 100% Stellar Capital is able to exercise control by 
virtue of its sole shareholding

CAM 
preference 
share

Preference share 
investment in 
a subsidiary of 
Cadiz

Investment sole 
pref-

erence 
share

- CAM is a 
subsidiary of Cadiz

n/a

 1 The operational entities within the Cadiz group were previously subsidiaries of Cadiz Holdings Proprietary Limited, but   

 since June 2017 are subsidiaries of Cadiz Asset Management Holdings (Pty) Ltd. Both Cadiz Holdings Proprietary 

 Limited (100% held) and Cadiz Asset Management Holdings Proprietary Limited (90% held) are held via Friedshelf 1678   

 Limited, a 100% held subsidiary of Stellar Capital.
2 The preference shares held in Masimong Technologies are non-cumulative and redeemable at the instance of the issuer.

 

3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE (Continued) 
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Group and Company 2017      Fair value

         adjustments

      Proceeds  Unrealised resulting

    Opening Acquisitions/ from Realised (losses) /  from capital Closing

R’000 balance additions disposals gains  gains distributions  balance

Listed   709 478     2 432   -     -     (276 768)  -       435 142 

Torre  709 478     2 432   -     -     (276 768)  -       435 142 

MRI       -     -     -     -     -     -    -

       

Unlisted   1 219 609     988 164   -     -     (69 351)  (549 698)   1 588 724 

Prescient  -       697 015   -     -     -     -       697 015 

Cadiz  89 362     1 000   -     -     -     (3 500)    86 862 

Praxis  29 671   -     -     -     -     -       29 671 

IE Rentals  5 693   -     -     -     (5 693)  -     -   

Stellar Credit  7 934   -     -     -        868   -       8 802 

Amecor  359 708   -     -     -     -     -      359 708 

Tellumat  124 309   -     -     -     (37 105)  -       87 204 

Masimong Technologies  114 873   -     -     -     (23 746)  -       91 127 

Stellar Specialised Lending  457 760   -     -     -     (1 571)  (456 189)  -   

Stellar International  30 299   -     -     -     (2 104)  -       28 195 

CAM preference share - 290 149 - - - (90 009) 200 140

      

Total  1 929 087     990 596   -     -     (346 119)  (549 698)   2 023 866 

Group and Company 2016      Fair value

         adjustments

      Proceeds  Unrealised resulting

    Opening Acquisitions/ from Realised (losses) /  from capital Closing

R’000 balance additions disposals gains  gains distributions  balance

Listed   914 859     198 690   -     -     (404 071)  -      709 478 

Torre  900 833     198 690   -     -     (390 045)  -      709 478 

MRI   14 026   -     -     -     (14 026)  -     -   

       

Unlisted   234 509    1 511 210   (180 353)    37 382     53 822   (436 961)   1 219 609 

Cadiz  134 390     157 433   -     -     -     (202 461)    89 362 

Praxis  -     -     -     -       29 671   -       29 671 

IE Rentals  -     -     -     -       5 693   -       5 693 

Stellar Credit  -       5 000   -     -       5 434   (2 500)    7 934 

Amecor  -       268 636   -     -       91 072   -       359 708 

Tellumat  100 119     179 668   (180 353)    37 382   (12 507)  -       124 309 

Masimong Technologies  -       180 353   -     -     (65 480)  -       114 873 

Stellar Specialised Lending  -       689 760   -     -     -     (232 000)    457 760 

Stellar International  -       30 360   -     -     (61)  -       30 299 

       

Total   1 149 368    1 709 900   (180 353)    37 382   (350 249)  (436 961)   1 929 087 

3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE (Continued) 
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3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE (Continued) 
TORRE
The initial investment in Torre, comprising 34.6% of the ordinary issued share capital of Torre, was acquired on or about 

26 October 2015 and the purchase consideration was settled by way of i) the issue of 390 086 494 ordinary shares in the 

Company at R2.00 per share; and ii) cash payment of R132.4 million, collectively comprising a R912.6 million acquisition 

cost or R5.20 per Torre share. The acquisition cost represented the 30-day VWAP on the date of the announcement of the 

investment,	plus	a	16.8%	premium.	The	market	premium	reflected	the	acquisition	of	a	large	strategic	interest	in	Torre	which	

made Stellar Capital Torre’s largest single shareholder. 

In	 the	 previous	 financial	 year,	 the	 investment	 in	 Torre	 was	 increased	 to	 35.5%	 by	 acquiring	 8	 368	 102	 Torre	 ordinary	

shares, which were settled by the transfer of 10 460 127 Stellar Capital ordinary shares (previously held as treasury shares), 

representing a swap ratio of 1.25 Stellar Capital shares for every Torre share. The investment in Torre was subsequently 

increased to 55.4% on or about 14 October 2016 as a result of a mandatory offer to acquire all issued Torre ordinary shares 

not already held by Stellar Capital, on the basis of the same swap ratio, and was settled by way of the issue of 130 934 036 

Stellar Capital shares at R1.33 per share.

Stellar Capital acquired an additional 1 271 801 ordinary shares in the period under review, which was settled by way of the 

issue of 1 589 751 ordinary shares in the Company at R1.53 per share.

The investment has been valued at the closing quoted market price of R1.49 per share on 30 June 2017 (R2.44 per share on 

30 November 2016). 

MRI
The	 investment	 in	MRI	was	 initially	 acquired	 for	 R28.7	million	 or	 10	 cents	 per	MRI	 share.	 During	 the	 previous	 financial	

year, MRI announced that its operations had been placed under care and maintenance and subsequently its shares were 

suspended from trading on the JSE. 

In December 2016, Stellar Capital disposed of its claims against MRI for R0.9 million and 162 912 103 shares in MRI for no 

consideration.	The	 loss	on	disposal	of	R13	million	was	 recognised	 in	previous	financial	years	 through	negative	 fair	value	

adjustments. As a result of the disposal, Stellar Capital reduced its shareholding in MRI from 34% to 14%. 

Due to the suspension of trading of MRI shares on the JSE, management does not consider the quoted market price to be 

representative of fair value and has therefore not used the last traded closing quoted market price of 3 cents per share. 

Management has estimated a Rnil fair value in respect of the investment (2016: Rnil) due to operations still being under 

care and maintenance as at 30 June 2017 in conjunction with the previously anticipated strategic stake in Iron Mineral 

Beneficiation	Services	Proprietary	Limited	not	materialising.	

PRESCIENT
A 48.82% shareholding in Prescient was acquired for R697 million on 7 March 2017 and was settled by way of a cash pay-

ment of R687.7 million and the issue of 5 425 131 Stellar Capital shares at R1.71 per share.  

As at 30 June 2017, the fair value of the investment in Prescient has been estimated by applying a sum-of-the-parts valuation 

to the underlying core operating units. These operating units have been valued primarily by applying a sustainable earnings 

model. The P/E multiples applied to each underlying business are dependent on the nature of the operations thereof.  Where 

the sustainable earnings model is not considered to be the most appropriate valuation method, the underlying business has 

been valued using a percentage of assets under management (“AUM”).

The	significant	unobservable	inputs	included	in	the	sum-of-the-parts	valuation	of	Prescient	are:

• P/E multiple: 8 – 15 times

• Estimated percentage of AUM applied to relevant entities: 3% - 5%
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3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE (Continued) 
CADIZ
The investment in Cadiz is held via Friedshelf 1678 Ltd, a 100% held investee subsidiary of Stellar Capital. An initial investment 

in	Cadiz	was	acquired	for	R45.5	million	and	increased	to	R134.3	million	in	the	2015	financial	year	through	an	R83.8	million	

acquisition which was settled by way of the issue of 41 912 707 Stellar Capital shares at R2.00 each. 

In	the	2016	financial	year,	the	investment	in	Cadiz	was	increased	from	45.99%	to	100%	for	an	additional	R157.4	million	cash,	

of which R51.1 million was settled by Cadiz on behalf of Stellar Capital. The amount owing by the Company to Cadiz was 

settled by way of the declaration of a dividend by Cadiz. In addition to the R51.1 million dividend declared, Cadiz also 

declared	dividends	in	specie	of	R151.3	million	during	the	previous	financial	year	(refer	to	note	17).

The	dividends	declared	by	Cadiz	in	the	previous	financial	year	were	distributed	out	of	excess	capital	and	not	out	of	profits	

earned	in	its	financial	year.	As	a	result,	the	net	asset	value	of	the	Cadiz	group	was	substantially	reduced.		A	negative	fair	

value	adjustment	of	R202.4	million	was	therefore	recognised	in	order	to	reflect	the	reduced	carrying	value	of	the	equity	

investment due to the distribution of cash and assets to Stellar Capital (refer to note 16).

In June 2017, the Cadiz group structure was reorganised such that the operational entities of Cadiz Holdings Proprietary 

Limited became subsidiaries of Cadiz Asset Management Holdings Proprietary Limited, a 90% held subsidiary of Stellar 

Capital, via Friedshelf 1678 (with the other 10% being held by a Cadiz employee share scheme). Cadiz Holdings Proprietary 

Limited is still a 100% held subsidiary of Stellar Capital, but does not have any operations. As part of this restructuring, Stellar 

capitalised a loan of R1 million to Cadiz.

As at 30 June 2017, the value of the investment in Cadiz is supported by the estimated fair value of the major operating 

entities.	Collectively,	 these	 entities	 are	 not	 yet	 in	 a	 sustainable	profit-making	position	 and	 therefore	management	does	

not consider a sustainable earnings multiple to be an appropriate valuation method. As such, management has used the 

consolidated NAV of these entities as the basis for the estimated fair value. The value of the investment represents a 

discount	of	31%	(2016:	35%)	to	90%	of	the	consolidated	NAV	of	R140.5	million	(2016:	R137.6	million)	as	per	the	latest	financial	

accounts of Cadiz for the year ended 30 June 2017. 

 

PRAXIS
A 51% investment in Praxis was acquired for a nominal consideration during May 2015, during which time the company was 

in	a	period	of	shareholder	and	operational	restructuring.	 In	the	previous	financial	year,	the	investment	was	subsequently	

increased to a 60% shareholding through a capital restructuring at no additional consideration. 

As at 30 June 2017, the fair value of the investment in Praxis has been estimated by management using the sustainable 

earnings	model,	which	is	consistent	with	the	valuation	method	used	in	the	previous	financial	year.	Management	considers	

the P/E multiple to be the most appropriate valuation method.

Significant unobservable inputs/assumptions    2017 2016 

Estimated	sustainable	net	profit	after	tax	 	 	 	 R4.5	million		 	R4.5	million	

P/E multiple    10.9 times   10.9 times 

Average spot P/E multiple of listed peer group    12.1 times   14.3 times 

• Effective discount    -10% -24%

Average 3-year trailing P/E multiple of listed peer group    12.9 times   11.5 times 

• Effective discount    -16% -5%

The	reasonability	of	the	estimated	fair	value	of	the	investment	has	been	tested	by	reference	to	a	discounted	cash	flow	model.

The Company has pledged and ceded in securitatem debiti to SSL the shares held in Praxis as a continuing general covering 

collateral security in respect of the amounts owed by Praxis to Stellar Specialised Lending.  
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IE RENTALS

50% of the ordinary shares in IE Rentals was acquired for an Rnil consideration on incorporation in July 2015. 

In	 the	 previous	 financial	 year,	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 investment	 in	 IE	 Rentals	 was	 estimated	 by	management	 using	 the	

sustainable earnings model, which was considered to be the most appropriate valuation method. A P/E ratio of 10.9 times 

was used (which represented a discount of 24% to the listed peer group average of 14.3 times and a 5% discount to the 

3-year	trailing	average	of	11.5	times).	The	sustainable	net	profit	after	tax	was	previously	estimated	to	be	R1	million	which	

assumed that, based on active management plans at the time of valuation, the portfolio company would operate under a 

refinanced	capital	structure.

  

As	 the	 anticipated	 refinanced	 capital	 restructure	 has	 not	materialised,	management	 considers	 it	 prudent	 to	 revise	 the	

valuation down to Rnil until such time as the weighted average cost of capital of the portfolio company can be reduced 

materially.  

The Company has pledged and ceded in securitatem debiti to SSL the shares held in IE Rentals as a continuing general 

covering collateral security in respect of the amounts owed by IE Rentals to Stellar Specialised Lending.  

STELLAR CREDIT 

Stellar Credit, the appointed manager of the SSL loan portfolio as well as the Inyosi Enterprise Supplier Development Funds, 

was acquired as a wholly-owned subsidiary in January 2016 for R5 million in a cash acquisition. The acquisition price was 

determined with reference to the realisable underlying assets (market approach). Shortly thereafter, Stellar Credit declared 

a cash dividend from excess capital of R2.5 million, resulting in a fair valuation negative adjustment by the same amount. 

As at 30 June 2017, the fair value of the investment in Stellar Credit has been estimated by management using the 

sustainable	earnings	model	which	is	consistent	with	the	valuation	method	used	in	the	previous	financial	year.	Management	

considers the P/E multiple to be the most appropriate valuation method. 

Significant unobservable inputs/assumptions    2017 2016 

Estimated	sustainable	net	profit	after	tax	 	 	 	 R0.8	million		 	R0.7	million	

P/E multiple    10.7 times   10.6 times 

Average spot P/E multiple of listed peer group    12.1 times   14.3 times 

• Effective discount    -12% -26%

Average 3-year trailing P/E multiple of listed peer group    12.9 times   11.5 times 

• Effective discount    -17% -8%

The	reasonability	of	the	estimated	fair	value	of	the	investment	has	been	tested	by	reference	to	a	discounted	cash	flow	model.

AMECOR

The	investment	in	Amecor	was	acquired	in	the	previous	financial	year	and	the	purchase	consideration	was	settled	by	way	

of the issue of 5 995 526 ordinary shares in the Company at an agreed upon price of R1.90 per share and cash payment of 

R257.2 million, collectively comprising a total acquisition price of R268.6 million.

As at 30 June 2017, the fair value of the investment in Amecor has been estimated by management using the sustainable 

earnings	model	which	is	consistent	with	the	valuation	method	used	in	the	previous	financial	year.	Management	considers	the	

EV/EBITDA multiple to be the most appropriate valuation method.
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3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE (Continued) 
Significant unobservable inputs/assumptions    2017 2016 

Estimated sustainable EBITDA    R50.6 million   R50.6 million 

EV/EBITDA multiple used    7.1 times   7.1 times 

Average spot EV/EBITDA multiple of listed peer group    8.8 times   6.7 times 

• Effective (discount) / premium    -19% 5%

Average 3-year trailing EV/EBITDA multiple of listed peer group   8 times   7.3 times 

• Effective discount    -11% -3%

The	reasonability	of	the	estimated	fair	value	of	the	investment	has	been	tested	by	reference	to	a	discounted	cash	flow	model.

TELLUMAT

The	initial	investment	in	Tellumat	of	30%	was	acquired	for	R100.1	million	and	was	increased	in	the	previous	financial	year	

to 100% by way of further cash acquisitions of R166.7 million and by way of the issue of 5 631 007 ordinary shares in the 

Company at an agreed upon price of R2.30 per Stellar Capital share.

Subsequent to acquiring 100% of Tellumat, Stellar Capital disposed of 51.1% of its investment in Tellumat to Masimong 

Technologies	for	R180.3	million,	on	a	vendor	funded	basis,	in	an	empowerment	transaction	in	the	previous	financial	year.	

Whilst the transaction price implied a total equity value of R352.9 million and resulted in an initial realised gain on disposal of 

R37.3 million in 2016, it was subject to a downward adjustment in the event that the disposal price to Masimong 

Technologies exceeds 7 times the normalised EBITDA of Tellumat for the 12-month period ending 30 June 2017 (“Masimong 

Transaction Price”). 

As at 30 June 2017, the fair value of the investment in Tellumat has been estimated by management using the sustainable 

earnings	model,	which	is	consistent	with	the	valuation	method	used	in	the	previous	financial	year.	Management	considers	

the EV/EBITDA multiple to be the most appropriate valuation method. 

Significant unobservable inputs/assumptions    2017 2016 

Sustainable EBITDA    R28.6 million   R35.2 million 

EV/EBITDA multiple used    6.2 times   6.2 times 

Average spot EV/EBITDA multiple of listed peer group    8.8 times   6.7 times 

• Effective discount    -30 -8%

Average 3-year trailing EV/EBITDA multiple of listed peer group   8 times   7.3 times 

• Effective discount    -23% -15%

Included in the previous valuation of Tellumat was an estimated R37.6 million excess working capital. The reasonability of 

the	estimated	fair	value	of	the	investment	in	Tellumat	and	has	been	tested	by	reference	to	a	discounted	cash	flow	model.

MASIMONG TECHNOLOGIES

As a result of the disposal of 51.1% of Tellumat to Masimong Technologies on a vendor funded basis, Stellar Capital holds 

100% of the preference share capital of Masimong Technologies, which has 1 000 ordinary shares in issue at a nominal value. 

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of Masimong Technologies, the preference shares accrue dividends at a rate 

of 90% of any dividends received from Tellumat.  

As	Tellumat	is	the	only	significant	asset	held	by	Masimong	Technologies	as	at	30	June	2017,	the	fair	value	of	the	preference	

shareholding in Masimong Technologies has been determined with reference to its share of the estimated fair value of 

Tellumat (refer above for details of the valuation). The estimated fair value of Masimong Technologies as at 30 November 

2016 was also determined with reference to the fair value of Tellumat, but used the input assumptions the Masimong 

Transaction Price, being a normalised EBITDA of R32.5 million and an EV/EBITDA multiple of 7 times. 
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3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE (Continued) 
STELLAR SPECIALISED LENDING

During	the	previous	financial	year,	the	Company	advanced	R675.5	million	to	SSL	(being	cash	of	R531.1	million	and	transfers	

of	loans	with	a	total	carrying	value	of	R144.4	million),	whilst	still	a	wholly-owned	subsidiary	of	Cadiz,	in	order	to	refinance	a	

portfolio of loan receivables.  After capital repayments of R27.8 million, the remaining loan balance of R647.7 million owing 

by SSL to Stellar Capital was capitalised into an equity contribution by way of an issue of ordinary shares by SSL to Stellar 

Capital. 

SSL is a credit fund and, as such, the investment is valued at the estimated net asset value of SSL, being primarily derived 

from the value of the loan portfolio (after any impairments) less liabilities. The loans advanced by SSL to the underlying 

borrowers are secured by cession and pledge of listed and unlisted shares as well as corporate guarantees. 

Subsequent to the equity investment being recognised by Stellar Capital, SSL returned R232 million by way of capital 

distributions		in	the	previous	financial	year,	resulting	in	a	corresponding	reduction	in	NAV	and	therefore	the	recognition	of	

unrealised fair value losses of the same amount.   

During the 7 month period ended 30 June 2017, SSL declared capital distributions of R456.1 million, which resulted in 

negative fair value adjustments of same to the investment due to a reduction in NAV. In addition to the negative fair 

value adjustments as a result of capital distributions, SSL incurred restructuring costs of R1.5 million, which resulted in an 

unrealised fair value loss of same. 

With effect from 31 May 2017, Stellar Specialised Lending standardised its capital structure by converting existing debenture 

notes held by its investors into B Units, comprising each a B Note and a B Share.  Simultaneously, Stellar Capital reorganised 

the manner in which it invests in SSL by subscribing for a preference share in CAM with a face value of R290.1 million, the 

proceeds of which were invested by CAM in B Units issued by SSL of the same value. During June 2017, CAM instructed 

the part-redemption of B Units to the value of R90 million which was distributed to Stellar Capital as a return of capital, 

effectively reducing Stellar Capital’s indirect investment in SSL to R200.1 million at the reporting date.

As at 30 June 2017, as all equity of SSL had been distributed and as such, the direct equity investment has an Rnil fair value.

STELLAR INTERNATIONAL

The functional currency of Stellar International is the US Dollar. Stellar International was incorporated in Mauritius and 

provided with a shareholder loan of $2.2 million (converted at spot to R30.3 million) in October 2016, which was immediately 

capitalised to equity. Of the $2.2 million, $1 million was used to acquire a 2% stake in LifeQ, denominated in US Dollars, and 

$0.8 million to acquire a 2% stake in Tictrac, denominated in British Pounds. The balance of cash is being used for working 

capital purposes.

As at 30 June 2017, the fair value of the investment in Stellar International has been estimated by management using the 

price of recent investment valuation method. Management considers this to be the most appropriate valuation method as 

both	LifeQ	and	Tictrac	are	still	in	the	early	stages	of	development	with	no	current	earnings,	no	positive	cash	flows	nor	any	

anticipated short-term earnings. The respective acquisition prices, along with the balance of cash, have therefore been 

converted to Rands using the foreign exchange spot rates on 30 June 2017.
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3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE (Continued) 
CAM PREFERENCE SHARE

With effect from 31 May 2017, Stellar Specialised Lending standardised its capital structure by converting existing debenture 

notes held by its investors into B Units, comprising each a B Note and a B Share.  Simultaneously, Stellar Capital reorganised 

the manner in which it invests in SSL by subscribing for a preference share in CAM with a face value of R290.1 million, the 

proceeds of which were invested by CAM in B Units issued by SSL of the same value. During June 2017, CAM instructed 

the part-redemption of B Units to the value of R90 million which was distributed to Stellar Capital as a return of capital, 

effectively reducing Stellar Capital’s indirect investment in SSL to R200.1 million at the reporting date.

SSL is a credit fund and, as such, the investment in the CAM preference share is valued at the estimated net asset value of 

SSL, being primarily derived from the value of the loan portfolio (after any impairments) less liabilities. The loans advanced 

by SSL to the underlying borrowers are secured by cession and pledge of listed and unlisted shares as well as corporate 

guarantees. 

                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016 

Opening balance    1 929 087    1 149 368    1 929 087    1 149 368 

Acquisitions settled by cash     977 887     745 960     977 887     764 370 

Acquisitions settled by the issue of shares     11 709     198 485     11 709     198 485 

Acquisitions settled by treasury shares   -       18 410   -     -   

Receipt of Torre scrip distribution   -       6 138   -       6 138 

Receipt of distributions-in-specie 1   -       93 188   -       93 188 

Capitalisation of loans     1 000     647 719     1 000     647 719 

Disposals for cash   -     (180 353)  -     (180 353)

Realised gains   -       37 382   -       37 382 

Unrealised (losses)/gains   (346 119)  (350 249)  (346 119)  (350 249)

Fair value losses resulting from capital distributions   (549 698)  (436 961)  (549 698)  (436 961)

Closing balance    2 023 866    1 929 087    2 023 866    1 929 087 

1 Acquisitions through distributions-in-specie in the previous year received consist of the distribution by Cadiz of the 

 investment in SSL of R42 million as well as the settlement of a liability owing by Stellar Capital to Cadiz of R51.1 million.  

Refer to note 6 for details of funding provided to portfolio companies.

Refer to note 14 for details of the cession and pledge of assets.

Refer	to	note	31	for	a	description	of	the	Group’s	financial	instrument	risks,	including	risk	management	objectives	and	policies	

and refer to note 32 for fair value information.
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4. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
R’000    2017 2016 

South	Easter	fixed	interest	hedge	fund	 	 	 	 21	528		 			20	965	

Retention funds    2 717     2 632 

Fixed income annuities    462     1 449 

Total    24 707     25 046 

     

Non-current portion    24 531     23 864 

Current portion    176     1 182 

Total     24 707     25 046 

SOUTH EASTER FIXED INTEREST HEDGE FUND

The investment is held at FVTPL as it has been designated as such by management and is categorised as Level 2 in the fair 

value hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 13. The investment was increased by R0.7 million during the period under review 

through a reinvestment of distributions.

RETENTION FUNDS

These	investments	were	received	as	a	dividend	in	specie	from	Cadiz	in	the	previous	financial	year	and	are	classified	as	held	

at FVTPL as they have been designated as such by management. The investments are categorised as Level 2 in the fair value 

hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 13. 

FIXED INCOME ANNUITIES

These	investments	were	received	as	a	dividend	in	specie	from	Cadiz	in	the	previous	financial	year	and	are	held	at	amortised	

cost. During the period under review, investments to the value of R1 million matured and were liquidated for cash.

Refer to note 14 for details of the cession and pledge of assets.

Refer	to	note	31	for	a	description	of	the	Group’s	financial	instrument	risks,	including	risk	management	objectives	and	policies	

and refer to note 32 for fair value information.

5. DEFERRED TAXATION
                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016 

Temporary differences on accruals      200      218      155      173 

Reconciliation     

Opening balance     218     7 026      173     7 026 

Temporary differences on fair value adjustments  -  (2 618) -  (2 618)

Temporary	differences	on	other	financial	assets	 	 -	 	(3	811)	 -	 	(3	811)

Impairment of Consolidated Subsidiaries  -  (597) -  (597)

Temporary differences on accruals   (18)     218   (18)     173 

Closing balance      200      218      155      173 

The Company has estimated unutilised capital losses of R240.1 million (assessed loss of R234.9 million brought forward from 

2016) and Stellar Management Services has an estimated unutilised capital loss of R2.2 million, which if recognised, would 

result in a Group deferred tax asset of R54.3 million (2016: R44.2 million). In addition to the estimated capital losses, the

Company has an estimated net deferred tax asset of R242.7 million (2016: R133.1 million) resulting from temporary 

differences on investments held at fair value, which has not been recognised. The total unrecognised deferred tax asset for 

the Group is therefore R297 million (2016: 177.3 million).
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6. LOANS TO PORTFOLIO COMPANIES 
                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

R’000    2017 2016

Amecor    -    2 003 

Cadiz    724     724 

CAM    1 661 -

MRI    -     895 

Stellar Credit    -    1 000 

Total    2 385    4 622 

AMECOR

A short-term loan of R2 million was provided to Amecor to fund its working capital requirements on which interest was 

charged at prime plus 2%. The loan was fully repaid in December 2016.

CADIZ

A short-term loan of R1.3 million was provided to Cadiz to fund the working capital requirements of Cadiz Corporate 

Solutions Proprietary Limited as the entity underwent a restructuring. Interest was charged at prime plus 2% until 

30 November 2016, at which point the loan did not bear further interest. R0.6 million of the loan has been repaid and the

balance is expected to be recovered within 12 months. An additional loan of R1 million was advanced to Cadiz as part of a

restructuring (refer to note 3), which was then capitalised.

As at 30 June 2017, the carrying value of the loan is considered to approximate fair value due to the short period to maturity. 

There is no indication of impairment at year-end.

CADIZ ASSET MANAGEMENT PROPRIETARY LIMITED

A short-term loan of R1.6 million was provided to CAM to fund working capital requirements and was fully repaid in July 2017. 

MRI

The	 loan	was	secured	by	subordination	of	 Iron	Mineral	Beneficiation	Services	Proprietary	Limited	shareholder	 loans	and	

shareholder guarantees to the value of R0.4 million and by a cession and pledge of 100% MRI shareholding of and claims 

against its wholly-owned subsidiary. The loan was sold to a 3rd party in December 2016 for R0.9 million (the loan was 

impaired	to	this	recoverable	amount	in	the	previous	financial	year).			

STELLAR CREDIT

A short-term loan of R1 million was provided to Stellar Credit to fund its working capital requirements as the entity grew its 

operations on which interest was charged at prime plus 2%. The loan has been fully repaid as at 30 June 2017.

Refer to note 14 for details of the cession and pledge of assets.

Refer	to	note	31	for	a	description	of	the	Group’s	financial	instrument	risks,	including	risk	management	objectives	and	policies.
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7. LOAN TO CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARY
                                                                                                                                                                                 Company

R’000    2017 2016

Stellar Management Services    1 878 366 945 

Stellar Management Services is a 100% (2016: 100%) held Consolidated Subsidiary with a carrying value of Rnil (2016: 

Rnil) in the Company. The loan is unsecured, does not bear interest and is repayable as and when funds are available, 

at the discretion of the Company. The loan is considered to approximate fair value as it is repayable on demand and is 

cash-collateralised.

Refer to note 14 for details of cession and pledge of assets.

Refer	to	note	31	for	a	description	of	the	Group’s	financial	instrument	risks,	including	risk	management	objectives	and	policies.

8. CURRENT TAX RECEIVABLE / (PAYABLE)
                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016 

Opening balance      (900)      (204)      (909)      (204) 

Tax expense      (495)     (19 182)   45    (19 101) 

Tax paid   1 498  18 486  967  18 396

Closing balance   103     (900)   103     (909) 

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES                                                                                                                                 

                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016 

Trade receivables      63      60      63      60 

Prepayment   -       3 830   -       3 830 

Dividend receivable  3 648 2 343 3 648 2 343

Other receivables     340     926     3     741 

Value added tax      261   -     -     -   

Total     4 312     7 159     3 714     6 974 

The	prepayment	in	the	previous	financial	year	related	to	amounts	that	had	been	settled	in	anticipation	of	the	investment	of	

a strategic shareholding in Prescient and was expensed in the period under review.

The dividend receivable relates to dividends declared by SSL and not yet received by the Company as at the respective 

reporting dates, but which were received subsequently.

Other	receivables	comprise	amounts	for	shared	office	costs	to	be	recovered	from	other	entities,	some	of	which	are	related	

parties (refer to note 28).

There are no balances which are long-outstanding (2016: Rnil). The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is 

considered to approximate fair value due to the short period to maturity.

Refer to note 14 for details of the cession and pledge of assets.

Refer	to	note	31	for	a	description	of	the	Group’s	financial	instrument	risks,	including	risk	management	objectives	and	policies.
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10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016 

Cash held at bank  13 554 382 854 193 4 865

The Group currently does not have any overdraft facilities and does not have any restrictions over the use of its cash. 

Refer to note 14 for details of the cession and pledge of assets.

Refer	to	note	31	for	a	description	of	the	Group’s	financial	instrument	risks,	including	risk	management	objectives	and	policies.

11. ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
The Company has 2 000 000 000 authorised ordinary shares of no par value.

The unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors in terms of a resolution of members passed at the last 

annual general meeting. This authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting.

                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

’000    2017 2016

In issue at the beginning of the period     1 068 017     925 456 

Issue of shares for acquisitions     7 015     142 561 

In issue at the end of the period    1 075 032    1 068 017 

                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

R’000    2017 2016

Opening balance    2 336 149    2 137 887 

Issue of shares for acquisitions    11 709     198 485 

Capitalisation of share issue costs    (52)  (223)

Closing balance    2 347 806    2 336 149 

                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016
Opening balance  -  -    -  -   

Acquisition of treasury shares  -    20 566  - -

Disposal of treasury shares  -  (20 566) -  -

Closing balance  -  -    -  -   

During the period under review, the Company issued 7 014 882 shares (2016: 142 560 569 shares) at an average issue price 

of R1.67 per share (2016: R1.39 per share) in order to acquire investments which are accounted for at FVTPL. The number of 

shares to be issued in respect of each transaction was determined by reference to the fair value of the respective investment 

acquired and was not adjusted for movements in the Company’s listed share price between the date of announcement and 

the date of issue. These transactions were accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2 Share Based Payments (“IFRS 2”).

During	the	previous	financial	year,	the	Company	received	R88.9	million	in	respect	of	shares	issued	in	the	2015	financial	year.

During	the	previous	financial	year,	10	460	127	treasury	shares	were	acquired	and	subsequently	used	to	settle	the	acquisition	

of additional shares in Torre. 
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12. PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL
On 30 November 2015, the Company issued 600 convertible redeemable preference shares at R1 million each to raise 

R600 million in funding. The preference shares were issued at a dividend rate of 95% of prime and at an initial conversion 

price of R2.78. The redemption date is 31 May 2019. The preference shares are convertible, at the election of the holders, into 

a maximum of 215 827 338 ordinary shares.

Cumulative	 convertible	 redeemable	 preference	 shares	 issued	 by	 the	 Group	 have	 been	 treated	 as	 compound	 financial	

instruments in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (“IAS 32”). The liability and equity components 

of	the	preference	shares	have	been	separately	classified	as	financial	 liabilities	at	amortised	cost,	 in	accordance	with	the	

effective	interest	rate	method,	and	equity	instruments	respectively.	The	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	liability	component	

of the preference shares has been determined with reference to the fair value, by discounting the net present value of future 

cash	flows,	net	of	transaction	costs,	at	a	market	rate	at	 inception	for	a	similar	 instrument	without	the	equity	conversion	

option,	being	115%	of	prime	rate.	The	carrying	amount	of	the	equity	component	of	the	compound	financial	instrument	of	

R32	million	has	been	determined	by	deducting	the	fair	value	of	the	financial	liability	component	at	inception	from	the	fair	

value	of	the	compound	financial	instrument	as	a	whole.

Refer	to	note	13	in	relation	to	the	compliance	with	financial	covenants	at	the	reporting	date	in	terms	of	the	preference	share	

offering circular.

 

13. PREFERENCE SHARE LIABILITY
                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

R’000    2017 2016

Opening balance      565 652     548 478 

Finance costs accrued     42 973     71 543 

Finance costs paid     (39 513)  (54 369)

Closing balance     569 112     565 652 

      

Non-current portion    514 657     506 465 

Current portion    54 455     59 187 

Total    569 112     565 652 

Refer	to	note	31	for	a	description	of	the	Group’s	financial	instrument	risks,	including	risk	management	objectives	and	policies.

In	order	to	finance	a	portion	of	the	Prescient	acquisition	during	February	2017,	Stellar	Capital	entered	into	a	bridge	facility	

agreement with Rand Merchant Bank (a division of FirstRand Bank Limited) (“RMB”) in the amount of R225 million, of which 

R22m was repaid in March 2017 and a further R103 million was repaid in June 2017. During June 2017, Stellar Capital entered

into an addendum to the Bridge Facility Agreement, to extend the repayment date of the remaining R100 million 

outstanding under the bridge facility, to 30 December 2017 (“Bridge Extension”).  The Bridge Extension was approved by a 

special majority of preference shareholders in accordance with the preference share offering circular (“Circular”).  

Primarily as a result of the Bridge Extension itself and due to an unrealised downward fair value adjustment in relation to the 

Torre	investment,	two	financial	covenants	set	out	in	the	Circular,	being	the	asset	cover	ratio	and	net	asset	value	minimum	

threshold,	have	not	been	satisfied	as	at	30	June	2017.	In	anticipation	of	the	non-satisfaction	of	the	aforementioned	financial	

covenants,	Stellar	Capital	during	June	2017	obtained	waivers	of	compliance	with	all	preference	share	financial	covenants	

at 30 June 2017, from preference shareholders holding 581 of 600 preference shares (97%) or R581 million of R600 million, 

including	RMB.	The	next	preference	share	financial	covenant	measurement	date	is	31	December	2017.
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14. BRIDGE FACILITY
                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

R’000    2017 2016

Bridge facility    100 000 -

Refer to note 13 for details of the facility. Interest of 1 month JIBAR plus 2.75% is charged on the facility and serviced 

monthly	 (refer	 to	 note	 21).	 Refer	 to	 note	 31	 for	 a	 description	 of	 the	 Group’s	 financial	 instrument	 risks,	 including	 risk	

management objectives and policies.

As security for the bridge facility, Stellar Capital ceded in securitatem debiti and pledged the following:

• Shares in Prescient, Cadiz, Stellar Credit, Torre, Amecor, Tellumat, Stellar Specialised Lending and Stellar Management

  Services;

• Any shareholder or loan claims;

• Proceeds from insurances;

• Bank accounts;

• Trade and other receivables; and 

• Any intellectual property rights.

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016
Trade payables     9 727     12 793     9 704     12 755 

Other payables      718     1 313      711      616 

Value added tax      191      202      191      186 

Accrued expenses     1 705      621     1 547      621 

Total     12 341     14 929     12 153     14 178 

Trade	and	other	payables	are	classified	as	financial	liabilities	held	at	amortised	cost,	with	the	exception	of	value	added	tax.	

The carrying amount of trade and other payables is considered to approximate fair value due to the short period to maturity. 

Refer	to	note	31	for	a	description	of	the	Group’s	financial	instrument	risks,	including	risk	management	objectives	and	policies.

16. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS
                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

R’000    2017 2016

Fair value adjustments on listed investments    (276 768)  (404 071)

Unrealised losses    (276 768)  (404 071)

      

Fair value adjustments on unlisted investments    (69 457)    92 529 

Realised gains – portfolio companies    -       37 382 

Unrealised (losses)/gains – portfolio companies    (69 351)    53 822 

Realised	gains	-	other	financial	assets	 	 	 	 15		 			1	930	

Unrealised	losses	-	other	financial	assets	 	 	 	 (121)		 	(605)

      

Fair value adjustments resulting from capital distributions    (549 698)  (436 961)

 

Total     (895 923)  (748 503)

Of the unrealised fair value losses on investments recognised, a total of R549.6 million (2016: R436.9 million) results from 

the return of capital by way of cash dividends and distributions-in-specie (refer to note 17), resulting in an Rnil effect on net 

profit.	

78 | STELLAR CAPITAL PARTNERS



17. DIVIDEND REVENUE
                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

R’000    2017 2016

Capital distributions of cash    549 698     276 708 

Cadiz    3 500     42 208 

Stellar Credit    -       2 500 

Stellar Specialised Lending     456 189     232 000 

CAM preference share    90 009 -

Capital distributions-in-specie    -       160 253 

Cadiz    -       160 253 

     

Earnings distributions    30 044     43 002 

Cadiz    -  -   

Torre Industries 1     -       9 858 

Amecor    6 000   -   

Stellar Specialised Lending    24 044     33 144 

      

Other dividends     -        62 

      

Total    579 742    480 025 

       

Capital distributions    549 698    436 961 

Earnings distributions     30 044     43 002 

Other dividends received     -        62 

Total    579 742    480 025 

1	 Included	 in	 the	 earnings	 distributions	 received	 from	 Torre	 in	 the	 previous	 financial	 year	 was	 a	 scrip	 dividend	 of	

 R6.1 million.

18. INTEREST REVENUE 
                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016
Loan investments   -       16 255   -       4 771 

Other	financial	assets	 	 				864		 			2	260		 				864		 			2	260	

Loans to portfolio companies      357     51 728      357     51 728 

Cash and cash equivalents     8 993     27 945      392     19 998 

Total     10 214     98 188     1 613     78 757 

Refer to notes 3, 4 and 6 for details of the interest rates earned.

19. IMPAIRMENT OF LOAN TO PORTFOLIO COMPANY
                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

R’000    2017 2016

MRI    - 2 289

Refer to note 6 for details of the impairment of the loan to MRI.
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20. OTHER INCOME 
                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016
Director fees charged to portfolio companies      685   -     -    -

Profit/loss-sharing	arrangement	 	 	-				 			6	065		 	-				 6	065

Raising fees on loans   -       2 000   -     -   

Sundry income      339      805      339      528 

Total     1 024     8 870      339     6 593 

PROFIT / LOSS-SHARING ARRANGEMENT
During	 the	 previous	 financial	 year,	 a	 liability	 had	 been	 recognised	 as	 the	 Company	 had	 an	 obligation	 to	 settle	 Afrasia	

Special Opportunities Fund Proprietary Limited (“ASOF”) 50% of any proceeds received from the disposal of the MRI 

shares	acquired	from	ASOF.	As	the	fair	value	of	MRI	was	estimated	to	be	Rnil	in	the	previous	financial	year,	the	liability	was	

accordingly	reversed,	resulting	in	a	credit	to	profit	or	loss.

21. FINANCE COSTS
                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

R’000    2017 2016

Preference share liability interest accrual    42 973     71 543 

Bridge facility interest expense    7 118   -   

Total    50 091     71 543 

Interest on the preference share liability accrues at 115% of the prime interest rate. Refer to notes 12 and 13 for details of 

interest on the preference shares. Interest of 1 month JIBAR plus 2.75% is charged on the bridge facility and is serviced 

monthly.

22. MANAGEMENT FEE
                                                                                                                                                                   Group and Company

R’000    2017 2016

Base fee    12 937    18 208 

Performance fee    -  -   

Recoveries    (6 657)  (7 079)

Total    6 280    11 129 

The terms of the management agreement are as follows:

• Sliding scale management base fee based on 1% of NAV on a quarterly basis other than (i) cash, which attracts a fee of

  0.25%, (ii) own managed funds which attracts a fee of 1% less the charges levied by the funds into which such funds are

   invested, and (iii) third-party managed assets which attracts no management fee;

• Performance fee of 15% of NAV per share growth above a 10% hurdle rate above high-water-marks;

• Management agreement cancellation by way of the issue of 50 million ordinary shares of the Company; and

• Term of the management agreement is perpetual, subject to annual shareholder vote which may cancel the management

 agreement with a majority at any annual general meeting of the Company’s shareholders.

The Company incurred certain expenses on behalf of the Manco which were recovered from the base fee.
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23. OPERATING EXPENSES
                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016
Audit fees      794      794      794      794 

Consulting and professional fees      702     1 808      668     1 764 

Depreciation      134      146   -     -   

Employee costs and director fees     7 269     8 391     1 583     2 848 

Sundry operating expenses     2 792     4 698     1 191     2 313 

Total     11 691     15 837     4 236     7 719 

Operating expenses (excluding regulatory costs, transaction costs and costs associated with the governance of Stellar 

Capital) and employee costs are recovered from the Manco (refer to note 22).

24. TAXATION
                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016

Current tax      495     19 182   (45)    19 101 

Current period      891     18 987      336     18 906 

Prior year over-provision   (396)     195   (381)     195 

      

Deferred tax      18     6 808      18     6 853 

Originating and reversing temporary differences      18     6 808      18     6 853 

      

Total      513     25 990   (27)    25 954 

                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

   2017 2016 2017 2016
Applicable tax rate  28.00% 28.00% 28.00% 28.00%

Fair value gains not subject to tax  0.06% 12.97% 0.06% 12.46%

Fair value losses not deductible for tax  -64.21% -90.58% -63.91% -87.04%

Dividends revenue not subject to tax  41.51% 47.41% 41.31% 45.56%

Impairments not subject to tax  0.00% -0.04% 0.00% -0.04%

Other income capital in nature 1  0.00% 0.60% 0.00% 0.58%

Finance costs not deductible for tax 2  -3.08% -7.07% -3.06% -6.79%

Expenses capital in nature 3  -2.49% -2.82% -2.48% -2.69%

Expenses not deductible for tax 4  -0.02% 0.00% -0.01% 0.00%

Utilisation of taxable losses  0.00% 4.83% 0.00% 3.55%

Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets  0.00% 0.07% 0.00% 0.07%

Reversal of previously recognised deferred tax assets  0.00% -2.48% 0.00% -2.38%

Prior year over- /(under-)provision  0.10% -0.07% 0.10% -0.07%

Effective tax rate  -0.13% -9.18% 0.01% -8.79%

1	 Other	income	not	capital	in	nature	relates	to	the	profit/loss-sharing	arrangement	(refer	to	note	20).	

2 Finance costs not deductible for tax comprises the interest accrual on preference share liability (refer to note 21).

3 Expenses capital in nature comprises expenses incurred in relation to the acquisition or disposal of investments and 

 expenses that have been deemed to be capital in nature, which are considered to be recurring in nature. 

4 Expenses not deductible for tax in respect of the period under review are not considered to be recurring in nature.
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25. LOSS PER SHARE 
                                                                                                                           Group                               

R’000  2017 2016 
Loss and headline loss  (391 603) (309 514)

There are no reconciling items between loss per share and headline loss.

                                                                                                                           Group                               

’000  2017 2016 
Shares in issue at the beginning of the period  1 068 017    925 456 

Effect of issue of shares  4 416    20 463 

Effect of treasury shares  -  (3 174)

Weighted average number of shares in issue  1 072 433    942 745 

                                                                                                                           Group                               

Cents  2017 2016 
Loss and headline loss per share  (36.52) (32.83)

The issue of 600 convertible redeemable preference shares has not been treated as dilutive in calculating diluted earnings 

and headline earnings per share as the conversion thereof will result in a decrease in loss per share (i.e. the conversion is 

anti-dilutive).

26.  CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS AND CAPITAL DISTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED
                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016
Loss before taxation   (391 090)  (283 524)  (392 921)  (295 040)

Adjustments for:      

Fair value adjustments 16    895 923     748 503     895 923     748 503 

Dividends not received in cash 17  -     (166 392)  -     (166 392)

Interest revenue 18  (10 214)  (98 188)  (1 613)  (78 757)

Accrued interest not received   -     (586)  -     (586)

Impairment of loan to portfolio company 19  -       2 289   -       2 289 

Finance costs 21    50 091     71 543     50 091     71 543 

Depreciation 23     134      146   -     -   

Changes in working capital:      

Decrease/ (increase) in trade and other receivables     2 847   (7 136)    3 260   (6 951)

Decrease in trade and other payables   (2 587)  (27 645)  (2 025)  (28 330)

Total     545 104     239 010     552 715   (246 279)
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27. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 
      Pension and 

    Fees for Basic other 

R’000 services salary contributions   Total 

Group 2017   

Executive directors    

CE Pettit  219  - -     219 

CB de Villiers   219  - -     219 

Non-executive directors    MM 

Ngoasheng   190  - -     190 

L Potgieter    233  - -     233 

CJ Roodt     306  - -     306 

HC Steyn     - -  - -

DD Tabata  292  - -     292 

PJ van Zyl     263  - -     263 

MVZ Wentzel     233  - -     233 

Total     1 984  - -    1 984 

     

Group 2016    

Executive directors     

CE Pettit     375   -     -        375 

CB de Villiers     375   -     -        375 

Non-executive directors    

J de Bruyn     390   -     -        390 

L Mangope     344   -     -        344 

MM Ngoasheng     27   -     -        27 

L Potgieter     33   -     -        33 

CJ Roodt     533   -     -        533 

DD Tabata     500   -     -        500 

PJ van Zyl     450   -     -        450 

MVZ Wentzel     133   -     -        133 

CC Wiese     267   -     -        267 

Total     3 427   -     -       3 427 

The remuneration of Mr CE Pettit and Mr CB de Villiers exceeding R375 000 per annum each (2016: R375 000 per annum), 

pro-rata, is recovered by the Group directly from Manco (refer to note 22). For the 7 month period ended 30 June 2017, 

Mr CE Pettit was paid a total executive remuneration of R2.2 million by the Group (2016: R0.4 million), which consisted of a 

basic salary of R1.3 million (2016: R0.4 million) and a discretionary bonus of R0.9 million (2016: Rnil) and Mr CB de Villiers was 

paid a total remuneration of R1 million by the Group (2016: R1.8 million), which consisted of only a basic salary of R1 million 

(2016: R1.4 million) and no discretionary bonus (2016: R0.4 million). 

Ms	J	de	Bruyn,	Ms	L	Mangope	and	Ms	CC	Wiese	resigned	as	non-executive	directors	in	the	previous	financial	year	and	were	

replaced by Mr MM Ngoasheng, Mr L Potgieter and Mr MVZ Wentzel. Mr HC Steyn was appointed as a non-executive director 

with effect from 4 April 2017.

No	persons	other	than	directors	are	considered	to	be	prescribed	officers	or	key	management	personnel.	The	full	amount	

above relates to short-term compensation for key management.
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28. RELATED PARTIES
Associates and subsidiaries: Refer to notes 3 and 7

   Cadiz Asset Management Proprietary Limited

   Cadiz Corporate Solutions Proprietary Limited 

   Torre Holdings Proprietary Limited

Entities	under	common	control	or	influence:	 Manco	(CE	Pettit)

   Lavender Sky Investments 40 Proprietary Limited (W van Breda)

Directors:  Refer to note 27

                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000  2017 2016 2017 2016
Interest earned from related parties     

Amecor  8 -  8 - 

IE Rentals   -       1 375   -       1 375 

Lavender Sky Investments 40 Proprietary Limited   -        493   -        493 

MRI   -       1 349   -       1 349 

Praxis Financial Services   -       1 879   -       1 879 

Stellar Credit      38      40      38      40 

Stellar Specialised Lending      311     47 077      311     47 077 

Management fees paid to related parties      

Manco  6 280    11 129  6 280    11 129 

Services provided to related parties      

Amecor      180  - - -

IE Rentals   -        12   -     -   

Praxis Financial Services      332      516      332      516 

Tellumat      38      49  -  -   

Torre      467  - - -

Shared office and travel costs recovered from / (paid to) 

related parties     

Amecor  51 - - -

Cadiz Asset Management Proprietary Limited   (1 606)  (2 667) -  -   

Cadiz Corporate Solutions Proprietary Limited   -     (132) -  -   

IE Rentals      107      123  -  -   

Stellar Credit      439      477  -  -   

Torre Holdings Proprietary Limited      56      16  -  -   

Loans owing by related parties      

Amecor  -    2 003  -    2 003 

Cadiz  724     724  724     724 

CAM  1 661 - 1 661 -

MRI  -    3 184  -    3 184 

Stellar Credit  -    1 000  -    1 000 

Stellar Management Services  -  -    1 878    366 945 

Impairments of related party loans     

MRI  -    (2 289)  -    (2 289) 

Trade and other receivables owing by related parties      

Amecor      40  -  -    -

IE Rentals      20      60   -     -   

Praxis Financial Services      63      57      63      57 

Stellar Credit      154      62   -     -   

Stellar Specialised Lending     3 648     2 343     3 648     2 343 

Torre Holdings Proprietary Limited       11      10   -     -   

Trade and other payable owing to related parties    

Cadiz Asset Management  14     13  -  -   

Thunder Securitisations     2 518   -     2 518     -   

Refer to notes 3, 4 and 17 for details of additional related party transactions with portfolio companies.
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29. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY
      Designated as 

     Loans at fair value

    Non-financial amortised  through profit 

R’000 Notes assets receivables or loss Total

Group 2017     

Non-current assets     

Listed investments at fair value 3  -     -       435 142     435 142 

Unlisted investments at fair value 3  -     -      1 588 724    1 588 724 

Other	financial	assets	 4	 	-				 				286		 			24	245		 			24	531	

Property, plant and equipment      993   -     -        993 

Deferred taxation 5     200   -     -        200 

Current assets     

Other	financial	assets	 4	 	-				 				176		 	-				 				176	

Loans to portfolio companies 6  -       2 385   -       2 385 

Current tax receivable 8     103   -     -        103 

Trade and other receivables 9     261     4 051   -       4 312 

Cash and cash equivalents 10  -       13 554   -       13 554 

Total     1 557     20 452    2 048 111    2 070 120 
     

Group 2016     
Non-current assets     

Listed investments at fair value 3  -     -       709 478     709 478 

Unlisted investments at fair value 3  -     -      1 219 609    1 219 609 

Other	financial	assets	 4	 	-				 				267		 			23	597		 			23	864	

Property, plant and equipment     1 108   -     -       1 108 

Deferred taxation 5     218   -     -        218 

Current assets     

Other	financial	assets	 4	 -	 			1	182		 	-				 			1	182	

Loans to portfolio companies 6  -       4 622   -       4 622 

Trade and other receivables 9    3 830     3 329   -       7 159 

Cash and cash equivalents 10  -       382 854   -       382 854 

Total     5 156     392 254    1 952 684    2 350 094 
 

Company 2017     

Non-current assets     

Listed investments at fair value 3  -     -       435 142     435 142 

Unlisted investments at fair value 3  -     -      1 588 724    1 588 724 

Other	financial	assets	 4	 	-				 				286		 			24	245		 			24	531	

Deferred taxation 5     155   -     -        155 

Current assets     

Other	financial	assets	 4	 	-				 				176		 	-				 				176	

Loans to portfolio companies 6  -       2 385   -       2 385 

Loan to Consolidated Subsidiary 7  -       1 878   -       1 878 

Current tax receivable 8     103   -     -        103 

Trade and other receivables 9  -       3 714   -       3 714 

Cash and cash equivalents 10  -        193   -        193 

Total       258     8 632    2 048 111    2 057 001 
     

Company 2016     

Non-current assets     

Listed investments at fair value 3  -     -       709 478     709 478 

Unlisted investments at fair value 3  -     -      1 219 609    1 219 609 

Other	financial	assets	 4	 	-				 				267		 			23	597		 			23	864	

Deferred taxation 5     173   -     -        173 

Current assets     

Other	financial	assets	 4	 	-				 			1	182		 	-				 			1	182	

Loans to portfolio companies 6  -       4 622   -       4 622 

Loan to Consolidated Subsidiary 7  -       366 945   -       366 945 

Trade and other receivables 9    3 830     3 144   -       6 974 

Cash and cash equivalents 10  -       4 865   -       4 865 

Total     4 003     381 025    1 952 684    2 337 712 
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30.  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

      Designated as 

     Loans at fair value

    Non-financial amortised  through profit 

R’000 Notes assets receivables or loss Total

Group 2017     

Non-current liabilities     

Preference share liability 13  -       514 657   -       514 657 

Current liabilities     

Preference share liability 13  -       54 455   -       54 455 

Bridge facility   -       100 000   -       100 000 

Trade and other payables 15     191     12 150   -       12 341 

Total      191     681 262   -       681 453 

     

Group 2016     

Non-current liabilities     

Preference share liability 13  -       506 465   -       506 465 

Current liabilities     

Preference share liability 13  -       59 187   -       59 187 

Current tax payable 8     900   -     -        900 

Trade and other payables 15     202     14 727   -       14 929 

Total     1 102     580 379   -       581 481 

     

Company 2017     

Non-current liabilities     

Preference share liability 13  -       514 657   -       514 657 

Current liabilities     

Preference share liability 13  -       54 455   -       54 455 

Bridge facility 14  -       100 000   -       100 000 

Trade and other payables 15     191     11 962   -       12 153 

Total      191     681 074   -       681 265 

     

Company 2016     

Non-current liabilities     

Preference share liability 13  -       506 465   -       506 465 

Current liabilities     

Preference share liability 13  -       59 187   -       59 187 

Current tax payable 8     909   -     -        909 

Trade and other payables 15     186     13 992   -       14 178 

Total     1 095     579 644   -       580 739 
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31. RISK MANAGEMENT
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital is comprised of ordinary share capital, preference share capital (equity and liability portions) and accumulated 

losses. Neither the Company nor its Consolidated Subsidiary is subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

The Group manages its capital so as to ensure that it is able to continue as a going concern in order to maximise the return 

to	shareholders	and	for	the	benefit	of	all	other	stakeholders.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The	Group’s	activities	expose	it	to	a	variety	of	financial	risks:	market	risk	(cash	flow	and	fair	value	interest	rate	risk,	price	risk	

and foreign currency risk), liquidity risk and credit risk.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest	 rate	 risk	 arises	 from	 the	 fluctuations	 in	 prevailing	 market	 interest	 rates	 and	 impacts	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 fixed	

interest-bearing	financial	instruments	and	the	future	cash	flows	of	variable	interest-bearing	financial	instruments.	As	part	of	

the process of managing the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, interest rate characteristics of amounts advanced and 

any new borrowings are positioned according to expected movements in interest rates. 

CASH FLOW INTEREST RATE RISK

The	Group’s	cash	flow	interest	rate	risk	arises	from	loans	and	receivables	with	variable	interest	rates	(other	financial	assets	

and loans to portfolio companies), cash and cash equivalents and preference shares in issue.

                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016
Other	financial	assets	 4	 				462		 			1	449		 				462		 			1	449	

Loans to portfolio companies 6    2 385     4 622     2 385     4 622 

Cash and cash equivalents 10    13 554     382 854      193     4 865 

Preference share liability 13  (569 112)  (565 652)  (569 112)  (565 652)

Bridge facility 14 (100 000) - (100 000) -

Total   (652 711)  (176 727)  (666 072)  (554 716)

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2016: 100 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, 

the	Group’s	profit	before	tax	for	the	current	financial	year	would	decrease/increase	by	R2.6	million	(2016:	R3.1	million).

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on the preference share liability is largely mitigated through the investment in the 

CAM preference share (refer to note 3), which pays dividends from interest earned on the loan portfolio held by SSL – as the 

loan	portfolio	of	SSL	is	predominantly	linked	to	either	JIBAR	or	prime,	any	increase	in	finance	costs	on	the	preference	share	

liability	resulting	from	an	increase	in	the	prime	interest	rate	is	largely	countered	with	increased	dividend	flow	from	the	CAM	

preference share as a result of improved returns.  

FAIR VALUE INTEREST RATE RISK

The	 Group	 has	 no	 exposure	 to	 fair	 value	 interest	 rate	 risk	 in	 the	 current	 or	 previous	 financial	 period	 as	 all	 financial	

instruments held at amortised cost carry interest rates linked to the prime interest rate or JIBAR.
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31. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
MARKET RISK

Market risk arises from the uncertainty of future prices of investments held at fair value by the Group (refer to notes 3 and 

4). The Group is therefore exposed to price risk through movements in the fair values of the underlying investments. Where 

investments have been valued using quoted market prices, the fair value is dependent on stock exchange movements 

resulting	from	interest	rates,	sentiment,	currency	and	other	factors	(whether	specific	to	the	investment	or	those	affecting	

the	market	as	a	whole).	The	fair	values	of	unlisted	investments	are	influenced	by	economic	and	industry	trends.	

The Group manages its exposure to the market risk of investments held at FVTPL primarily through the monitoring of the 

underlying businesses as well as, where appropriate, the implemented governance structures and by taking deliberate 

action	in	its	capacity	as	a	majority	or	significant	shareholder	to	the	extent	applicable.	Management	accounts	are	received	

from portfolio companies and reviewed on a monthly basis so as to obtain an understanding of operational performance 

and to assess whether there are any key issues that the various management teams need to address or are in the process

 of addressing. In addition to this, the Board of Directors of Stellar Capital, through the Audit and Risk Committee, also 

receives and interrogates the risk registers from portfolio companies. The Group has representation on the boards, 

executive committees and sub-committees of the portfolio companies. As part of the process of aligning the strategic 

intent of Stellar Capital and its portfolio companies, the Group has ensured that the short- and long-term incentives for the 

respective management teams are in place.

                                Group and Company

R’000   Notes 2017 2016 

Listed investments held at fair value   3   

Torre Industries    435 142     709 478 

MRI    -     -   

Unlisted investments held at fair value   3 

Prescient    697 015   -   

Cadiz    86 862     89 362 

Praxis    29 671     29 671 

IE Rentals    -       5 693 

Stellar Credit    8 802     7 934 

Amecor    359 708     359 708 

Tellumat    87 204     124 309 

Masimong Technologies    91 127     114 873 

Stellar Specialised Lending    -       457 760 

Stellar International    28 195     30 299 

CAM preference share    200 140  -

Other financial assets   4   

South	Easter	fixed	interest	hedge	fund	 	 	 	 21	528		 			20	965	

Retention funds    2 717     2 632 

Total    2 048 111    1 952 684 

A	reasonably	possible	10%	(2016:	10%)	fluctuation	in	the	Torre	share	price	will	cause	a	fair	value	adjustment	of	R43.5	million	

(2016:	R70.9	million),	to	the	investment	in	Torre,	resulting	in	an	increase/decrease	of	same	to	the	Group’s	profit	before	tax.	

Refer to note 32 for a sensitivity analysis of unlisted investments. 

A	reasonably	possible	10%	(2016:	10%)	fluctuation	in	the	unit	price	of	the	South	Easter	fixed	interest	hedge	fund	will	cause	

a fair value adjustment of R2.1 million (2016: R2.1 million) to the investment, resulting in an increase/decrease of same to the 

Group’s	profit	before	tax.	A	reasonably	possible	5%	(2016:	5%)	fluctuation	in	the	unit	prices	of	the	retention	funds	will	cause	

a fair value adjustment of R0.1 million (2016: R0.1 million) to the investment, resulting in an increase/decrease of same to the 

Group’s	profit	before	tax.	
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31. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

At present the Group’s only exposure to foreign currency risk results from the investment in Stellar International (refer to 

note 3), which has a functional currency of US Dollars, and which has investments in LifeQ and Tictrac that are denominated 

in US Dollars and British Pounds respectively. There is therefore a risk that the fair value of the Company’s investment in 

Stellar	International	fluctuates	as	a	result	of	the	strengthening	or	weakening	of	the	US	Dollar.	As	its	two	investments	are	

denominated	in	different	currencies,	there	is	some	diversification	and	management	does	not	consider	the	overall	exposure	

substantial enough so as to require hedging.

All else being held constant had the US Dollar been 5%  (2016: 5%) stronger/weaker against the Rand as at 30 June 2017, the 

fair value adjustment to Stellar International would be R1.4 million (2016: R1.5 million) higher/lower, resulting in an increase/

decrease	of	same	to	the	Group’s	profit	before	tax.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	Group	will	not	be	able	to	meet	its	financial	obligations	as	they	fall	due.	The	Group	manages	

this	 risk	 by	maintaining	 adequate	 cash	 reserves	 and	 through	 continuous	monitoring	 of	 actual	 and	 forecast	 cash	 flows.	

Forecast	 inflows	 may	 comprise	 earnings	 and	 capital	 distributions	 from	 portfolio	 companies.	 Capital	 distributions	 may	

comprise distributions of excess working capital or capital made available to portfolio companies by third-party funding 

providers.	The	Group	had	no	short-term	overdraft	 facilities	 in	 the	current	or	previous	financial	periods.	The	table	below	

shows	the	undiscounted	future	cash	flows:

    Within 6 months 1 to 3 Beyond 

R’000 Notes 6 months to 1 year years 3 years Total

Group 2017      

Preference share dividends 13    29 531     28 972     53 623   -       112 126 

Redemption of preference shares 13  -     -       600 000   -       600 000 

Bridge facility interest 21 4 915 - - - 4 915

Bridge facility repayment 14 100 000 - - - 100 000

Trade and other payables 15    12 341   -     -     -       12 341 

Total     146 787     28 972     653 623   -       829 382 
      

Group 2016      

Preference share dividends 13    29 843     30 007     89 693   -       149 543 

Redemption of preference shares 13  -     -       600 000   -       600 000 

Current tax payable 8     900   -     -     -        900 

Trade and other payables 15    14 929   -     -     -       14 929 

Total     45 672     30 007     689 693   -       765 372 
      

Company 2017      

Preference share dividends 13    29 531     28 972     53 623   -       112 126 

Redemption of preference shares 13  -     -       600 000   -       600 000 

Bridge facility interest 21 4 915 - - - 4 915

Bridge facility repayment 14 100 000 - - - 100 000

Trade and other payables 15    12 153   -     -     -       12 153 

Total     146 599     28 972     653 623   -       829 194 
      

Company 2016      

Preference share dividends 13    29 843     30 007     89 693   -       149 543 

Redemption of preference shares 13  -     -       600 000   -    600 000

Current tax payable 8     909   -     -     -        909 

Trade and other payables 15    14 178   -     -     -       14 178 

Total     44 930     30 007     689 693   -       764 630 
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31. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
As the redeemable preference share is convertible at the election of the shareholder, the full redemption has been taken into 

account for the purposes of liquidity risk management.

CREDIT RISK
Credit	risk	is	the	risk	of	financial	loss	to	the	Group	if	a	counterparty	to	a	financial	instrument	fails	to	meet	its	contractual	

obligations,	and	arises	principally	from	the	Group’s	loans	and	receivables	(certain	other	financial	assets	and	loans	to	portfolio	

companies) and cash and cash equivalents. 

As the fair value of the investment in the CAM preference share is based on the NAV of SSL, the equity risk is linked to the 

credit risk of the loan portfolio of SSL. The loans from SSL to the underlying borrowers are secured by cession and pledge of 

listed and unlisted shares as well as corporate guarantees, which typically provides a cover ratio of 2 or more times.

The	carrying	amounts	of	financial	assets	recorded	in	the	statement	of	financial	position,	which	are	net	of	impairment	losses,	

represent the maximum exposure to credit risk. As at 30 June 2017, management does not consider there to be any material 

exposure that has not been covered by impairment. 

                                                                                                                           Group                                    Company

R’000 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016
Other	financial	assets	 4	 			462		 			1	449		 				462		 			1	449	

Loans to portfolio companies 6    2 385     4 622     2 385     4 622 

Loan to Consolidated Subsidiary 7  -     -       1 878     366 945 

Trade and other receivables 1 9    4 312     3 329     3 714     3 144 

Cash and cash equivalents 10    13 554     382 854      193     4 865 

Total     20 713     392 254     8 632     381 025 

1 Trade and other receivables excludes prepayments. 

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
The	credit	risk	of	other	financial	assets	are	assessed	on	an	individual	basis.	The	exposure	in	the	current	and	previous	period	

relates to the Fixed Income Annuities (managed by Cadiz Asset Management Proprietary Limited), which are monitored on 

a monthly basis, and the Group has assessed there to be no material risk of default. 

LOAN TO PORTFOLIO COMPANIES
The Group assesses the credit worthiness of any portfolio company that a loan or advance is granted to and where 

considered necessary the Group takes security. On a monthly basis, management monitors the operations and cash 

generating capabilities of the portfolio companies to which loans have been advanced as well as the interest and capital 

repayments of those loans. Where considered appropriate an impairment allowance is made against the loan receivable to 

the	extent	that	it	is	not	considered	to	be	recoverable.	During	the	previous	financial	year,	the	loan	to	MRI	was	impaired	by	

R2.7 million, but which impairment was reversed by R0.4 million following the sale of the claims against MRI in December 

2016 for R0.9 million.  

LOANS TO CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARY 
The Company advances loans to the Stellar Management Services as and when it requires funds for the purposes of 

providing services to the Company or other portfolio companies. The loan owing to the Company by Stellar Management 

Services is considered to be fully recoverable in both the current and the previous period as it is cash-collateralised.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
As at the reporting date, trade and other receivables comprises primarily of dividends accrued and not yet received, but 

which	have	been	received	subsequently.	In	the	previous	financial	year,	trade	and	other	receivables,	excluding	prepayments,	

comprised primarily of dividends accrued, but not yet received and accrued interest on cash deposits, both of which were 

received	in	the	period	under	review.	Also	included	in	other	receivables	for	the	Group	are	amounts	for	shared	office	costs	to	

be recovered from other entities, which are immaterial to the Group as a whole.
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31. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The Company only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one 

counterparty. Cash balances are held with Rand Merchant Bank of South Africa Limited which carries a Standard and Poor’s 

rating of BBB- (2016: BBB-).

32. FAIR VALUE INFORMATION
In	accordance	with	IFRS	13,	financial	instruments	measured	at	fair	value	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	are	grouped	

into	three	levels	of	a	fair	value	hierarchy.	The	three	levels	are	defined	based	on	the	observability	of	significant	inputs	to	the	

measurement as follows:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets

  and liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value adjustments are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are

   observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability

   that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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32. FAIR VALUE INFORMATION (Continued) 
The	table	below	analyses	the	Group’s	assets	which	are	held	at	for	value	through	profit	or	loss	and	therefore	fall	within	the	

scope of the fair value hierarchy:

R’000 Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Group and Company 2017     

Listed investments held at fair value 3    

Torre Industries     435 142   -     -       435 142 

MRI   -     -     -     -   

Unlisted investments held at fair value 3    

Prescient   -     -       697 015     697 015 

Cadiz   -     -       86 862     86 862 

Praxis   -     -       29 671     29 671 

IE Rentals   -     -     -     -   

Stellar Credit   -     -       8 802     8 802 

Amecor   -     -       359 708     359 708 

Tellumat   -     -       87 204     87 204 

Masimong Technologies   -     -       91 127     91 127 

Stellar Specialised Lending   -     -     -     -   

Stellar International   -     -       28 195     28 195 

CAM preference share   -    -    200 140     200 140 

Other financial assets 4    

South Easter Fixed interest hedge fund   -       21 528   -       21 528 

Retention funds   -       2 717   -       2 717 

Total     435 142     24 245    1 588 724    2 048 111 

Group and Company 2016     

Listed investments held at fair value 3    

Torre Industries     709 478   -     -       709 478 

MRI   -     -     -     -   

Unlisted investments held at fair value 3    

Cadiz   -     -       89 362     89 362 

Praxis   -     -       29 671     29 671 

IE Rentals   -     -       5 693     5 693 

Stellar Credit   -     -       7 934     7 934 

Amecor   -     -       359 708     359 708 

Tellumat   -     -       124 309     124 309 

Masimong Technologies   -     -       114 873     114 873 

Stellar Specialised Lending   -     -       457 760     457 760 

Stellar International   -     -       30 299     30 299 

Other financial assets 4    

South Easter Fixed Interest Hedge Fund 1   -       20 965   -       20 965 

Retention Funds 1   -       2 632   -       2 632 

Total     709 478     23 597    1 219 609    1 952 684 

1 The	estimated	values	of	investments	classified	as	Level	2	are	based	on	fund	statements	received	by	the	respective	fund		
 management companies.

The	table	below	reconciles	the	movements	in	the	financial	assets	categorised	as	Level	3	investments:

                                Group and Company
R’000    2017 2016
Opening balance    1 219 609    1 149 368 

Additions    988 164    1 517 347 

Disposals    -  (180 353)

Transfers to Level 1    -     (906 970)

Realised fair value gains     -       37 382 

Unrealised fair value (losses)/gains    (69 351)    39 796 

Fair value adjustments resulting from capital distributions    (549 698)  (436 961)

Total     1 588 724    1 219 609 

  

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

92 | STELLAR CAPITAL PARTNERS



32. FAIR VALUE INFORMATION (Continued) 
VALUATION PROCESS USED TO DERIVE LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUES

The Board of Directors has approved the valuation methodologies as set out in the Accounting Policies. The Company 

receives	 reports	 from	portfolio	 companies	 at	 each	 reporting	date,	 either	 in	 the	 form	of	 audited	financial	 statements	or

unaudited management accounts. These are then used in the primary valuation techniques, in conjunction with available

forecast information, in order to determine fair value or in the secondary valuation techniques which are used as a

reasonability check. The valuation techniques and inputs used for each investment held at fair value have been detailed in 

note 3.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF LEVEL 3 INPUTS

The	table	below	summarises	the	sensitivity	of	Level	3	investments	to	changes	in	significant	unobservable	inputs:

    Significant Reasonable Reasonable 
   Estimated unobservable possible possible 
R’000  fair value inputs variation change

Group and Company 2017     

Prescient  697 015 P/E multiple 5% 29 583 – 

      34 712

    Percentage of AUM 1% 3 179

Cadiz  86 862 Discount to NAV 10% 12 651

Praxis  29 671 Sustainable earnings 10%  2 967 

    P/E multiple 20%  5 934 

Stellar Credit  8 802 Sustainable earnings 10%  880 

    P/E multiple 10%  880 

Amecor  359 708 Sustainable EBITDA 5%  17 985 

    EV/EBITDA multiple 5%  17 985 

Tellumat  87 204 Sustainable EBITDA 10%  8 720 

    EV/EBITDA multiple 5%  4 360 

Masimong Technologies  91 127 Sustainable EBITDA 10%  9 113 

    EV/EBITDA multiple 5%  4 556 

Stellar International  28 185 n/a n/a n/a

CAM preference share  200 140 n/a n/a n/a

The fair value of IE Rentals has been estimated to be Rnil as at 30 June 2017. Currently the portfolio company has a high 

weighted	average	cost	of	capital	as	a	result	of	the	average	cost	of	debt	being	prime	plus	11%.	Under	a	refinanced	capital	

structure assumption with an estimated average cost of debt of prime plus 5%,  the fair value of the investment would be 

R4.1 million when using a consistent P/E multiple of 10.9 times.

Group and Company 2016    

Cadiz  89 362 Discount to NAV 10%    8 936 

Praxis  29 671 Sustainable earnings 10%    2 967 

    P/E multiple 20%    5 934 

IE Rentals  5 693 Sustainable earnings 5%     285 

    P/E multiple 20%    1 139 

Stellar Credit  7 934 Sustainable earnings 10%     793 

    P/E multiple 20%    1 587 

Amecor  359 708 Sustainable EBITDA 5%    17 985 

    EV/EBITDA multiple 5%    17 985 

Tellumat  124 309 Sustainable EBITDA 10%    12 008 

    EV/EBITDA multiple 5%    6 647 

Masimong Technologies  114 873 Normalised 2017 EBITDA 5%    5 744 

    EV/EBITDA multiple 5%    5 744 

Stellar Specialised Lending  457 760 n/a  n/a   n/a 

Stellar International  30 299 n/a  n/a   n/a 
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32. FAIR VALUE INFORMATION (Continued) 
FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST
Certain	 other	 financial	 assets,	 loans	 to	 portfolio	 companies,	 the	 loan	 to	 the	 Consolidated	 Subsidiary,	 trade	 and	 other	

receivables	 and	 cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 are	 classified	 as	 financial	 assets	 measured	 at	 amortised	 cost.	 It	 has	 been	

concluded that the carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values (refer to notes 4, 6, 7, 9 and 10).

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST
It	has	been	concluded	that	the	carrying	amounts	of	financial	liabilities	measured	at	amortised	cost,	namely	the	preference	

share liability, the bridge facility and trade and other payables, approximate their fair values (refer to notes 13, 14 and 15).

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the reporting date, the Company has issued limited corporate guarantees in favour of the creditors of Praxis Financial 

Services for R47.5 million (2016: R47.5 million). The guarantees will expire on 30 September 2017. Due to the nature of 

the operations of Praxis, it requires purchasing power in order to grow its revenue by way of increased parts funding. The 

Company	therefore	took	the	decision	to	assist	the	investee	in	this	regard,	after	considering	the	profitability	of	Praxis	and	

its	ability	to	generate	sufficient	cash	to	sustain	the	enabled	growth.	Management	accounts	are	obtained	from	Praxis	on	a	

monthly basis and analysed in conjunction with the monitoring of the purchases from suppliers for which guarantees have 

been issued.    

34.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
The	directors	are	not	aware	of	any	other	events	after	the	reporting	date	which	have	a	material	impact	on	the	annual	financial	

statements as presented.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING

DIRECTORS OF STELLAR CAPITAL
DD Tabata (Chairman)*^ 

PJ van Zyl (CEO)

S Graham (Interim CFO)

CJ Roodt*#

MVZ Wentzel*^

MM Ngoasheng*^ 

L Potgieter*^

HC Steyn*

*Non-executive

^Independent

#Lead Independent

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN in terms of section 62(1) of the 

Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, as amended (the “Act”) 

that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of shareholders 

will be held at 09:30 on Monday, 27 November 2017 at the 

Company’s	 offices	 at	 Third	 Floor,	 the	 Terraces,	 25	

Protea Road, Claremont, 7708, Cape Town to consider 

and, if deemed appropriate, to approve, with or without 

modification,	the	resolutions	set	out	in	this	notice.

Electronic Participation

Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the AGM or 

proxies of such shareholders shall be entitled to participate 

in the meeting by electronic communication. It should be

noted, however, that voting will not be possible via the 

electronic facilities and for shareholders wishing to vote, 

their shares will need to be represented at the AGM either 

in person, or by proxy or by letter of representation, as 

provided for in this notice of AGM.

Should a shareholder or proxy wish to participate in the 

meeting by electronic communication, the shareholder 

concerned should kindly make application to the transfer 

secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary

Limited, of Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 

Rosebank, 2196 and the Company Secretary on 

021 657 8760. The application should be received by them 

by no later than 9:30 on Thursday, 23 November 2017. The 

application should include all relevant contact details as well 

as full details of the shareholder’s title to securities issued by 

the	Company	and	proof	of	identity,	in	the	form	of	certified	

copies	of	 identity	documents	and	share	certificates	(in	the

case	 of	 certificated	 shares)	 and	 (in	 the	 case	 of	

dematerialised	 shares)	 written	 confirmation	 from	 the	

shareholder’s	 CSDP	 confirming	 the	 shareholder’s	 title	 to	

the dematerialised shares. Upon receipt of the required 

information, the shareholder concerned will be provided

with a secure code and instructions to access the 

electronic communication during the AGM. Shareholders 

must note that access to the electronic communication will 

be at the expense of the shareholders who wish to utilise 

the facility.

Agenda

Presentation	of	 the	audited	annual	 financial	 statements	of	

the Company, including the reports of the directors, the 

Audit and Risk Committee and the independent auditors in 

terms of section 30(3) of the Act, together with the report 

of the Social and Ethics Committee in terms of Regulation 

43 of the Companies Regulations 2011 for the 7 month 

period ended 30 June 2017. The annual report, of which 

this notice forms part (the “Annual Report”), contains the 

Group	financial	statements	and	the	aforementioned	reports.	

The	 annual	 financial	 statements,	 including	 the	 unmodified	

audit opinion, is available on the Company’s website at 

www.stellarcapitalpartners.co.za, or may be requested and 

obtained	in	person,	at	no	charge,	at	the	registered	office	of	

the	Company	during	office	hours.

Note:

1. For the ordinary resolutions set out in this notice of AGM

 to be approved by shareholders, it must be supported

  by more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on the 

 resolution.

2. For the special resolutions set out in this notice of AGM, 

 as well as ordinary resolution number 13, to be approved 

 by shareholders, it must be supported by at least 75% of 

 the voting rights exercised on the resolution.

3. Quorum requirement for resolutions to be approved: 

	 Sufficient	 persons	 being	 present	 to	 exercise,	 in	

 aggregate, at least 25% of all voting rights that are 

 entitled to be exercised on the respective resolutions.

4. Equity securities held by a share trust or scheme, and

  unlisted securities will not have their votes taken into

 account at the Annual General Meeting for the purposes

  of resolutions proposed in terms of the JSE Listings

  Requirements. 

In terms of Section 63(i) of the Act, all meeting attendees 

will	be	required	to	provide	identification.	Compatible	forms	

of	 identification	 include	 valid	 identity	 documents,	 driver’s	

licenses and passports.

The Board of Directors of the Company has determined 

that the record date for the purpose of determining which 

shareholders of the Company are entitled to receive notice 

of this AGM is Friday, 13 October 2017 and the record date

for purposes of determining which shareholders of the 

Company are entitled to participate in and vote at the 

AGM is Friday, 17 November 2017. The last date to trade in 

order that shareholders are entitled to be registered on the 

share register by the record date is Tuesday, 14 November 

2017. Accordingly, only shareholders who are registered 

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT | 97



NOTICE OF ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

in the register of members of the Company on Friday, 17 

November 2017 will be entitled to participate in and vote at 

the AGM.

 

1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 – Annual Financial 

Statements

“RESOLVED THAT,	 the	 annual	 financial	 statements	 of	 the	

Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for the 7 month 

period ended 30 June 2017, together with the directors’ 

report, Audit and Risk Committee report and auditors’ 

reports be received, considered and approved.”

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolution Number 1

In	 terms	 of	 the	 Act,	 the	 annual	 financial	 statements	 are	

required to be presented to shareholders at the AGM for

consideration.

2 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 – Director

Appointment Ratification

“RESOLVED THAT in accordance with the Company’s 

Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”), the appointment of 

Mr HC Steyn as director of the Company as from 4 April 2017 

be	and	is	hereby	confirmed.”

The curriculum vitae for Mr Steyn is set out on page 29 of 

this Annual Report.

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolutions Numbers 2

In terms of the MOI, the Board is entitled to appoint any 

person	as	a	director	either	to	fill	a	vacancy,	or	as	an	addition

to the board, subject to the maximum number of 20 

directors	 fixed	 in	 terms	 of	 the	 MOI	 is	 not	 exceeded,	 and	

provided	 that	 such	 appointment	 is	 confirmed	 at	 the	

next AGM. The Board appointed the above-mentioned 

director	as	addition	 to	 the	Board.	This	 resolution	confirms	

such appointment in accordance with the MOI.

3 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 – Director 

Re-Election

“RESOLVED THAT Mr MVZ Wentzel, who retires by rotation 

at the AGM, and has made himself available for re-election, 

be re-elected as a director of the Company.”

The curriculum vitae for Mr Wentzel is set out on page 28 of 

this Annual Report.

4 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 – Director 

Re-Election

“RESOLVED THAT Mr MM Ngoasheng, who retires by 

rotation at the AGM, and has made himself available for 

re-election, be re-elected as a director of the Company.”

The curriculum vitae for Mr Ngoasheng is set out on page 29 

of this Annual Report.

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5 – Director 

Re-Election

“RESOLVED THAT Mr L Potgieter, who retires by rotation at 

the AGM, and has made himself available for re-election, be 

re-elected as a director of the Company.”

The curriculum vitae for Mr Potgieter is set out on page 29 

of this Annual Report.

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolution 

Numbers 3, 4 and 5 

In accordance with the MOI, one-third of the directors are 

required to retire at each AGM, and may make themselves 

available for re-election. In terms of the MOI, executive 

directors, during the period of their service contract, are not 

taken into account when determining which directors are to 

retire by rotation.

6. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6 – Appointment and 

Remuneration of Auditors

“RESOLVED THAT in terms of section 90(1) of the Act, Grant 

Thornton Cape Inc as auditors, with Mr Bernard van der Walt 

as the designated auditor at partner status of the Company, 

be reappointed and that the audit fees as set out in note 23 

on page 81 of this Annual Report be approved.”

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolution Number 6

Grant Thornton has indicated its willingness to continue 

as the Company’s auditors until the next AGM. The Group 

Audit	 and	 Risk	 Committee	 has	 satisfied	 itself	 as	 to	 the	

independence	of	Grant	Thornton	and	received	confirmation	

that	the	JSE	has	accredited	both	Grant	Thornton,	as	a	firm,	

and the individual audit partner for inclusion in the JSE’s 

register of approved auditors, in terms of the JSE Listings

Requirements. Accordingly, they are eligible to act as 

auditors to the Company.

The Group Audit and Risk committee has the power in terms 

of the Act, to approve the remuneration of the external 

auditors.

7. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7 – Appointment of 

Audit and Risk Committee Member – L Potgieter 

“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the passing of Ordinary 

Resolution Number 5, Mr L Potgieter, be and is hereby 

approved to be a member and Chairman of the Audit and 

Risk Committee with effect from the date of this AGM.”
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The curriculum vitae for Mr Potgieter is set out on page 29 

of this Annual Report.

8. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8 – Appointment of 

Audit and Risk Committee Member – CJ Roodt 

“RESOLVED THAT Mr CJ Roodt, be and is hereby approved 

to be a member of the Audit and Risk Committee with effect 

from the date of this AGM.”

The curriculum vitae for Mr Roodt is set out on page 28 of 

this Annual Report.

9. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9 – Appointment of 

Audit and Risk Committee Member – MVZ Wentzel 

“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the passing of Ordinary 

Resolution Number 3,  Mr MVZ Wentzel, be and is hereby 

approved to be a member of the Audit and Risk Committee 

with effect from the date of this AGM.”

The curriculum vitae for Mr Wentzel is set out on page 28 of 

this Annual Report.

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolution 

Numbers 7, 8 and 9

In terms of Section 61 (8)(c)(ii) of the Act, shareholders are 

required to approve the appointment of the Audit and Risk 

Committee members.

In terms of sections 61 (8)(c)(ii) and 94(2) of the Act, 

audit committee members must be elected by 

shareholders at each annual general meeting. King III 

likewise requires shareholders of a public company to elect 

the members of an Audit and Risk Committee at each AGM. 

In terms of Regulation 42 of the Companies Regulations, 

2011, at least one-third of the members of the Company’s 

Audit and Risk Committee at any particular time must have 

academic	 qualifications,	 or	 experience,	 in	 economics,	 law,	

corporate	 governance,	 finance,	 accounting,	 commerce,	

industry, public affairs or human resource management. The 

proposed members collectively have experience in audit, 

accounting, commerce, corporate governance and general 

industry.

10. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10 – Appointment

of Social and Ethics Committee Member – MM Ngoasheng

“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the passing of Ordinary 

Resolution Number 4,  Mr MM Ngoasheng, be and is hereby 

approved to be a member and Chairman of the Social and 

Ethics Committee with effect from the date of this AGM.” 

The curriculum vitae for Mr Ngoasheng is set out on page 29 

of this Annual Report.

11. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 11 – Appointment

of Social and Ethics Committee Member – DD Tabata

“RESOLVED THAT Mr DD Tabata, be and is hereby approved

to be a member of the Social and Ethics Committee with 

effect from the date of this AGM.”

The curriculum vitae for Mr Tabata is set out on page 28 of 

this Annual Report.

12. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 12 – Appointment of

Social and Ethics Committee Member – MVZ Wentzel 

“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the passing of Ordinary 

Resolution Number 3,  Mr MVZ Wentzel, be and is hereby 

approved to be a member of the Social and Ethics 

Committee with effect from the date of this AGM.”

The curriculum vitae for Mr Wentzel is set out on page 28 of 

this Annual Report.

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolution 

Numbers 10, 11 and 12

In terms of section 72(4) of the Act and Regulation 43(2) 

of the Companies Regulations 2011, the appointment of 

members of a social and ethics committee is required to hold 

office	until	the	next	annual	general	meeting	of	the	Company	

and to perform the duties and responsibilities stipulated in

Regulation 43(5) of the Companies Regulations and to 

perform such other duties and responsibilities as may from 

time to time be delegated by the Board.

13. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 13 – 

GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES FOR CASH

“RESOLVED THAT subject to the approval of 75% of the 

members present in person and by proxy, and entitled to 

vote at the meeting, the directors of the Company be and 

hereby are authorised, by way of general authority, to allot 

and issue all or any of the authorised but unissued shares in 

the capital of the Company as they in their discretion deem 

fit	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	the	MOI,	the	Act	

and the JSE Listings Requirements, subject to the following 

limitations:

• any such general issues are subject to exchange control

  regulations and approval at that point in time;

• the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash

  must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the 

 case, must be limited to such equity securities or rights 

 that are convertible into a class already in issue;

• this authority shall not endure beyond the next annual

 general meeting of the Company nor shall it endure 

 beyond 15 months from the date of this meeting;

• there will be no restrictions in regard to the persons to 

 whom the shares may be issued, provided that such 
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	 shares	are	to	be	issued	to	public	shareholders	(as	defined	

 by the JSE Listings Requirements) and not to related 

 parties;

• upon any issue of shares which, together with prior issues 

 during the period of this authority, will constitute 5% or 

 more of the number of shares of the class in issue prior to 

 the issue, the Company shall by way of an announcement 

 on the Stock Exchange News Service (“SENS”), give full 

 details thereof, including the impact on the net asset 

 value and earnings per share of the Company;

• the maximum discount at which shares may be issued is

 10% of the weighted average traded price of the 

 Company’s shares over the 30 business days prior to the 

 date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by 

 the directors of the Company and the party subscribing 

 for the shares;

• the aggregate issue of a class of shares already in issue 

 will not exceed 15% (161 254 763 ordinary shares) of the 

 number of that class of shares as at the date of the notice 

 of annual general meeting (including any options/ 

 securities which are compulsorily convertible into shares 

 of that class), provided that:

• any equity securities issued under this authority during 

 the period must be deducted from the number above;

• the calculation of the applicant’s listed equity securities 

 must be a factual assessment of the applicant’s listed 

 equity securities as at the date of the notice of annual 

 general meeting, excluding treasury shares; and

• in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of issued 

 equity securities during the period of the authority, the 

 existing authority must be adjusted accordingly to 

 represent the same allocation ratio.”

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolution Number 13

In terms of the MOI, read with the JSE Listings 

Requirements, the shareholders may authorise the directors 

to allot and issue the authorised but unissued shares in the 

share capital of the Company for cash as the directors in 

their	discretion	deem	fit,	subject	to	the	above	limitations.

14. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 14 – Remuneration

Policy

“RESOLVED THAT the shareholders endorse, by way of a 

non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration 

policy (excluding the remuneration of the non-executive 

directors and the members of board committees for their 

services as directors and members of committees).”

For details of the remuneration policy – refer to page 35 of 

this Annual Report.

15. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 15 – Remuneration

Implementation Report

“RESOLVED THAT the shareholders endorse, by way of a

non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration

implementation report.”

For details of the remuneration implementation report –

refer to page 35 of this Annual Report.

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolutions Number 14 

and 15

Principle 14 of the King IV Report on Corporate Governance 

for South Africa, 2016 dealing with remuneration requires 

companies to every year table their remuneration policy and 

implementation report to shareholders for a non-binding 

advisory vote at the AGM. This vote enables shareholders 

to express their views on the remuneration policies adopted 

and on their implementation. 

 

These ordinary resolutions are of an advisory nature only 

and failure to pass these resolutions will therefore not 

have any legal consequences relating to existing 

arrangements. However the board will take the outcome 

of the votes into consideration when considering the 

Company’s remuneration policy and implementation report. 

The remuneration policy also contains the measures that

the Company will take if 25% or more of votes are cast 

against the policy at the Annual General Meeting.

16. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 16 – Renewal of

Management Agreement

“RESOLVED THAT the management agreement between the 

Company and Thunder Securitisation (Pty) Ltd (“Manco”) 

not be cancelled, and accordingly be renewed, until the next

AGM of the Company, on the basis that if this ordinary 

resolution is not adopted by a majority of votes exercised  by  

shareholders  on  the  resolution,  the cancellation resolution 

contemplated in clause 4.3 of the management agreement 

will be deemed to have been adopted, and the Company

shall become entitled to terminate the management 

agreement on 3 months’ notice to  Manco,  and  if  cancelled  

by  the  Company,  the termination  fee  contemplated  in  

clause  12  of  the management agreement shall become 

payable by the Company.”

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolution Number 16

The terms of the management agreement and the 

amendments thereto entered into between the Company 

and Manco were approved by shareholders on 16 January 

2015 and 19 November 2015 respectively and renewed by 

shareholders at the previous AGM held on 18 May 2017. The 

effect of ordinary resolution number 15, if approved, is that 

the management agreement will again be renewed until the 
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Company’s next AGM. The management fee relating to the 

7 month period ended 30 June 2017 is set out in note 22 on 

page 80 of this Annual Report.

17. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 17 – Authority to Act

“RESOLVED THAT that any one director of the Company 

and/ or the Company Secretary of the Company be and 

is hereby authorised to do all such things and sign all such 

documents as deemed necessary for or incidental to the 

implementation of the ordinary and special resolutions as 

set out in this notice convening the AGM at which these 

resolutions will be considered and which are passed by the 

shareholders in accordance with and subject to the terms 

thereof.”

Explanatory note for Ordinary Resolution Number 17

To ensure that the resolutions adopted by shareholders at 

the AGM are duly implemented through the delegation of 

powers provided for in terms of the MOI.

 

1 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 – General Authority to 

Repurchase Shares

“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the approval of 75% of the 

members present in person and by proxy, and entitled to 

vote at the meeting, the Company and/or any subsidiary 

of the Company is hereby authorised, by way of a general 

authority, from time to time, to acquire ordinary shares 

in the share capital of the Company from any person in 

accordance with the requirements of the MOI, the Act and 

the JSE Listings Requirements, provided that:

• any such acquisition of ordinary shares shall be effected 

 through the order book operated by the JSE trading 

 system and done without any prior understanding or 

 arrangement with the counterparty (reported trades are 

 prohibited);

• the Company will not be permitted to acquire in excess

 of 20% of its issued shares under this general authority as 

	 at	the	beginning	of	the	Company’s	current	financial	year;

• this general authority shall be valid until the earlier of the

 Company’s next annual general meeting or the variation 

 or revocation of such general authority by special 

 resolution at any subsequent general meeting of the

  Company, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 

 months from the date of passing of this special resolution 

 number 1;

• an announcement will be published as soon as the 

 Company or any of its subsidiaries have acquired 

 ordinary shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3%

 of the number of ordinary and/or preference shares in

  issue and for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number

  acquired thereafter, in compliance with paragraph 11.27

  of the JSE Listings Requirements;

• ordinary shares may not be acquired at a price greater

  than 10% above the weighted average of the market value

  at which such ordinary shares are traded on the JSE as

		 determined	 over	 the	 five	 business	 days	 immediately

  preceding the date of acquisition of such ordinary shares;

• the Company has been given authority by its MOI;

• a resolution has been passed by the board of directors 

	 confirming	 that	 the	 board	 has	 authorised	 the	 general	

 repurchase, that the Company passed the solvency and

  liquidity test and that since the test was performed there 

	 have	been	no	material	changes	to	the	financial	position	of	

 the group;

• in terms of section 48 (2)(b) of the Act, the board of a 

 subsidiary Company may determine that it will acquire 

 shares of its holding company, but (i) not more than 10%, 

 in aggregate, of the number of issued shares of any class  

	 of	shares	of	a	Company	may	be	held	by,	or	for	the	benefit	

 of, all of the subsidiaries of that Company, taken together; 

 and (ii) no voting rights attached to those shares may be 

 exercised while the shares are held by the subsidiary, 

 and it remains a subsidiary of the Company whose shares 

 it holds;

• in terms of section 48 (8)(a) and (b) of the Act, the

 repurchase of any shares from a director or prescribed 

	 officer	 of	 the	 Company,	 or	 any	 repurchase	 which,	

 considered alone, or together with other transactions in 

 an integrated series of transactions, involves the 

 acquisition by the Company of more than 5% of the 

 issued shares of any particular class of the Company’s 

 shares, is subject to the requirements of sections 114 and 

 115 of the Act;

• at any point in time, the Company and/or its subsidiaries 

 may only appoint one agent to effect any such 

 acquisition;

• any such acquisitions are subject to exchange control

  regulations and approval at that time;

• the Company and/or its subsidiaries may not acquire

		 any	shares	during	a	prohibited	period,	as	defined	 in	the

 JSE Listings Requirements unless a repurchase

  programme is in place, where the dates and quantities of

  shares to be traded during the prohibited period are 

	 fixed	 (not	 subject	 to	 any	 variation)	 and	 has	 been	

 submitted in writing to the JSE writing prior to the 

 commencement of the prohibited period.

Explanatory note for Special Resolution Number 1

The reason for and effect of this special resolution is to grant 

the Company and its subsidiaries a general authority to 

facilitate the acquisition by the Company and/or its 

subsidiaries of the Company’s own shares, which general 

authority shall be valid until the earlier of the next annual

general meeting of the Company or the variation or 

revocation of such general authority by special resolution at 

any subsequent general meeting of the Company, provided 
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that this general authority shall not extend beyond 15 

months from the date of the passing of this special 

resolution number 1.

In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, any 

general repurchase by the Company must, inter alia, be 

limited to a maximum of 20% of the Company’s issued share 

capital	 in	 any	 one	 financial	 year	 of	 that	 class	 at	 the	 time	

the authority is granted. Furthermore, in terms of section 

48(2)(b)(i) of the Act, subsidiaries may not hold more than 

10%, in aggregate, of the number of the issued shares of a 

Company. For the avoidance of doubt, a pro rata repurchase 

by the Company from all its shareholders will not require 

shareholder approval, save to the extent as may be required 

by the Act.

Any decision by the directors, after considering the effect of 

an acquisition of up to 5% of the Company’s issued ordinary 

shares, as the case may be, to use the general authority to 

acquire shares of the Company will be taken with regard 

to the prevailing market conditions and other factors and 

provided that, for a period of 12 months following such 

acquisition, the directors are of the opinion that:

• the Company and the Group will be able to pay its debts

  in the ordinary course of business;

• the Company and the Group’s assets will be in excess of 

 the liabilities of the Company and the Group for a period 

 of 12 months after the date of the general repurchase. 

 For this purpose, the assets and liabilities will be 

 recognised and measured in accordance with the 

 accounting policies used in the latest audited 

	 consolidated	annual	financial	 	statements	which	comply

  with the Act;

• the share capital and reserves of the Company and the

  Group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes;

  and

• the working capital of the Company and the Group will be

 adequate for ordinary business purposes

In addition to the below, the JSE Listings Requirements 

require, in terms of section 11.26, the following disclosures, 

which appear in this Annual Report:

• Major shareholders – refer to page 47 of this Annual 

 Report.

• Share capital of the Company – refer to pages 76 and 77

  of this Annual Report.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The  directors,  whose  names  appear  on  pages  27  to

29 of this Annual Report, collectively and individually accept 

full responsibility for the accuracy of the information 

pertaining to this special resolution number 1 and certify 

that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are 

no facts that have been omitted which would make any 

statements false or misleading, and that all reasonable 

enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that 

this special resolution number 1 contains all information 

required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Material Changes

Other than the facts and developments reported on in 

this Annual Report, there have been no material changes 

in	the	financial	or	trading	position	of	the	Company	and	 its	

subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit report 

and up to the date of the notice of AGM.

The	directors	have	no	specific	intention,	at	present,	for	the	

Company or its subsidiaries to acquire any of the Company’s 

shares but consider that such a general authority should be 

put in place should an opportunity present itself to do so

during the year, which is in the best interests of the 

Company and its shareholders. The directors are  of 

the opinion that it would be in the best interests of the 

Company to extend such general authority and thereby 

allow the Company or any of its subsidiaries to be in a 

position to acquire the shares issued by the Company

 through the order book of the JSE, should the market 

conditions, tax dispensation and price justify such an action.

2 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 – Non-Executive

Directors’ Remuneration

“RESOLVED THAT, in terms of Section 66 (9) of the Act, 

shareholders approve, by way of a special resolution, the 

remuneration of directors for their services as directors, as 

set out below.”

The following annual fees are proposed for the period 

commencing 1 July 2017 (which are unchanged from the 

previous two periods), until the next AGM:

Board of Directors:

 Chairman Member

Annual fee R325 000 R300 000

Audit and Risk Committee:

Annual fee R100 000 R75 000

Remuneration Committee:

Annual fee R100 000 R100 000

Nominations Committee:

Annual fee R50 000 R50 000

Social and Ethics Committee:

Annual fee R25 000 R25 000
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The Group pays for all travel and accommodation 

expenses incurred by directors to attend Board and 

Committee meetings, as well as visits to Group sites and 

businesses.

Explanatory note for Special Resolution Number 2

In terms of sections 66(8) and (9) of the Act, the 

remuneration of directors for their services as directors is to 

be approved by shareholders by way of a special resolution.

 

3 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 – General authority 

to provide loans and other financial assistance to related or 

interrelated persons

“RESOLVED THAT in accordance with section 45(3)(a)

(ii) of the Act, the board of directors of the Company 

may, subject to compliance with the requirements  of  the 

MOI and the remainder of section 45 of the Act, each as 

presently constituted and as amended from time  to time, 

authorise the Company to provide such direct or indirect 

financial	assistance	(as	defined	in	section	45(1)	of	the	Act)	

as	 the	board	of	directors	may	 in	 their	discretion	deem	fit,	

to	any	related	or	interrelated	(as	defined	in	section	2	of	the	

Act) company or corporation of the Company, for a period 

of 2 (two) years from the date of adoption of the special 

resolution and on the terms and for the amounts that the 

board of directors may determine. Written notice of any 

such resolution by the Company’s Board of Directors shall 

be given to all shareholders of the Company and any trade 

union representing its employees:

• within 10 business days after the Company’s Board

		 adopted	the	resolution	 if	 the	total	value	of	 the	financial			

 assistance contemplated in that resolution, together

		 with	 any	 previous	 such	 resolution	 during	 the	 financial

  year, exceeds one-tenth of 1% of the Company’s net worth 

 at the time of the resolution; or

•	 within	30	business	days	after	the	end	of	the	financial	year,	

 in any other case.”

Explanatory note for Special Resolution Number 3

The reason for special resolution number 3 is to obtain 

approval from the shareholders to enable the Company 

to	 provide	 financial	 assistance	 to	 related	 or	 inter-related	

companies, when the need arises, in accordance with the 

provisions of Sections 45 of the Act. The effect of special 

resolution number 3 is that the Company will have the 

necessary authority, as and when required.

4 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 – General authority 

to provide financial assistance for the subscription of 

securities

“RESOLVED THAT, the board of directors of the Company 

may, subject to compliance with the requirements of the MOI 

and the Act, each as presently constituted and as amended 

from time to time, authorise the Company in  terms of 

section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Act, for a period of 2 (two) years 

from the date of adoption of the special resolution and 

subject to compliance with the remainder of section 44 of 

the	Act,	to	provide	financial	assistance	(as	defined	in	section

44(1) of the Act) to any person for the purpose of, or in 

connection with, the subscription of any option, or any 

securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a 

related or inter-related company, on the terms and 

conditions, to the recipient/s, in the form, nature and ex-

tent, and for the amounts that the board of directors of the 

Company, in its discretion, may determine from time to 

time.”

Explanatory note for Special Resolution Number 4

The reason for and effect of the special resolution, if 

adopted, will be to confer authority on the board of directors

of	 the	 Company	 to	 authorise	 financial	 assistance	 to	 any	

person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the 

subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to 

be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related

company or corporation, as the board of directors of the

Company	may	deem	fit,	on	 the	 terms	and	conditions,	and

for the amounts that the board of directors may determine

from time to time, for a period of 2 (two) years from the

date of adoption of the special resolution.

RECORD DATES

The posting record date, being the date that shareholders 

must have been recorded in the register to be eligible to 

receive this notice of AGM, is Friday, 13 October 2017. The 

last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the AGM is 

Tuesday, 14 November 2017.

The voting record date, being the date that shareholders 

must be recorded in the register to be eligible to speak and 

vote at the AGM, is Friday, 17 November 2017.

VOTING AND PROXIES

Section 63(1) of the Act requires that meeting participants 

provide	 satisfactory	 identification.	 Accordingly,	 meeting	

participants will be required to provide proof of 

identification	to	the	reasonable	satisfaction	of	the	Chairman

of the AGM and must accordingly bring a copy of their 

identity document, passport or drivers’ license to the AGM. 

If in doubt as to whether any document will be regarded 

as	satisfactory	proof	of	 identification,	meeting	participants	

should contact the Transfer Secretaries for guidance.

A shareholder entitled to attend, speak and vote at the AGM 

is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak 

and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of 

Stellar	 Capital.	 For	 the	 convenience	 of	 certificated	

shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with “own 
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name” registration, a form of proxy is attached hereto. 

Completion of a form of proxy will not preclude such 

shareholder from attending and voting (in preference to 

that shareholder’s proxy) at the AGM.

Duly completed forms of proxy and the authority (if any) 

under which it is signed should ideally reach the Transfer 

Secretaries at the address given below by not later than 

09:30	 on	 Thursday,	 23	 November	 2017	 for	 verification	

and administrative purposes but will be accepted by the 

Chairman prior to the commencement of the meeting if all 

in order. 

Dematerialised shareholders without “own name” 

registration who wish to attend the AGM in person should 

request their CSDP or stockbroker to provide them with the 

necessary Letter of Representation in terms of their custody 

agreement with their CSDP or stockbroker. Dematerialised 

shareholders without “own name” registration who do not 

wish to attend but wish to be represented at the AGM must 

advise their CSDP or stockbroker of their voting instructions.

Dematerialised shareholders without “own name” 

registration should contact their CSDP or stockbroker with 

regard to the cut-off time for their voting instructions.

By order of the Board

STELLAR CAPITAL PARTNERS LIMITED
S Graham

Company Secretary  

13 October 2017

Registered Office

Third Floor, The Terraces 25 Protea Road, Claremont, Cape 

Town, 7708

Transfer Secretaries

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited 

Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue 

Rosebank

2196 
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FORM OF PROXY (FOR USE BY CERTIFICATED AND OWN NAME 

DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS ONLY)

Stellar Capital Partners Limited

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 

(Registration number 1998/015580/06)

(“Stellar Capital” or the “Company”)

ISIN Code: ZAE000198586

Share code:  SCP

For use by certificated shareholders or “own name” dematerialised shareholders at the AGM of the 

Company to be held at Third Floor, The Terraces, 25 Protea Road, Claremont, Cape Town, 7708 at 09:30 

on Monday, 27 November 2017.

If dematerialised shareholders, other than “own name” dematerialised shareholders, have not been contacted by their CSDP 

or stockbroker with regard to how they wish to cast their vote, they should contact their CSDP or stockbroker and instruct 

their CSDP or stockbroker as to how they wish to cast their vote at the AGM in order for their CSDP or stockbroker to vote 

in accordance with such instructions. If dematerialised shareholders, other than “own name” dematerialised shareholders, 

have not been contacted by their CSDP or stockbroker, it would be advisable for them to contact their CSDP or stockbroker, 

as the case may be, and furnish them with their instructions.

Dematerialised shareholders who are not “own name” dematerialised shareholders and who wish to attend the AGM must 

obtain their necessary Letter of Representation from their CSDP or stockbroker, as the case may be, and submit same to 

the Transfer Secretaries to ideally be received by no later than 09:30, on Thursday, 23 November 2017. This must be done 

in terms of the agreement entered into between dematerialised shareholders and their CSDP or stockbroker. If the CSDP or 

stockbroker, as the case may be, does not obtain instructions from such dematerialised shareholders, it will be obliged to act 

in terms of the mandate furnished to it, or if the mandate is silent in this regard, to abstain from voting. Such dematerialised 
shareholders, other than “own name” dematerialised shareholders, must not  complete this form of proxy and should read 
note 11 of the overleaf.

I/We   (please print)

of (address)

Telephone number (              )       Cellphone number

Email address

being the holder/s of                                                       ordinary shares of no par value in Stellar Capital, appoint (see note 1):

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3. the Chairperson of the AGM, as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/or behalf at the AGM which will be held for the

		 purpose	of	considering	and,	if	deemed	fit,	approving,	with	or	without	modification,	the	resolutions	to	be	proposed	thereat

 and/or at any adjournment thereof; and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect

   of the shares registered in my/ our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions (see note 2):
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Signed at on 2017

Signature Assisted by me (where applicable) 

Name Capacity Signature

AbstainAgainstFor

Number of Shares

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER  1 
 Annual Financial Statements1
 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 
	 Director	Ratification	–	HC	Steyn2

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 13
 General Authority to Issue Shares13

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10
 Social and Ethics Committee Appointment – MM Ngoasheng10

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 14
 Remuneration Policy14

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 11
 Social and Ethics Committee Appointment – DD Tabata11

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9
 Audit and Risk Committee Appointment – MVZ Wentzel9

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 16
 Renewal of Management Agreement

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 15
 Remuneration Implementation Report

16
15

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 12
 Social and Ethics Committee Appointment – MVZ Wentzel12

 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
 General Authority to Repurchase Shares18
 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
 Non-Executive Directors Remuneration19
 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
 General Authority to provide Financial Assistance

 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
 General Authority to provide Financial Assistance to Subscribe for Shares

20
21

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 17
 Authorising Resolution17

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
 Director Re-Election – MM Ngoasheng4

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6
 Appointment of Auditors6
 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7
 Audit and Risk Committee Appointment – L Potgieter7

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
 Director Re-Election – MVZ Wentzel3

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8
 Audit and Risk Committee Appointment – CJ Roodt8

 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
 Director Re-Election – L Potgieter5
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NOTES TO 
FORM OF PROXY

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint one or more persons as his proxy to attend, speak or vote 

in his stead at the AGM. A proxy need not be a shareholder.

On a show of hands, every shareholder shall have one vote (irrespective of the number of Stellar Capital shares held). On a 

poll, every shareholder shall have, for each share held by him, that proportion of the total votes in Stellar Capital which the 

aggregate amount of the nominal value of that share held by him bears to the aggregate amount of the nominal value of all 

the shares issued by Stellar Capital.

SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN SECTION 58 OF THE ACT
In terms of section 58 of the Act:

• a shareholder may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of section 58 of the Act, appoint any individual

  (including an individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at, a general meeting 

 on behalf of such shareholder;

• a proxy may delegate his authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out 

 in the instrument appointing such proxy;

• irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and 

 to the extent that the relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any of such 

 shareholder’s rights as a shareholder;

• any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, unless the form of instrument used to appoint such proxy 

 states otherwise;

• if an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it in writing, 

 or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the 

 proxy and to the relevant company; and

• a proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of such 

 shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the MOI, or the instrument appointing the proxy, provides 

 otherwise.

Notes:
1. A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of his choice in the spaces 

 provided with or  without deleting  “the  chairperson  of the  AGM”,  but  any such  deletion  must be  initialled  by  the 

	 shareholder.	The	person	whose	name	appears	first	on	the	form	of	proxy	and	who	is	present	at	the	AGM	will	be	entitled

   to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

2. Please insert the number of shares in the relevant spaces according to how you wish your votes to be cast. If you wish

 to cast your votes in respect of a lesser number of Stellar Capital shares exercisable by you, insert the number of Stellar 

 Capital shares held in respect of which you wish to vote. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise

  and compel the chairperson, if the chairperson is an authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the resolutions, or to authorise 

	 any	 other	 proxy	 to	 vote	 for	 or	 against	 the	 resolutions	 or	 abstain	 from	voting	 as	 he	 deems	 fit,	 in	 respect	 of	 all	 the	

 shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. A shareholder or its/his proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by

 the shareholder or its/his proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect whereof abstention is recorded may not

   exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or its/his proxy.

3. Forms of proxy must be lodged with the Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd Rosebank

  Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue Rosebank, 2196 to be received by no later than prior to the commencement of the Annual 

 General Meeting, in order to be effective.

4. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/(ies).

5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must

  be attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Transfer Secretaries or waived by the chairperson 

 of the AGM.
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6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM and 

  speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder 

 wish to do so. 

7. The chairperson of the AGM may accept or reject any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in 

	 accordance	with	these	notes	and	instructions,	provided	that	the	chairperson	is	satisfied	as	to	the	manner	in	which	the

 shareholder wishes to vote.

8. The appointment of a proxy shall remain valid until the end of the meeting contemplated in this appointment.

9. Joint holders – any such persons may vote at the AGM in respect of such joint Stellar Capital shares as if he were solely

  entitled thereto; but if more than one of such joint holders are present or represented at the AGM, that one of the said

		 persons	whose	name	stands	first	in	the	register	in	respect	of	such	Stellar	Capital	shares	or	his	proxy,	as	the	case	may	be,	

 is alone entitled to vote in respect thereof.

10. Shareholders who hold Stellar Capital shares that have been dematerialised, and are registered by the CSDP on the 

 sub-register in their own name kept by that CSDP (““own name” dematerialised shareholders”), will be entitled to attend 

 the AGM in person or, if they are unable to attend and wish to be represented thereat, must complete and return the

		 attached	form	of	proxy	to	the	Transfer	Secretaries		in		accordance		with		the		time		specified		on		the		form		of		proxy.

11. Shareholders who hold Stellar Capital shares through a nominee should advise their nominee or, if applicable, their CSDP

  or stockbroker timeously of their intention to attend and vote at the AGM or to be represented by proxy thereat in order 

 for their nominee or, if applicable, their CSDP or stockbroker to provide them with the necessary Letter of 

 Representation to do so or should provide their nominee or, if applicable, their CSDP or stockbroker timeously with their 

 voting instruction should they not wish to attend the AGM in person, in order for their nominee to vote in accordance 

 with their instruction at the AGM.

NOTES TO 
FORM OF PROXY (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 

DIRECTORS

DD	Tabata	(Chairman)*^,	PJ	van	Zyl	(Chief	Executive	Officer),	S	Graham	(Interim	Chief	Financial	Officer)

CJ Roodt^#, MVZ Wentzel*^, MM Ngoasheng*^, L Potgieter*^, HC Steyn^

(* Independent) (^ Non–executive) (# Lead Independent)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Sean Graham

REGISTERED OFFICE AND BUSINESS ADDRESS

Third Floor The Terraces

25 Protea Road Claremont Cape Town 7708

POSTAL ADDRESS

Suite 229, Private Bag X1005 Claremont

Cape Town 7735

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Bernard van der Walt 

Grant Thornton Cape Inc.

119 Hertzog Blvd, Cape Town, 8001

TRANSFER SECRETARIES

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd 

Rosebank Towers

15 Biermann Avenue Rosebank

2196

ATTORNEYS

Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr Incorporated Registration number 2008/018923/21

11 Buitengracht Street, Cape Town, 8001

PO Box 695, Cape Town, 8000

SPONSOR

Rand Merchant Bank (a division of FirstRand Bank Limited)
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PHYSICAL AND REGISTERED ADDRESS:

Third Floor, The Terraces, 25 Protea Road

Claremont

Cape Town

7708

South Africa

EMAIL: info@stellarcapital.co.za

TELEPHONE: +27(0)21 657 8772
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